

Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy

Appendix L. Public Comments and Disposition – Draft Report

October 10, 2012

Health Technology Assessment Program (HTA) Washington State Health Care Authority PO Box 42712

Olympia, WA 98504-2712 (360) 725-5126

http://www.hta.hca.wa.gov SHTAP@HCA.WA.GOV



Public Comments and Disposition-Draft Report

Stereotactic Radiation Surgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy

October 10, 2012

Center for Evidence-based Policy

Oregon Health & Science University 3455 SW US Veterans Hospital Road Mailstop SN-4N, Portland, OR 97239-2941 Phone: 503.494.2182 Fax: 503.494.3807 http://www.ohsu.edu/xd/research/centers-institutes/evidence-based-policycenter/index.cfm

Table of Contents

Public Comments on Draft Report
Table 1. Response to Public Comments on Draft Report
American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS)
American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO)
CyberKnife [®] Coalition (CKC)10
Huong Pham, MD (Virginia Mason Medical Center)13
Radiosurgery Society16
Varian Medical Systems, Inc
Washington State Agency Medical Directors28
Full Public Comments
American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS)
American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO)45
CyberKnife [®] Coalition (CKC)50
Huong Pham, MD (Virginia Mason Medical Center)66
Radiosurgery Society69
Varian Medical Systems, Inc
Washington State Agency Medical Directors107

Public Comments on Draft Report

The Center for Evidence-based Policy is an independent vendor contracted to produce evidence assessment reports for the WA HTA program. For transparency, all comments received during the comments process are included in this response document. Studies were not reviewed for inclusion if there was not a request by the commenter to include them. Submitted references that met inclusion criteria (as outlined in the methods section) were incorporated into the report. Comments related to program decisions, process, or other matters not pertaining to the evidence report are acknowledged through inclusion only. To see the full text of a given comment, please use links in the Table of Contents.

This document responds to comments from the following parties:

- American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS)
- American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO)
- CyberKnife[®] Coalition (CKC)
- Huong Pham, MD (Virginia Mason Medical Center)
- Radiosurgery Society
- Varian Medical Systems, Inc
- Washington State Agency Medical Directors

Table 1. Response to Public Comments on Draft Report

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS)		
	Summary – AANS and CNS provide information on their organizations and express intent to comment	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"Overall, the strength of the evidence supporting the use of stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) for a diverse group of intracranial indications and spinal metastasis is high and overwhelming. Some level 1 and 2 evidence as well as a myriad of level 3, 4, and 5 evidence spanning 40 years demonstrates the efficacy and safety of stereotactic radiosurgery for appropriately selected patients with malignant and benign brain tumors, vascular malformations, functional disorders, and spinal metastases. At this point in time, clinical equipoise will preclude many randomized, prospective trials of SRS versus external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) or resection for various indications when there is four or more decade's worth of data supporting SRS. In addition, the higher cost effectiveness and improved quality of life afforded by SRS as compared to more invasive surgical procedures or broader field radiotherapy approaches have been demonstrated by numerous groups. It is clear that wider field fractionated radiation therapy techniques, which deliver radiation in larger volumes in many treatments to normal cerebral or spinal structures, negatively impact subsequent quality of life compared to the use of tightly confined, highly focused SRS. SRS remains one of the safest and most effective approaches in neurosurgery and radiation oncology. SRS technologies have resulted in a major paradigm shift in the use of both alternative surgical and radiation therapy techniques for a broad array of well- defined clinical indications. During the last 40 years more than 6,000 SRS publications provide this evidence in great detail."	Thank you for your comment. Please see the appropriate cancer in the report for a summary of the evidence. Our extensive and systematic search for studies found very few randomized controlled trials of SRS and SRT for brain tumors. All but one, involved patients with brain metastates. Not all of these studies report quality of life outcomes. Similarly, the economic studies we identified are summarized in the report. Unfortunately, when the evidence supporting the effectiveness of a treatment is weak, it is difficult to make a strong case for cost-effectiveness. A summary judgment for the overall quality of evidence was assigned to each Key Question and outcome using the GRADE system. With a few exceptions, most of the overall strengths of evidence were low to very low indicating that further research is likely to change the estimates of effect and have an important impact on our confidence in the results. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Summary – Background	Thank you for your comment.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 Discusses current state of the evidence for SRS, noting the evidence- based medicine perspective (e.g., Level III) as well as "evidence derived from a broad array of institutions and hundreds of thousands of patients treated over more than 40 years." 	No changes to the Draft Report.
	 Summary – Quality of Life Issues "From a quality of life standpoint, there is prospective evidence to support the use of stereotactic radiosurgery for patients with brain metastasis, acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, and pituitary adenomas." Cites and describes five studies to support claim 	Thank you for your comment. It is difficult to respond without a reference to the comparator for this statement. All studies addressing quality of life outcomes that met inclusion criteria were included in this report. Please see the appropriate tumor type in the report for a summary of the evidence. Acoustic neuromas were not included in the report. No changes to the Draft Report.
	 Summary – Cost Effective Analysis "From an economic standpoint, SRS has been shown to be very cost- effective for multiple indications including brain metastases, acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, arteriovenous malformations, trigeminal neuralgia, and spinal metastases." Cites and describes 14 studies to support claim. 	To determine if a treatment is cost-effective, there should be strong evidence supporting its effectiveness. Unfortunately, the economic studies we identified were poor quality in part due to the lack of evidence supporting the estimates the authors used for the effectiveness of SRS or SRT.
	 "Conclusion: Stereotactic Radiosurgery in the brain and spine is safe and effective when used in appropriately selected patients. The cost effectiveness and quality of life benefits are also well documented. We thank you again for the opportunity to present our views and are eager to answer any questions the panel may have about the use of SRS by neurosurgeons." Included two attachments: AANS-CNS Statement on SRS Reimbursement and Coding January 2007 Journal of Neurosurgery article, "Stereotactic 	Thank you for your comment. Please see the comments above. No changes to the Draft Report.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	Radiosurgery—an Organized Neurosurgery-Sanctioned Definition"	
America	n Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO)	
	Summary – ASTRO provides information on its organization and expresses intent to comment	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Summary – ASTRO describes report conclusions and the method of evidence evaluation used by OHSU CEbP. "our comments will be primarily focused on the shortcomings of this evaluation based on the NICE and SIGN methodologies. We are very concerned that the OHSU group's reports might lead to a limitation of access to SRS and SBRT for certain underserved populations of patients in the state of Washington, and we wish to avoid disparities in cancer care for socioeconomically disadvantaged groups."	Thank you for your comment. Please see comments below regarding the use of the quality assessment tools. No changes to the Draft Report
	 Summary – Medically inoperable early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) Discusses evidence from the US related to treatment of medically inoperable early stage NSCLC and concerns regarding phase III trials comparing SBRT with a conventional radiotherapy technique. Discusses evidence from the Netherlands related to treatment of medically inoperable early stage NSCLC and inclusion of SBRT within NICE's recommended treatments for patients with this condition. Summary – Brain Metastases Discusses the history of cranial SRS and the movement toward the use of SRS for CNS neoplasms. Reports that the oncology community views "the use of SRS and the use of open surgical resection as equivalent approaches for the 	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report. Thank you for your comment. The objective of the report was to evaluate the evidence base for external beam radiation compared to newer radiation techniques. The report objective was not intended to evaluate all treatments for a particular tumor. The report is a systematic review of studies published that met the specified inclusion criteria and therefore; all studies that
	treatment of brain metastases" and that "the comparator modality for SRS is not conventional radiotherapy."	

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
		met inclusion criteria are summarized regardless of the standard of care. We added additional background context and statements to make it clear that for certain tumors, surgery is the standard of care not external beam radiation.
	Summary – Extracranial indications other than medically inoperable NSCLC	Please see comment above.
	 "SBRT is likewise not appropriately compared with conventional radiotherapy but, instead, would be more appropriately compared with surgical resection given that the reported local control outcomes are generally very similar to surgery and so greatly exceed those of conventional radiotherapy. Thus, just as the prospect of randomizing patients between open brain surgery and non-invasive cranial SRS has proven not to be feasible, a randomization between SBRT and surgical resection of a liver, lung, or spine metastasis is unrealistic." Discusses a few examples of "attempted randomizations between surgery and convential radiotherapy for extracranial malignancies" and suggests that "it is unrealistic to expect patients to be willing to undergo a coin toss assignment between interventions of such vastly different risk profiles and functional impact." 	Thank you for your comment. Similar comments were made prior to studies of surgical versus medical management ofconditions such as carotid aretery stenosis. However, well done randomized controlled trials were eventually performed. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"Concerning some other aspect of the OHSU report, we disagree with the assessment by this group that nearly all of the studies reviewed, as well as the guidelines evaluated and listed in Appendix G, are of "poor" or at best "fair" quality. Appendix D includes the checklists used as quality assessment tools for	In regards to the evidence, the quality assessemt tools are used to assess the methodological quality of the individual studies that met inclusion criteria. The tools are based on a
	the evidence review, and the overall assessment of quality is the reviewer's opinion of the answer to the question "How well was the study done to minimize bias?" or "How well was the study done to minimize the risk of bias or	standard set of questions that are similar to the questions asked by many well respected groups such as the Cochrane Collaboration and the

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	confounding, and to establish a causal relationship between exposure and effect?" for assessments of systematic reviews and cohort studies, respectively. It is ASTRO's opinion that this type of question is impossible to answer, since the reviewers cannot know the state of mind of authors of the studies reviewed, and we submit that any evaluation of published studies should be made based on the objective data reported and not a speculative judgment	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.The items in these tools are key study design features described in textbooks on clinical research design and taught in epidemiology and clinical research design courses. In regards to the guidelines, the methodological
	regarding the authors' state of mind.	quality of the guidelines was assessed using an instrument adapted from the Appraisal of Guidelines Research and Evaluation (AGREE) Collaboration. The instrument is recognized internationally as a framework for appraising the quality of the clinical practice guidelines.
		The NCCN guidelines were rated as poor quality. While the NCCN guidelines have a transparent guideline development process and are explicit about guideline panel members and NCCN staff conflicts of interest, the methods for identifying and selecting evidence are unclear. After several email and above conversations with NCCN staff
		evidence is identified (e.g., search strategy and databases searched), what the inclusion/exclusion criteria are, and if individual studies are assessed for quality. As a result, all
	(ACTDO believes there is established are adopt for introducing significant	NCCN guidelines were rated as poor.
	ASTRO believes there is established precedent for introducing significant technological developments based on self-evident superiority without the need	of harm caused by relying on "self-evident
	for randomized clinical trials. Examples include:	superiority" of a new treatmentor device. The
	CT scanning vs. plain radiographs;	most recent example of this is metal-on-metal
	Linear accelerators vs. cobalt machines;	Registry of England and Wales). Failure rates

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 Minimally invasive surgery vs. conventional surgery." 	of stemmed metal-on-metal hip replacements: analysis of data from the National Joint Registry of England and Wales. <u>Lancet.</u> 2012 Mar 31;379 (9822):1199-204.) No changes to the Draft Report.
	Summary – ASTRO notes that "there is promotion of a specific vendor's commercially available treatment delivery system that possibly resulted from the OHSU group's fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of the technology described."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	 Figure 1 – TomoTherapy Figure 2 – CyberKnife, GammKnife 	
	Summary	Thank you for your comment.
	 Discusses difficulty in sustaining equipoise to complete randomized studies of SRS or SBRT 	No changes to the Draft Report.
CyberKn	ife® Coalition (CKC)	
	"The CyberKnife® Coalition (CKC) respectfully submits our response to the draft evidence report released by the Washington State Health Care Authority, Health Technology Assessment Program (HTA) entitled, "Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy." The CKC is a non-profit association of both hospital-based and freestanding centers that are dedicated to protecting patients'access to robotic stereotactic radiosurgery (R-SRS) and robotic stereotactic body radiotherapy (R-SBRT), performed utilizing CyberKnife technology."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"In March 2012, the CKC submitted a response to HTA's request for public comments on Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SBRT). Our response included detailed information surrounding the significant clinical benefits of CyberKnife and the well documented published	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	data that supports SRS/SBRT as a standard of care in the treatment of cancer patients in the United States and around the world."	
	"At this time we would like to provide the HTA with additional information about clinical practice patterns including federal and private payer coverage policies and national guidelines that demonstrate the acceptance of SRS/SBRT. There are several federal and private payers that have deemed SRS/SBRT to be non-experimental and medically necessary for many of the indications that HTA reviewed. Several of the payer policies reviewed by HTA provide coverage for the treatment of benign cranial lesions such as neuromas, meningiomas and malignant brain lesions, while several policies include SBRT for lung, liver, kidney, pancreas and prostate tumors. In addition, Noridian Administrative Services (JH Medicare Contractor) has published a draft Local Coverage Determination (LCD) for SRS/SBRT, which provides coverage for primary and secondary cancers of the brain, spine, lung, liver, pancreas, kidney, and adrenal gland. Noridian has also publicly stated it plans on revising this policy to include coverage of prostate cancer for patients enrolled in a clinical registry. The final LCD is expected this fall, which will be similar to the majority of other published Medicare policies for SRS/SBRT. A complete list of all indications covered by Noridian is provided in Appendix A."	Thank you for your comment. The report summarizes clinical practice guidelines that met inclusion criteria and payer policiesthat were selected by the WA HTA program. No changes to the Draft Report.
	 "We also submit for your consideration guideline information developed by the National Comprehensive Cancer Center (NCCN), a not-for-profit alliance of 21 of the world's leading cancer centers. NCCN promotes the importance of continuous quality improvement and recognizes the significance of creating clinical practice guidelines. There are several NCCN guidelines (further details in appendix B) that have positive inclusion of SRS/SBRT as an initial treatment option, including: NCCN non-small cell lung cancer NCCN hepatocellular carcinoma NCCN central nervous system" 	Thank you for your comment. All of the NCCN guidelines referenced are included in the guideline section of the report. No changes to the Draft Report.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	In addition to the NCCN guidelines, there are 3 recent draft Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) comparative effectiveness review reports: stage I non-small cell lung cancer, unresectable primary hepatocellular carcinoma, and metastasis to the liver from unresectable colorectal cancer, which include SBRT as one of the primary treatment options for each of these 3 cancer indications (further details in Appendix CE).1,2,3	Thank you for your comment. The three AHRQ reports referenced are not final reports and therefore do not meet inclusion criteria. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"Finally, the 2011 California Technology Assessment Forum's (CTAF) report on SBRT for the treatment of early stage NCSLC supports SBRT as a treatment option for stage I inoperable NSCLC.4 The report notes the following:	Thank you for your comment. The CTAF report does not meet inclusion criteria due to study design.
	'It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with peripheral lesions meets CTAF criteria for safety, effectiveness and improvement in outcomes."	No changes to the Draft Report.
	"We strongly support the current federal and private payer coverage policies that provide cancer patients with access to this clinically beneficial treatment option. We also strongly support the current NCCN, AHRQ, and CTAF guidelines and reports that demonstrate the clinically efficacy and safety of SRS and SBRT in the treatment of several cancer types. We urge the Washington State Health Care Authority to allow this same access to care and not deviate from the current federal and private payer SRS/SBRT coverage policies and guidelines within the state of Washington.	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments regarding SRS and SBRT coverage. Our member institutions, including those in Washington State, would welcome a meeting with you in person answer any further questions or concerns that you may have. In addition, please feel free to contact us at the numbers below if we can be of any assistance as your organization finalizes the report."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report. All of the NCCN guidelines references are included in the Draft Report.
	Includes Appendices: Appendix A. ICD-9 Codes for Stereotactic Radiosurgery Services and Stereotactic	Thank you for your comment. The three AHRQ reports referenced are not final reports and

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	Body Radiation Therapy (for Cranial Lesions only)	therefore do not meet inclusion criteria.
	Appendix B: NCCN Guidelines (Non-small cell lung cancer, hepatocellular, central nervous system)	No changes to the Draft Report.
	Appendix C. AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for Unresectable Primary Hepatocellular Carcinoma.	
	Appendix D. AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for the Treatment of Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and Endobronchial Obstruction due to Advanced Lung Tumors.	
	Appendix E. AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Hepatic Therapies for Metastases to the Liver from Unresectable Colorectal Cancer: Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness.	
Huong P	ham, MD (Virginia Mason Medical Center)	
	 Summary Discusses the differences between IMRT and SRS/SBRT 	Thank you for your comment. The three AHRQ reports referenced are not final reports and therefore do not meet inclusion criteria. No changes to the Draft Report.
	 "My observation is that SRS and SBRT are being compared to conventional XRT for the various disease sites and possible indications listed in the document. I do not believe that is a correct comparison analysis for several indications including acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, and solitary primary or metastatic lung tumors since SRS/SRT is used here as an alternative to surgery. There are very few studies published on the use of conventional XRT in these settings. 	Thank you for your comment. The objective of the report was to evaluate the evidence base for external beam radiation compared to newer radiation techniques. The report objective was not intended to evaluate all treatments for a particular tumor. The report is a systematic review of studies published that met the specified inclusion criteria and therefore; all studies that met inclusion criteria were summarized regardless of the standard of care. We added additional background context and statements to make it clear that for certain tumors, surgery is

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 SRS is a well established treatment for brain metastases and the "Draft Evidence Review" provided a good summary of indications and appropriateness of its use in the guidelines section (NCCN). Other than for primary stage 1 lung cancers and solitary lung metastasis, I believe SBRT is investigational for other disease sites as described in the document. 	the standard of care not external beam radiation. Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"In acoustic neuromas, SRS or SRT is being used as an alternative to surgery. There are many more patients who have been treated with SRS for acoustic neuromas than with fractionated radiation therapy or hypofractionated SRT. A sentinel paper published in 1998 (<u>N Engl J Med.</u> 1998 Nov 12;339(20):1426-33) by Kondziolka and Flickinger demonstrates excellent outcomes in terms of local control; and hearing preservation improved with lower doses in subsequent reports. Radiosurgery has long been considered a standard treatment option for acoustic neuromas.	See comment above in regards to the comparator. The Kondziolka and Flickinger (1998) article does not meet inclusion criteria. The article addresses acoustic neuroma which was not included in the report. No change s to the Draft Report.
	More recently, reports of using fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy to reduce the risk of hearing loss were reported. These studies are summarized in a review by Dr. Backous and myself (Backous D and Pham HT. Guiding Patients Through the Choices for Treating Vestibular Schwannomas: Balancing Options and Ensuring Informed Consent. In <i>Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America</i> Haynes DA; W.B. Saunders: Philadelphia, PA 2007; Vol 40 (3): pp 521- 540). I think controversy exists between SRS and SRT as to which is a better radiotherapeutic option for patients, but there is really no role for conventional radiation therapy for acoustic neuromas as there is very little published using this technique. I do not think it makes any sense to do a comparison of SRS/SRT to conventional radiation therapy for acoustic neuromas. A better comparison is to look at the effectiveness and toxicity of SRS/SRT with surgery."	The Backous and Pham (2007) article does not meet inclusion criteria due to study design (narrative review). No change s to the Draft Report.
	"Same can be said of small meningiomas. Typically, if a patient has a meningioma that can be resected safely and the patient is deemed fit for	Thank you for your comment.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	surgery, then surgery is usually recommended. However, often, there are times when a patient has a meningioma in a location that is not safe to operate or the patient could not tolerate the surgery. SRS/SRT would be a good alternative to surgery offering excellent local control rates in the range of 90% at 5 years. Conventional radiation therapy would be an option for larger tumors. Conventional XRT requires 30 fractions over 6 weeks while SRS is a single treatment which is much more conformal reducing the amount of surrounding normal brain tissue being treated. If possible, it seems much more practical and safer for a patient to receive SRS over conventional XRT. The cost of SRS is probably the same or less than a 6 week course of conventional XRT."	No changes to the Draft Report.
	"The standard of care for stage 1 lung cancer or for a solitary lung metastasis is surgical resection for curative intent if the patient can tolerate it. What happens if these patients are not fit for surgery? Options include smaller surgeries such as a wedge resection (rather than a standard cancer operation such as lobectomy) or SBRT. Again, there is little data for conventional XRT in this setting. Radiobiological studies demonstrate a dose response for lung tumors which require doses as high as 100cGy (RBE) to obtain good local control for a lung cancer for curative intent. If that were to be done with conventional radiation therapy, it would require 50 fractions or 10 weeks of treatment. In addition, a larger margin of normal lung tissue would be needed around the tumor to account for lung motion resulting in a significant amount of lung treated. Unfortunately, patients who are considered for SBRT are usually because they have poor pulmonary function and cannot afford to have significant lung damage from radiation therapy. With SBRT, the course of the treatment is typically 2-5 fractions over 1 wk with minimal amount of lung damage using gating or breath hold techniques and image guidance. Although I don't have actual cost information, I suspect a course of SBRT would cost less than 10 wks of conventional XRT. Again, SBRT for lung cancer is an alternative to surgery and a better comparison in this setting would be to compare the results of SBRT for lung tumors with surgery, not conventional XRT."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.

October 10. 2012

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
Radiosu	rgery Society	
	Background on the Radiosurgery Society and the development of Stereotactic	Thank you for your comment.
	Radiosurgery and Stereotactic body radiation therapy was provided.	No changes to the Draft Report.
	The current state of data on SRS/SBRT was discussed.	Thank you for your comment.
		No changes to the Draft Report.
	"Taken in the aggregate, studies of SRS/SBRT show 70-90% control rates of treated tumors. This almost always compares very favorably with published data for more conventional radiation fractionation schemes. For instance, in non-small cell lung cancers of limited extent, SBRT routinely achieves local control rates of approximately 90% in virtually every published study, while standard radiation struggles to reach a 40% rate. The essential fact is that SRS/SBRT achieves superior results simply because it is better able to deliver the radiation dose precisely to the target while maximally sparing critical nearby tissues, thus allowing a dose of radiation which is biologically different from, and possibly biologically superior to, conventionally fractionated radiation."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	The non-clincial reasons to consider SRS/SBRT were described.	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	The following recommendation from the California Technology Assessment Forum was included: "It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with peripheral lesions meets CTAF criteria 2-5 for safety, effectiveness and improvement in outcomes. It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with central lesions and medically operable patients does not meet CTAF TA criteria 2-5, for safety, effectiveness, and improvement in outcomes."	Thank you for your comment. The CTAF report does not meet inclusion criteria. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Guidelines were provided from NCCN on non-small cell lung, hepatocellular carcinoma, central nervous system, prostate, and pancreatic adenocarcinoma.	Thank you for your comment. All of the NCCN guidelines referenced are included in the

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
		guideline section of the report with the exception of the prostat guideline. The prostate guideline does not make specific recommendations on the use of SBRT and therefore was not included. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Three draft AHRQ reports on non-small cell lung cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, and colorectal metastases to the liver were referenced.	Thank you for your comment. The three AHRQ reports referenced are not final reports and therefore do not meet inclusion criteria. No changes to the Draft Report.
	"We recommend that the Washington Health Care Authority recognize the potential advantages of SRS/SBRT and continue to make these treatments available to patients. If the HCA deems it necessary, it could impose a registry requirement similar to those in place in Medicare regions for certain indications."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	A white paper titled "Metastatic Cancer of the Liver and Stereotactic Radiosurgery" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.
	A white paper titled "SRS for Trigeminal Neuralgia" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.
	A white paper titled "Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy Treatment for Head and Neck Cancer" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.
	A white paper titled "SRS for Non Small Cell Lung Cancer" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.
	A white paper titled "Prostate Cancer and Stereotactic Radiosurgery" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.
	A white paper titled "Carcinoma of the Pancreas and Stereotactic Radiosurgery" was provided.	Thank you for your comment. Study design does nto meet inclusion criteria.

October 10. 2012

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition	
Varian M	Varian Medical Systems, Inc		
	Summary – Varian provides information on its organization, expresses intent to comment, and notes concerns that the draft report does not properly highlight benefits of SRS and SBRT.	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.	
	"The WSHCA's narrow view of "sufficient clinical evidence" for technologies to include only randomized clinical trials will be to the significant determinant to cancer patients in the state of Washington. Varian recognizes the value of randomized controlled trials or prospective studies to guide the clinical application of new technology. Generating this type of data for radiosurgery, however, is exceedingly difficult as radiosurgery has been developed incrementally which is different from other medical interventions. As is evidenced by our enclosed comments, there are significant clinical peer reviewed publications that demonstrate the clinical effectiveness of SRS and SBRT."	The report included other study designs (e.g. retrospective and prospective comparative cohort studies and case series for less prevalent tumor types), not just RCTs.	
	The challenges of conducting an evidence-based evaluation are outlined including citations for Bentzen (2008) and Bekelman (2011).	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.	
	Differences between RS and CRT are described, including the types of available evidence on both treatments.	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.	
	"Executive Summary – Background Pages 6 and 38, cost information: These brief sections seems out of place and the particular report by Lanni, et al, is later described as "a poor quality cost evaluation", page 98. We suggest removing this section and relying on the discussion on page 98, or developing a larger section that deals with cost information in a more comprehensive fashion."	Thank you for your comment. There was little cost data identified. This was identified in an Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report. We deleted this study out of the Executive Summary and Background of the report.	
	Executive Summary – Findings	Thank you for your comment.	
	"Page 22, KQ1: This section says "Since there were no studies comparing SBRT to other therapies, it is uncertain whether SBRT improves survival or other patient-important outcomes compared to conventional EBRT." While not an	No changes to the Draft Report.	

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	exhaustive literature search, the following three papers describe comparison of SBRT to sublobar resection;	
	 Fernandez FG, Crabtree TD, Liu J, Meyers BF. Sublobar resection versus definitive radiation in patients with stage IA non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012 Aug;94(2):354-60; discussion 360-1. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: comparator is not relevant to the key questions addressed in this report. Of note, in the Frenandez (2012) study, the subgroup of patients that were propensity score matched had 3-year overall survivals favoring sublobar resection compared to SBRT (52% versus 41%; p<0.001).
	• Puri V, Crabtree TD, Kymes S, Gregory M, Bell J, Bradley JD, Robinson C, Patterson GA, Kreisel D, Krupnick AS, Meyers BF. A comparison of surgical intervention and stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I lung cancer in high-risk patients: a decision analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012 Feb;143(2):428-36.	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: comparator is not relevant.
	• Crabtree TD, Denlinger CE, Meyers BF, El Naqa I, Zoole J, Krupnick AS, Kreisel D, Patterson GA, Bradley JD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus surgical resection for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010 Aug;140(2):377-86."	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: comparator is not relevant.
	Executive Summary – Findings	Thank you for your comment.
	 "Page 22, KQ1: The following paper describes the challenges and controversies inherent in doing comparative effectiveness research across very different treatment modalities, such as lung SBRT and sublobular surgical resection; Senan S, Palma DA, Lagerwaard FJ. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for stage I NSCLC: Recent advances and controversies. J Thorac Dis. 2011 Sep;3(3):189-96." 	No changes to the Draft Report.
	Background "The first paragraph lists the devices that are approved to deliver SRS/SBRT. The	Thank you for your comment.We deleted Figure 2 and instead updated Firgure 1.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	list is incomplete and inconsistent with Table 2, on page 35. The list in Table 2 should be expanded to include; TrueBeam, TrueBeam STx, and Clinac iX, all manufactured by Varian Medical Systems, Inc."	The paragraph on devices was not meant to be all inclusive, but to instead provide a few examples of FDA approved devices. The sentence on page 35 has been revised to reflect this.
	Background "Pages 33 and 34, figures 1 and 2: These figures show a mixture of generic descriptors and product names. Since this report is intended to provide policy guidance to a broad range of individuals, we recommend using only generic descriptors."	Thank you for your comment.We deleted Figure 2 and instead updated Firgure 1.
	Background	Thank you for your comment.
	 Differences in terminology for treatment modalities are discussed including: the definition of Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) approved by the American Association of Neurological Surgeons, the Congress of Neurological Surgeons and the American Society of Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology in 2006 "By convention, the use of the same treatment methodology in the remaining parts of the body is referred to as Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT)." "Also, some researchers are promoting the use of the term "Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy" (SABR), pronounced "sabre"." 	No changes to the Draft Report.
	Background "Page 37, Outcome and Toxicity Measures: This section says "Outcome measures for the multiple cancers include the primary outcomes of overall survival (OS) and median survival at 1-, 2- and 5-years, and secondary outcomes of local tumor control, disease-free survival (DFS), and quality of life (QoL)" Multiple modalities, both focal and systemic, are used in the modern management of oncologic disease. In an era of "personalized treatment", it is increasingly rare for mono-therapy to be used exclusively. Thus, overall survival and median survival are better measures for the entire treatment regime. The goals of RS, as described on page 5, are to; "to improve the targeting of	Thank you for your comments. Primary outcomes are identified and determined by the authors of the studies. Primary refers to the main outcome for which the study was designed to measure. A surrogate outcome is commonly defined as a surrogate endpoint of a study that may be a laboratory measurement or a physical sign used as a substitute for a clinically meaningful endpoint that measures directly how a patient feels, functions or survives.As a result, local tumor contro, and disease free survival would be

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	radiation to the tumor to minimize damage to normal tissue and increase the dose of radiation delivered to the tumor". RS offers ablative dose-escalation to tumor targets with simultaneous dose-restraint to normal tissues that is not possible with conventional radiotherapy. It is axiomatic that reducing dose to normal tissues will result in lower toxicities. Therefore, we recommend that reports of local tumor control, disease-free-survival (DFS) and quality of life (QoL) be incorporated in the discussion of primary outcomes, not secondary outcomes and they should not be described as "surrogate outcome", as is done in the summary section on page 27."	considered surrogate outcomes versus outcomes important to patients such as quality of life, symptom control, and overall survival. Quality of life was included as an outcome when reported. For almost all of the studies reporting quality of life outcomes, this outcome was not the primary outcome defined by the authors.The term surrogate was deleted on page 27.
	 Liver "Page 57: The following references have been published since the cutoff date for the report, and should comply with the inclusion criteria: Lee IJ, Seong J. The optimal selection of radiotherapy treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut Liver. 2012 Apr;6(2):139-48. Almaghrabi MY, Supiot S, Paris F, Mahé MA, Rio E. Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Abdominal Oligometastases: A biological and clinical review. Radiat Oncol. 2012 Aug 1;7(1):126. Lock MI, Hoyer M, Bydder SA, Okunieff P, Hahn CA, Vichare A, Dawson LA. An international survey on liver metastases radiotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2012 May;51(5):568-74. Barney BM, Olivier KR, Miller RC, Haddock MG. Clinical outcomes and toxicity using Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT) for advanced cholangiocarcinoma. Radiat Oncol. 2012 May 3;7:67. O'Connor JK, Trotter J, Davis GL, Dempster J, Klintmalm GB, Goldstein RM. Long-term outcomes of stereotactic body radiation therapy in the treatment of hepatocellular cancer as a bridge to transplantation. Liver Transpl. 2012 Aug;18(8):949-54. Ibarra RA, Rojas D, Snyder L, Yao M, Fabien J, Milano M, Katz A, Goodman K,Stephans K, El-Gazzaz G, Aucejo F, Miller C, Fung J, Lo S, Machtay M, Sanabria JR. Multicenter results of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SRT) for non-resectable primary liver tumors. Acta 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 Oncol. 2012 May;51(5):575-83. Facciuto ME, Singh MK, Rochon C, Sharma J, Gimenez C, Katta U, Moorthy CR,Bentley-Hibbert S, Rodriguez-Davalos M, Wolf DC. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma and cirrhosis: evaluation of radiological and pathological response. J Surg Oncol. 2012 Jun 1;105(7):692-8." 	Study does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: date of published study
	Central Nervous System "Page 63: Cranial SRS is routinely used to treat non-oncologic diseases, the primary examples being arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) and trigeminal neuralgia. They are conspicuous in their absence from this section. It is beyond the scope of this review of the draft report to suggest all possible references that should be reviewed, but the usefulness and credibility of the report would be greatly enhanced if it included treatment of non-oncologic disease. Please see the attached bibliography for a list of possible references to consider for inclusion and analysis."	Thank you for your comment. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Central Nervous System "Page 77, KQ 1: Meningiomas are the most common benign intracranial lesion, and routinely treated with RS, so it is difficult to believe that "No studies were identified.""	Thank you for your comment. To address Key Question #1 regarding the effectiveness of SRS and SRT compared to whole brain radiation therapy, we included only comparative studies.No comparative studies were identified that met inclusion criteria. No changes to the Draft Report.
	Central Nervous System "Page 79, KQ4: While the absolute costs may not apply to the US market, the 2011 paper by Tan et al (rated as "good quality"), should be included, since it demonstrates a relative comparison of costs that transcends the healthcare delivery system."	Thank you for your comment. The results from the Tan (2011) cost study were included in the report. However, the calculation of healthcare costs in the Netherlands, including relative costs across the treatments, may not translate well to the U.S. setting especially given the known variation in costs and charges across healthcare markets in the U.S.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
		No change to Draft Report.
	Lung	Thank you for your comment.
	"Page 94: As mentioned in the general comments section, this population- based study compared overall survival outcomes for elderly patients with stage I NSCLC treated before and after the widespread implementation of SBRT, and detected a 16% absolute increase in radiotherapy utilization, corresponding to a decrease in untreated patients. This suggests that the efficacy, favorable toxicity profile, and convenience associated with SBRT may be key factors influencing treatment uptake. The controlled implementation of SBRT was associated with an improvement in survival that was not readily explained by other potential confounding factors, such as differences in baseline populations or stage migration.	No change to Draft Report.
	 Palma D, Visser O, Lagerwaard FJ, Belderbos J, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Impact of Introducing Stereotactic Lung Radiotherapy for Elderly Patients With Stage I Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Population-Based Time- Trend Analysis. Journal of clinical oncology 2010;28(35): 5153-9." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	Lung "Page 97, first paragraph: Four studies are summarized that describe the complications from the placement of fiducial markers. Since this applies to only one of the devices used to treat lung SBRT, as noted in the report, the procedure used to introduce the fiducials and the fiducials themselves have evolved, we recommend deleting this section. "	Thank you for your comment. We summarized the harms identified by the studies included in this review.
	Lung	
	 "Page 98, KQ 4: The following two studies, one that address patients that are older than 75 and the other that looks at patients with concurrent COPD, should be included in this section on subpopulations. Palma DA, Tyldesley S, Sheehan F, Mohamed IG, Smith S, Wai E, Murray N, Senan S. Stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in patients aged 75 years and older: does age determine survival after radical treatment? J Thorac Oncol. 2010 Jun;5(6):818-24. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: comparator not relevant Study design does not meet inclusion criteria.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 Louie AV, Rodrigues G, Hannouf M, Lagerwaard F, Palma D, Zaric GS, Haasbeek C, Senan S. Withholding stereotactic radiotherapy in elderly patients with stage I non-small cell lung cancer and co-existing COPD is not justified: outcomes of a Markov model analysis. Radiother Oncol. 2011 May;99(2):161-5." 	Reason for exclusion: comparator not relevant
	Prostate	
	 "Page 99, KQ1: There has been considerable clinical research on prostate SBRT, so it is surprising to see that "No studies were identified." There are studies mentioned in "Subsequently Published Studies" section, so perhaps this is an editorial oversight. The following studies may comply with the inclusion criteria; Freeman DE, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: five-year outcomes. Radiat Oncol. 2011 Jan 10;6:3. 	Thank you for your comment. To address Key Question #1 on the effectiveness of SBRT compared to conventional EBRT, we included only comparative studies. No comparative studies were identified that met inclusion criteria.
	• King C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: current results of a phase II trial. Front Radiat Ther Oncol. 2011;43:428-37. Epub 2011 May 20.	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, DeRose P, Xie XJ, Yan J, Foster R, Pistenmaa D, Perkins A, Cooley S, Timmerman R. Phase I dose- escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer, J Clin Oncol. 2011 May 20;29(15):2020-6. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	• Ray C. Long-term outcomes of SBRT in low-risk prostate cancer, Nat Rev Urol. 2011 Apr;8(4):174. No abstract available.	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Kang JK, Cho CK, Choi CW, Yoo S, Kim MS, Yang K, Yoo H, Kim JH, Seo YS, Lee DH, Jo M., Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer, Tumori. 2011 Jan-Feb;97(1):43-8. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	• King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC Jr. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Feb 1;82(2):877-82. Epub 2011	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	Feb 6.	Study was already included
	 Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, Diblasio F. Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Low- and Low-Intermediate-Risk Prostate Cancer: Is there a Dose Effect? Front Oncol. 2011;1:49. Epub 2011 Dec 5. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: comparator
	 Jabbari S, Weinberg VK, Kaprealian T, Hsu IC, Ma L, Chuang C, Descovich M, Shiao S, Shinohara K, Roach M 3rd, Gottschalk AR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as monotherapy or post-external beam radiotherapy boost for prostate cancer: technique, early toxicity, and PSA response, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1;82(1):228-34. Epub 2010 Dec 22. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A, Guglielmi R. Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: preliminary clinical results, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):473-7. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Katz AJ. CyberKnife radiosurgery for prostate cancer, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):463-72. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Oermann EK, Slack RS, Hanscom HN, Lei S, Suy S, Park HU, Kim JS, Sherer BA, Collins BT, Satinsky AN, Harter KW, Batipps GP, Constantinople NL, Dejter SW, Maxted WC, Regan JB, Pahira JJ, McGeagh KG, Jha RC, Dawson NA, Dritschilo A, Lynch JH, Collins SP. A pilot study of intensity modulated radiation therapy with hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) boost in the treatment of intermediate- to high-risk prostate cancer, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):453-62. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, Diblasio F, Witten M. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for organ-confined prostate cancer.BMC Urol. 2010 Feb 1;10:1." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	Prostate	
	"In addition, the following review articles may comply with the inclusion criteria;	

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 Spyropoulou D, Kardamakis D Review of hypofractionated radiotherapy for prostate cancer. ISRN Oncol. 2012;2012:410892 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Arcangeli S, Scorsetti M, Alongi F, Will SBRT replace conventional radiotherapy in patients with low-intermediate risk prostate cancer? A review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012 Oct;84(1):101-8. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Ishiyama H, Teh BS, Lo SS, Mathews T, Blanco A, Amato R, Ellis RJ, Mayr NA, Paulino AC, Xu B, Butler BE Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Future Oncol. 2011 Sep;7(9):1077-86. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Teh BS, Ishiyama H, Mathews T, Xu B, Butler EB, Mayr NA, Lo SS, Lu JJ, Blanco AI, Paulino AC, Timmerman RD.Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for genitourinary malignancies. Discov Med. 2010 Sep;10(52):255-62. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Biagioli MC, Hoffe SE. Emerging technologies in prostate cancer radiation therapy: improving the therapeutic window. Cancer Control. 2010 Oct;17(4):223-32. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Choe KS, Liauw SL Radiotherapeutic strategies in the management of low-risk prostate cancer. ScientificWorldJournal. 2010 Sep 14;10:1854- 69. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Wiegner EA, King CR Sexual function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results of a prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Oct 1;78(2):442-8." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	Prostate	
	 "Page 100, KQ4: The following studies may comply with the inclusion criteria; Hodges JC, Lotan Y, Boike TP, Benton R, Barrier A, Timmerman RD, Cost- effectiveness analysis of stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated radiation therapy: an emerging initial radiation treatment option for organ-confined prostate cancer, J Oncol Pract. 2012 May;8(3 Suppl):e31s-7s. 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: search dates
	Parthan A, Pruttivarasin N, Davies D, Taylor DC, Pawar V, Bijlani A, Lich	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria.

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	 KH, Chen RC. Comparative cost-effectiveness of stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated and proton radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer, Front Oncol. 2012;2:81. Epub 2012 Aug 20. Hodges JC, Lotan Y, Boike TP, Benton R, Barrier A, Timmerman RD. Cost-effectiveness analysis of SBRT versus IMRT: an emerging initial radiation treatment option for organ-confined prostate cancer. Am J Manag Care. 2012 May 1;18(5):e186-93." 	Reason for exclusion: search dates Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: search dates
	 Spine "Page 101, KQ1: The following study is discussed KQ2 and should also be included in KQ1; Ryu S, Rock J, Jain R, Lu M, Anderson J, Jin JY, Rosenblum M, Movsas B, Kim JH. Radiosurgical decompression of metastatic epidural compression. Cancer. 2010 May 1;116(9):2250-7." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	 Spine "Page 102, KQ2: The following study should be included in KQ2; Ryu S, Jin R, Jin JY, Chen Q, Rock J, Anderson J, Movsas B. Pain control by image-guided radiosurgery for solitary spinal metastasis. J Pain Symptom Manage.2008 Mar;35(3):292-8." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: sample size
	 Spine "Page 105, KQ3: The following study should be included in KQ3, as is it discusses a particular subpopulation, postoperative patients. Sahgal A, Bilsky M, Chang EL, Ma L, Yamada Y, Rhines LD, Létourneau D, Foote M, Yu E, Larson DA, Fehlings MG. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases: current status, with a focus on its application in the postoperative patient. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011 Feb;14(2):151-66." 	Study design does not meet inclusion criteria. Reason for exclusion: study design
	Spine "Page 105, KQ4: Since costs are typically reported on a per-patient basis, the reported Haley 2011 study results should be revised such that they are per- patient, not per 100 patients. This will avoid the potential for significant	Thank you for your comment. We agree with the comment about the potential for confusion about the study results. The authors used statistical modeling to arrive at these results. The

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition			
	confusion."	assumptions and specific modeling technique were not well described in the article, so we chose to report the results as they did. We can not determine from the article if it is appropriate to divide each of the reported numbers by 100.			
		No change to Drajt Report.			
	 Guidelines Page 108: The following study should be included; Sahgal A, Roberge D, Schellenberg D, Purdie TG, Swaminath A, Pantarotto J, Filion E, Gabos Z, Butler J, Letourneau D, Masucci GL, Mulroy L, Bezjak A, Dawson LA, Parliament M. The Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology Scope of Practice Guidelines for Lung, Liver and Spine Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2012 May 23" 	guidelines were included in the report. No change to Draft Report			
Washing	Washington State Agency Medical Directors				
	"This is a comprehensive evidence review which reflects the overall lack of high quality evidence addressing concerns of safety, comparative effectiveness, and cost for stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy. In its present format the report does not prioritize the areas of greatest clinical relevance which are supported by at least a fair to good level of evidence. Restructuring the report will assist the Health Technology Clinical Committee members in their decision making process. The proposed areas of prioritization in the report include the use of stereotactic radiosurgery in the treatment of medically inoperable or unresectable primary brain neoplasms or metastatic disease for patients with a good Karnofsky performance status, treatment of early stage NSCLC in patients with a favorable live expectancy who are otherwise medically inoperable or unresectable, and treatment of primary or metastatic vertebral body, spinal or paraspinal tumors with either a history of previous radiation therapy or requiring high-dose radiotherapy."	Thank you for your comment. No change to Draft Report.			

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
	"p. 6 The article "Stereotactic Radiotherapy Reduces Treatment Cost While Improving Overall Survival and Local Control over Standard Fractionated Radiation Therapy for Medically Inoperable Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer," is misquoted in the <i>Cost information</i> section in paragraph 2. This data should be omitted from the Executive Summary for the following reasons: 1. There is no mention made of whether or not these patients received adjuvant chemotherapy and therefore the survival conclusion must be questioned. 2. Indirect costs such as ancillary tests and associated imaging studies were not included in this cost analysis. 3. The executive summary should not contain a reference to a specific journal article, particularly if the article is of poor quality and unclear clinical significance."	Thank you for your comment. We agree that there was very little information regarding the cost or charges for SRS, SRT or SBR. As a result, we included everything we identified. This section was removed from the Executive Summary and Background.
	"p. 6 Please specify whether or not the EBRT comparator included IMRT."	Thank you for your comment. The EBRT comparator for the cost data from Lanni (2010) does not include IMRT.
	"p. 9 The findings should be listed either according to frequency of use based upon the state agency data or to quality of supporting medical evidence, rather than alphabetically."	Thank you for your comment. The listing of the findings was changed. The findings were separated by the overall strengths of evidence. Tumor types with the highest overall strengths of evidence are listed first.
	"p. 10 A summary table of findings, organized by diagnosis or prioritized by the level of evidence, such as was performed for the IMRT review, would be helpful. The present organization of the report is very difficult to follow."	Thank you for your comment. The report is reorganized as stated above and a summary table will be provided in the Final Report.
	"p. 12 The Central Nervous System section should be divided into primary CNS tumors and "brain metastases."	Thank you for your comment. We made the changes to the report as recommended and able based on the study populations.
	"pp. 10-24 Information should be incorporated into a table, as stated previously. Table should be reinserted before p. 55 Study results."	Thank you for your comment. We have two summary of findings tables in the Appendix of the report. The table is separated by tumor types with comparative studies and those without. We

Reviewer	Comment	Disposition
		will also insert the table where there are comparative studies before the findings section as recommended.
	"p. 64. The "Brain metastases" section needs to elucidate if the patient populations were limited to single metastasis versus multiple metastases. This section requires expansion as this will be an area of focus for the Clinical committee. Please add the following in a summary table: single vs. multiple metastases, resectable vs. unresectable disease, size of metastasis and histologic type."	Thank you for your comment. We agree that an expansion as recommended would be ideal however, only one study (Andrews 2004) reported stratified results. Most studies included patients with 1- 4 mets and did not analyze their results by one vs. more than one met. The same is true for histology. None of the studies described whether patients had resectable or unresectable brain mets. Most of the studies only included patients with mets less than or equal to four centimeters.We separated them as we were able based on the study designs.
	"p. 79 "Multiple CNS Tumors" is unclear. Does this mean Synchronous primary brain tumors? Metachronous primary brain tumors? Multiple brain metastases? Either clarify or omit this section."	Thank you for your comment. This was clarified in the report as able. Many of the studiesincluded heterogenous population.
	"There is no reference to the pediatric population in this report. Please clarify if (1) no literature exists (2) literature is present but did not meet the minimum sample size requirements. If literature is present but did not meet the minimum sample size requirements please include this comment, particularly in the sections for abdominal, brain and spinal tumors."	Thank you for your comment. The majority of cancers addressed by the studies in this report occur predominantly in adults. There were 53 studies that included children, adolescents, and adults but they did not stratify the results by age. In addition, the median and mean ages for those studies were over 50 years old. Only one study (Kano 2010) on ependymomas included a pediatric population. Another study (Marcus 2005)included patients aged 2-26 with a sample size of 50. A list of studies is provided in the first paragraph of the Findings section. In addition,

Reviewe	Comment	Disposition
		Marcus and Kano are well described in the report and highlighted in the presentation to the committee.

Full Public Comments

American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS) AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS TECHNS & NetWork Device 2550 Moderatoria Direction Device 2550 Moderatoria 2550

September 28, 2012





CONGRESS OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS BROMA SUBJECT Seattley Death United Harring & Road Sole 100 Brianmang, L. 8073 Proce. 67751-006 Hot 249-0600 Hot 249-0600 Hot 249-0600

CHRISTOPHER E. WOLFLA, NEI Hillwaukee, Waconshi

Josh Morse, MPH, Program Director WA Health Technology Assessment Program Washington State Health Care Authority P.O. Box 4282 Olympia, WA 98504-2682 E-mail: shtap@hca.wa.gov

RE: Draft Health Technology Assessment for Stereotactic Radiosurgery

Dear Mr. Morse:

On behalf of the American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS), we would like to thank the Washington State Health Care Authority for the opportunity to comment on the draft Health Technology Assessment (HTA) regarding the use of Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) and Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT). As you may know, stereotactic radiosurgery was pioneered by neurosurgeons and we are the leaders in using SRS to treat patients with a variety of neurologic diseases. For years, the AANS and CNS have worked with policymakers to help ensure that neurosurgical patients have access to this important treatment when appropriate, and we appreciate the opportunity to reiterate our thoughts on this topic to you now.

Summary

Overall, the strength of the evidence supporting the use of stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) for a diverse group of intracranial indications and spinal metastasis is high and overwhelming. Some level 1 and 2 evidence as well as a myriad of level 3, 4, and 5 evidence spanning 40 years demonstrates the efficacy and safety of stereotactic radiosurgery for appropriately selected patients with malignant and benign brain tumors, vascular malformations, functional disorders, and spinal metastases. At this point in time, clinical equipoise will preclude many randomized, prospective trials of SRS versus external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) or resection for various indications when there is four or more decade's worth of data supporting SRS. In addition, the higher cost effectiveness and improved quality of life afforded by SRS as compared to more invasive surgical procedures or broader field radiotherapy approaches have been demonstrated by numerous groups. It is clear that wider field fractionated radiation therapy techniques, which deliver radiation in larger volumes in many treatments to normal cerebral or spinal structures, negatively impact subsequent quality of life compared to the use of tightly confined, highly focused SRS. SRS remains one of the safest and most effective approaches in neurosurgery and radiation oncology. SRS technologies have resulted in a major paradigm shift in the use of both alternative surgical and radiation therapy techniques for a broad array of well-defined clinical indications. During the last 40 years more than 6,000 SRS publications provide this evidence in great detail.

Background

From a strict evidence based medicine standpoint, most of the evidence regarding stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) is level III or higher. The majority of level I evidence for SRS exists for brain

WASHINGTON OFFICE

721 Hitherith Sheet, NW, Sure 500 Washington, DC 20005 Hionel 302-629/2077 His i 202-629-5264 E-real: korrisodineurosongery.org Josh Morse, MPH September 28, 2012 Draft Health Technology Assessment for Stereotactic Radiosurgery Page 2 of 4

metastasis and glioblastomas. SRS was introduced more than 40 years ago, an era in which evidence based approaches were less of a priority. In 2012, if a prospective trial of patients with small to moderately sized meningiomas was designed to randomize patients to SRS, EBRT, and microsurgical resection, it would be unlikely to accrue secondary to clinical equipoise issues. While it may seem humbling that the majority of the practice of SRS is supported by class III evidence and a small amount of class I and II data, evidence based methodologies are useful to organize existing literature and to see if there is truly objective data to answer specific questions. However, there is overwhelming evidence derived from a broad array of institutions and hundreds of thousands of patients treated over more than 40 years to support the clinical benefits, cost effectiveness, and safety of SRS in patients who may be eligible for SRS, EBRT, and/or microsurgery. The clinical efficacy and safety of SRS and, to a lesser extent, the cost effectiveness and quality of life benefits of it compared to EBRT or resection are well documented by the report prepared by the Center for Evidenced-Based Policy at the Oregon Health & Science University.

Quality of Life Issues

From a quality of life standpoint, there is prospective evidence to support the use of stereotactic radiosurgery for patients with brain metastasis, acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, and pituitary adenomas. In a randomized, prospective trial of patients with brain metastasis, Chang and colleagues found significant benefit in terms of neurocognition in patients treated with SRS alone over SRS plus whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) (Chang et al., 2009). In a study constituting level II evidence, radiosurgery afforded a higher quality of life for vestibular schwannoma patients as compared to microsurgery (Pollock et al., 2006). In a case controlled study of patients with small to medium sized meningiomas, SRS was also demonstrated to provide better neurological preservation than surgical resection for patients with small to moderately size meningiomas (Pollock et al., 2003). In a nonrandomized, prospective study of pituitary adenoma patients, SRS afforded neurocognitive preservation as compared to patients undergoing external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) or being left untreated for their pituitary adenoma (Tooze et al., 2012). With regard to spinal metastases patients, spinal radiosurgery has been demonstrated in a recently published phase 1-2 study to lead to significant reductions in pain and other symptoms and provide a high rate of progression free survival while at the same time resulting in a low rate of spinal cord toxicity (Wang et al., 2012).

Cost Effective Analysis

From an economic standpoint, SRS has been shown to be very cost-effective for multiple indications including brain metastases, acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, arteriovenous malformations, trigeminal neuralgia, and spinal metastases (Tarricone et al., 2008; Wellis et al., 2003, van Roijen et al., 1997). In a comparison of surgical and follow up costs associated with vestibular schwannoma patients. radiosurgery was shown to be less expensive than microsurgery even when factoring in long-term follow up expenses (Banerjee et al., 2008). In a cost-effectiveness analysis of the Chang et al. study (Lancet Oncology, 2009), SRS alone had a higher average effectiveness than when added to WBRT (Lal et al., 2012). This finding of a high cost-effectiveness of SRS for brain metastases patients is consistent with prior publications (Lee et al., 2009; Mehta et al., 1997). SRS has also been shown to be more cost effective than resection for patients with brain metastases (Vuong et al., 2012; Rutigliano et al., 1995). Cho et al. (2006) evaluated the socioeconomic costs of open surgery and SRS for 174 patients with benign skull based tumors. They found shorten hospital stays, reduced complications, improvements in return to work, and an overall better cost-effectiveness with SRS over resection for comparable groups of patients (Cho et al., 2006). It is also well accepted, as noted in recent meta-analyses, that radiosurgery provides a faster rate of endocrine remission compared to EBRT for patients with functioning pituitary adenomas thereby allowing radiosurgery patients to be removed from costly antisecretory medications much more quickly than comparable patients treated with EBRT (Loeffler et al., 2011; Sheehan et al., 2005). In an analysis of the cost-effectiveness of SRS for patients with spinal

Josh Morse, MPH September 28, 2012 Draft Health Technology Assessment for Stereofactic Radiosurgery Page 3 of 4

metastasis, spinal radiosurgery was found to be superior to conventional EBRT for appropriately selected patients (Papatheofanis et al., 2009).

Conclusion

Stereotactic Radiosurgery in the brain and spine is safe and effective when used in appropriately selected patients. The cost effectiveness and quality of life benefits are also well documented. We thank you again for the opportunity to present our views and are eager to answer any questions the panel may have about the use of SRS by neurosurgeons.

Sincerely,

Mitchel S. Berger, MD, President American Association of Neurological Surgeons

unter E. Well

Christopher E. Wolfla, MD, President Congress of Neurological Surgeons

Attachments:

- · AANS-CNS Statement on SRS Reimbursement and Coding
- January 2007 Journal of Neurosurgery article, "Stereotactic Radiosurgery—an Organized Neurosurgery-Sanctioned Definition"

Staff Contact:

Catherine Jeakle Hill Senior Manager, Regulatory Affairs AANS/CNS Washington Office 725 15th Street, NW, Suite 500 Washington, DC 20005 Phone: 202-446-2026 E-mail: chill@neurosurgery.org

References

- Banerjee R, Moriarty JP, Foote RL, Pollock BE. Comparison of the surgical and follow-up costs associated with microsurgical resection and stereotactic radiosurgery for vestibular schwannoma.J Neurosurg. 2008 Jun;108(6):1220-4.
- Chang EL, Wefel JS, Hess KR, Allen PK, Lang FF, Kornguth DG, Arbuckle RB, Swint JM, Shiu AS, Maor MH, Meyers CA. Neurocognition in patients with brain metastases treated with radiosurgery or radiosurgery plus whole-brain irradiation: a randomized controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2009 Nov;10(11):1037-44.
- Cho DY, Tsao M, Lee WY, Chang CS. Socioeconomic costs of open surgery and gamma knife radiosurgery for benign cranial base tumors. Neurosurgery. 2006 May;58(5):866-73; discussion 866-73.
- Lal LS, Byfield SD, Chang EL, Franzini L, Miller LA, Arbuckle R, Reasonda L, Feng C, Adamus A, Swint JM. Cost-effectiveness analysis of a randomized study comparing radiosurgery with radiosurgery and whole brain radiation therapy in patients with 1 to 3 brain metastases. Am J Clin Oncol. 2012 Feb;35(1):45-50.

Josh Morse, MPH September 28, 2012 Draft Health Technology Assessment for Stereotactic Radiosurgery Page 4 of 4

- Lee WY, Cho DY, Lee HC, Chuang HC, Chen CC, Liu JL, Yang SN, Liang JA, Ho LH. Outcomes and cost-effectiveness of gamma knife radiosurgery and whole brain radiotherapy for multiple metastatic brain tumors. J Clin Neurosci. 2009 May;16(5):630-4.
- Loeffler JS, Shih HA. Radiation therapy in the management of pituitary adenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011 Jul;96(7):1992-2003.
- Mehta M, Noyes W, Craig B, Lamond J, Auchter R, French M, Johnson M, Levin A, Badie B, Robbins I, Kinsella T. A cost-effectiveness and cost-utility analysis of radiosurgery vs. resection for singlebrain metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1997 Sep 1;39(2):445-54.
- Papatheofanis FJ, Williams E, Chang SD. Cost-utility analysis of the cyberknife system for metastatic spinal tumors. Neurosurgery. 2009 Feb;64(2 Suppl):A73-83.
- Pollock BE, Driscoll CL, Foote RL, Link MJ, Gorman DA, Bauch CD, Mandrekar JN, Krecke KN, Johnson CH. Patient outcomes after vestibular schwannoma management: a prospective comparison of microsurgical resection and stereotactic radiosurgery. Neurosurgery. 2006 Jul;59(1):77-85.
- Pollock BE, Stafford SL, Utter A, Giannini C, Schreiner SA. Stereotactic radiosurgery provides equivalent tumor control to Simpson Grade 1 resection for patients with small- to medium-size meningiomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003 Mar 15;55(4):1000-5.
- Rutigliano MJ, Lunsford LD, Kondziolka D, Strauss MJ, Khanna V, Green M. The cost effectiveness of stereotactic radiosurgery versus surgical resection in the treatment of solitary metastatic brain tumors. Neurosurgery. 1995 Sep;37(3):445-53; discussion 453-5.
- Sheehan JP, Niranjan A, Sheehan JM, Jane JA Jr, Laws ER, Kondziolka D, Flickinger J, Landolt AM, Loeffler JS, Lunsford LD. Stereotactic radiosurgery for pituitary adenomas: an intermediate review of its safety, efficacy, and role in the neurosurgical treatment armamentarium. J Neurosurg. 2005 Apr;102(4):678-91.
- Tarricone R, Aguzzi G, Musi F, Fariselli L, Casasco A. Cost-effectiveness analysis for trigeminal neuralgia: Cyberknife vs. microvascular decompression. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2008 Jun;4(3):647-52.
- Tooze A, Hiles CL, Sheehan JP. Neurocognitive changes in pituitary adenoma patients after gamma knife radiosurgery; a preliminary study. World Neurosurg. 2012 Jul;78(1-2):122-8.
- van Roijen L, Nijs HG, Avezaat CJ, Karlsson G, Linquist C, Pauw KH, Rutten FF. Costs and effects of microsurgery versus radiosurgery in treating acoustic neuroma. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1997;139(10):942-8.
- Vuong DA, Rades D, van Eck AT, Horstmann GA, Busse R. Comparing the cost-effectiveness of two brain metastasis treatment modalities from a payer's perspective: Stereotactic radiosurgery versus surgical resection. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2012 Jun 16.
- Wang XS, Rhines LD, Shiu AS, Yang JN, Selek U, Gning I, Liu P, Allen PK, Azeem SS, Brown PD, Sharp HJ, Weksberg DC, Cleeland CS, Chang EL. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for management of spinal metastases in patients without spinal cord compression: a phase 1-2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012 Apr;13(4):395-402.
- Wellis G, Nagel R, Volimar C, Steiger HJ. Direct costs of microsurgical management of radiosurgically amenable intracranial pathology in Germany: an analysis of meningiomas, acoustic neuromas, metastases and arteriovenous malformations of less than 3 cm in diameter. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2003 Apr;145(4):249-55
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS TICMUL A MARSHAL, Deacher Deacher Selfon Maddwarde Drive Ading Meedows, 11, 6008 Pares 1809-564-005 Fairs 647-570-5600 Tablearturo

Maxdont Janes R., Bean, MD Lexington, Kentuchy





CONGRESS OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS LAURE 50-NOIS, Selective Orienter 10 horn Maringle hoad, Suita 100 Strandburg, 8, 60179 Prome: 077-573,1306 Page 107-573,1306 Page 107-573,1306

> Pleaders P. DWVID 4DELSON, MO Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

American Association of Neurological Surgeons and Congress of Neurological Surgeons

Statement on Coding and Reimbursement for

Stereotactic Radiosurgery

Background

Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) is a multispecialty discipline pioneered by neurosurgeons, and the roles of the neurosurgeon, radiation oncologist and physicist are essential. As with other 90-day global cranial and spinal procedures performed by neurosurgeons, the neurosurgeon is responsible for the pre-operative assessment of the patient, treatment planning, oversight of the procedure itself, and health needs of the patient during the 90-day global period related to the SRS procedure. As the primary responsible health care provider, the neurosurgeon assumes responsibility for the patient's record and conducts follow up visits as deemed clinically appropriate following the SRS procedure.

Definition of Stereotactic Radiosurgery

The American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS) support the following definition of stereotactic radiosurgery developed by the AANS, CNS, and the American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO) in March 20, 2006:

Stereotactic Radiosurgery is a distinct discipline that utilizes externally generated ionizing radiation in certain cases to inactivate or eradicate (a) defined target(s) in the head or spine without the need to make an incision. The target is defined by high-resolution stereotactic imaging. To assure quality of patient care the procedure involves a multidisciplinary team consisting of a neurosurgeon, radiation oncologist, and medical physicist.

Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) typically is performed in a single session, using a rigidly attached stereotactic guiding device, other immobilization technology and/or stereotactic image-guidance system, but can be performed in a limited number of sessions, up to a maximum of five.

Technologies that are used to perform SRS include linear accelerators, particle beam accelerators, and multisource Cobalt 60 units. In order to enhance precision, various devices may incorporate robotics and real time imaging.

Coding for Radiosurgery

As of January 1, 2009, CPT Code 61793, which was formerly used to report SRS, has been deleted from AMA Current Procedural Terminology, Fourth Edition (CPT®)¹ Current Procedural Terminology

WASHINGTON OFFICE KATE GLORATON

725 Fifteenth Street, NW, Suite 500 Heartington, DC 20005 Phone 202-629-2072 Fill: 202-629/52fill Email: komcodime.urosurgery.org

¹ CPT codes, descriptions and other data are copyright 2008 American Medical Association. All rights reserved. CPT is a registered trademark of the American Medical Association (AMA)

(CPT) and replaced with new codes². The new codes are part of the 2009 CPT and beginning on January 1, 2009, the appropriate codes for reporting SRS are as follows:

CPT Code	Description
61796	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); 1 simple cranial lesion
61797	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); each additional cranial lesion, simple (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
61798	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); 1 complex cranial lesion
61799	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); each additional cranial lesion, complex (List separately in additional to code for primary procedure)
61800	Application of stereotactic headframe for stereotactic radiosurgery (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
63620	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); 1 spinal lesion
63621	Stereotactic radiosurgery (particle beam, gamma ray, or linear accelerator); each additional spinal lesion (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)

With the new coding structure, one can report the work involved with treating more than one lesion. The maximum number of cranial lesions that can be treated at any one time is five and the maximum number of spinal lesions that can be treated at any one time is three. The primary code (61796, 61798 or 63620) should be reported for the first lesion. The cranial add-on codes (61797 or 61799) are used for each additional lesion and the spinal add-on code (63621) is used for each additional lesion in the spine.

This entire new code structure has also been incorporated into the 2009 Medicare Physician Fee Schedule and each of these codes is designated as an "Active" code.

The above SRS codes should be reported only once per lesion treated, regardless of the number of treatment delivery sessions that are used to treat that lesion. Note, however, that the definition of SRS states that SRS is delivered in one to five sessions. If a lesion is treated in more than five sessions then that procedure is, by definition, <u>not</u> radiosurgery – it is radiation therapy – and thus cannot be reported using the SRS codes. In addition, the SRS codes should be reported only once per lesion treated, regardless of the number of treatment planning sessions that are required to plan for the treatment of that lesion.

AANS/CNS Statement on Coding and Reimbursement

for Stereotactic Radiosurgery

November 18, 2008 Page 2 of 3

² See Stereotactic Radiosurgery Appendix for the complete code description for the Stereotactic Radiosurgery (Cranial) and Stereotactic Radiosurgery (Spinal) codes as published in CPT 2009.

With the new code structure, the neurosurgeon only bills for SRS using the above codes. The neurosurgeon should not report any of the radiation oncology codes (77XXX codes) in addition to the radiosurgery codes. The neurosurgeon should also not report SRS using any other codes in addition to the above codes.

For example, the following codes are bundled into the radiosurgery codes and therefore <u>cannot</u> be reported with the SRS codes:

- 61720 Creation of lesion by stereotactic method, including burr hole(s) and localizing and recording techniques, single or multiple stages; globus pallidus or thalamus
- 61735 Creation of lesion by stereotactic method, including burr hole(s) and localizing and recording techniques, single or multiple stages; subcortical structure(s) other than globus pallidus or thalamus
- 61770 Stereotactic localization, including burr hole(s), with insertion of catheter(s) or probe(s) for placement of radiation source
- 61790 Creation of lesion by stereotactic method, percutaneous, by neurolytic agent (eg, alcohol, thermal, electrical, radiofrequency); gasserian ganglion
- 61795 Stereotactic computer-assisted volumetric (navigational) procedure, intracranial, extracranial, or spinal (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)

Summary

Neurosurgeons use SRS as a definitive or adjuvant modality for their patients, as deemed appropriate by the clinical needs of the individual patient. The procedure requires a collaborative effort, combining the neurosurgeon's expertise in neuroanatomy and physiology with the expertise in dose selection and radiation safety possessed by the radiation oncologist and radiation physicist. Beginning January 1, 2009, the neurosurgeon should report the procedure using the codes in the 2009 CPT book, as CPT Code 61793 has been deleted. All third party payers, including Medicare, Medicaid and private insurers should likewise reimburse neurosurgeons for SRS based on the new code structure.

AANS/CNS Statement on Coding and Reimbursement for Stereotactic Radiosurgery November 18, 2008 Page 3 of 3

J Neurosurg 106:1-5, 2007

Stereotactic radiosurgery—an organized neurosurgerysanctioned definition

GENE H. BARNETT, M.D.,¹ MARK E. LINSKEY, M.D.,² JOHN R. ADLER, M.D.,³ JEFFREY W. COZZENS, M.D.,⁴ WILLIAM A. FRIEDMAN, M.D.,⁵ M. PETER HEILBRUN, M.D.,⁴ L. DADE LUNSFORD, M.D.,⁷ MICHAEL SCHULDER, M.D.,⁴ AND ANDREW E. SLOAN, M.D.,⁹ THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS/CONGRESS OF NEUROLOGICAL SURGEONS WASHINGTON COMMITTEE STEREOTACTIC RADIOSURGERY TASK FORCE

¹Brain Tianor Institute and Department of Neurological Surgery, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio; ¹Department of Neurological Surgery, University of California Irvine Medical Center, Orange; ¹Department of Neurological Surgery, Stanford University Medical Center, Palo Alio; and ⁴Thuron, California; ⁴Department of Neurological Surgery, Evanston Northwestern Healthcare, Evanton, Blinois; ⁴Department of Neurosurgery, University of Florida, Gainesville; and ⁴Neuro-oncology Program, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, Florida; ⁴Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and ⁴Department of Neurological Surgery, New Jersey Medical School, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey, Newark, New Jersey

KEY WORDS • stereotactic radiosurgery • American Association of Neurological Surgeons • Congress of Neurological Surgeons

Change is the law of life. And those who look only to the past or present are certain to miss the future.

JOHN F. KENNEDY

Since its introduction five decades ago, stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) has evolved from an investigational concept into a mainstream neurosurgical procedure for the management of a wide variety of brain disorders. Contemporary neurosurgeons routinely use radiosurgery either as a definitive or adjuvant treatment modality in the fields of neurooncology and cerebrovascular and functional neurosurgery. Stereotactic radiosurgery offers the surgical neurooncologist a precise and established treatment that, in combination with fractionated radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and conventional surgery, offers additional management options for the treatment of patients with brain tumors.⁴⁵⁰ The role of SRS in the management of vascular malformations is also well established. Furthermore, this modality has had a significant impact on the treatment of patients with brain metastases.⁴⁵⁰⁵ in cases in which SRS is possible, these patients more commonly succumb to their uncontrolled extracranial disease than to their intracranial disease.

Recently there has been a spate of reports attempting to clarify or to (re)define the terms "stereotactic radiosurgery" and "stereotactic radiotherapy" (SRT).¹⁴⁶⁶ It has become increasingly clear that the evolution of radiosurgery and radiotherapeutic techniques demands a reevaluation of the definition of radiosurgery by organized neurosurgery. These factors led the American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS) and the Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS) to form the Stereotactic Radiosurgery Task Force under the auspices of the AANS/CNS Washington Com-

J. Neurosurg. / Volume 106 / January, 2007

mittee. Members of the Stereotactic Radiosurgery Task Force were directed to review, clarify, and recommend to their parent organizations a contemporary definition of SRS, which would take into account historical, eurent, and potential applications of SRS. The purpose of this paper is to express the position of the AANS as well as that of the CNS on the definition of SRS.

Historical Review

"Stereotactic radiosurgery" was defined by the Swedish neurosurgeon Lars Leksell in 1951.⁵⁷ At that time, Leksell sought to mimic destructive lesions in the brain produced by mechanically invasive stereotactic surgical procedures for movement and pain disorders by delivering a high dose of photon or proton energy to the intended target in a single session, while steep fall-off dose gradients protected the adjacent brain. Early efforts involving stereotactically applied ultrasound, orthovoltage x-ray, and accelerated particles such as protons proved inadequate to create these lesions deep in the brain or were otherwise too cumbersome. To overcome these shortcomings, Leksell, Liden, Larsson, and colleagues developed the Gamma Knife in 1967. This device focuses multiple beams of high-energy gamma rays to a common point directed by frame-based stereotactic guidance.^{52,87} Contemporaries such as Kjellberg, Winston, Lutz, Loeffler, Fabrikant, and others also developed systems using x-rays or particles to achieve the same ends.^{21,24,473,19}

For decades, stereotactic localization was limited to information derived from allases, plain radiographs, pneumoencephalograms, and angiograms.^{37,89,67,63} Throughout his life, Leksell remained active in advancing the state of the art

of SRS and was one of several visionaries who developed methods of exploiting the spatial information provided by computed tomography and, later, magnetic resonance (MR) imaging, thereby creating the field of image-guided stereotaxy.^a Although the radiosurgical treatment of intracranial malignancies became feasible, Leksell believed that SRS was best used for functional neurosurgery or to treat benign tumors and lesions such as arteriovenous malformations and not to treat malignant tumors.

Early neurosurgeons who performed radiosurgery found that collateral damage to adjacent structures occasionally occurred when treating benign disease; several strategies were devised to reduce complications.^{47,59} Stereotactic MR imaging was used to provide better visualization and definition of targets and anatomical structures at risk.²⁰ Radiation doses directed to the lesion's margin were gradually reduced while maintaining therapeutic efficacy.^{37,55} Computer-assisted planning systems aided the design of treatment plans that better conformed to the shape of the radiosurgery target.^{22,25} Rigid skull fixation, the "gold-standard" for stereotactic accuracy, was supplemented by relocatable frames that allowed radiosurgery to be performed in multiple sessions.^{31,31,32,32,34,31,32,4,40,67,12,31}

Stereotactic radiosurgery became established and accepted as an important neurosurgical technique in the 1980s and 1990s.^{58,0} Its value transcended the original indications posed by Leksell to include proven efficacy for the most common central nervous system malignancy -metastatic disease. South Neurosurgeons wished to extend the reach of this technology beyond the limits of cranial disease. The use of extracranial radiosurgery with the aid of a frame was first reported by Hamilton in 1996.^{41/21} Concurrently, conventional surgical stereotaxy was revolutionized by the neurosurgical development of frameless stereotactic tech-niques NACOTA The notion that radiosurgery could also be delivered without a stereotactic frame was brought to frui-tion by Adler and others.²¹⁵³⁸³⁰⁵ New linear accelerator (LINAC)-based radiosurgical instruments rely on imageguided stereotactic targeting and advanced beam delivery methods. In one system, radiosurgical delivery is performed by a lightweight LINAC that is robotically positioned,1536 and in another, by a LINAC whose output is modulated by computer-controlled multileaf collimators.20 Today, radiosurgery can and has been performed on virtually any part of the body, and the fewer fixation requirements facilitate the performance of the procedure in multiple sessions.1-11

Recently developed alternative forms of energy include high-intensity focused ultrasound.^{17,44,6} When delivered stereotactically to destroy or injure tissue, these other forms of energy could be interpreted by some as falling within the umbrella of SRS.

Role of the Neurosurgeon in SRS

These advances notwithstanding, SRS remains a "team" discipline in which the roles of the surgeon, radiation oncologist, and physicist are essential, regardless of the target organ or site of service. As in any surgical procedure involving the brain or spine, the neurological surgeon provides properative assessment of the patient and a review of pertinent imaging studies so that therapeutic alternatives can be presented to the patient and informed consent can be

G. H. Barnett et al.

obtained. After the procedure, the neurosurgeon provides continued reevaluation and follow-up review at clinically appropriate intervals in order to assess outcomes on a longterm basis. During the radiosurgical procedure itself, the neurosurgeon serves as the primary responsible healthcare provider. Separate tasks of a radiosurgical procedure, including the treatment setup, planning, and delivery that are performed by or directly supervised by the neurosurgeon, comprise the following: delivery of agents for appropriate conscious sedation; application of the stereotactic coordinate frame (when pertinent) based on lesion location; selection and creation of the appropriate imaging data set (for example, computed tomography scans, MR images, angiograms, or positron emission tomography images) necessary for radiosurgical planning; computer-assisted delineation of target volumes and adjacent critical anatomical structures; creation of the 3D volumetric radiosurgical effect assisted by computer planning; setup, confirmation, and delivery of radiation; provision of additional sedation as required; monitoring of the patient's vital signs during radiation delivery; removal of the stereotactic frame followed by bandaging or other wound care as needed; and standard postradiosurgery 90-day follow-up care. As the primary responsible healthcare provider, the neurosurgeon assumes responsibility for chart completion as required by the patient's inpatient or ambulatory status after radiosurgery.

Recent Publications on the Role of Radiosurgery Versus SRT

Because new technology now enables radiosurgery to be delivered in more than one session and because "radiation therapy" is sometimes administered with the aid of stereotactic localization, there have been several attempts in the neurosurgical literature during the past few years to define, redefine, or clarify the term SRS.^{1/8/4} At present there are "purists" who prefer the original definition of SRS offered by Lars Leksell some 50 years ago, while others subscribe to the concept of a procedure that has evolved with the emergence of new technology.

The Traditional Perspective

The principal argument made by authors espousing the traditional perspective is that the term radiosurgery must be restricted to a high dose of ionizing radiation delivered to a defined target in a single session.^{36,64} Stereotactic radiosurgery derives its safety by its high degree of conformality and high selectivity (shown by the steep dose falloff in the adjacent normal tissue), such that dose homogeneity within the target area is irrelevant. On the other hand, these authors contend that the delivery of fractionated radiation delivered in multiple sessions by daily application of a non-skeletonaffixed guiding device (SRT) is usually less conformal and precise than conventional frame-based SRS. This presumably makes dose homogeneity desirable. This group also maintains that the rationale for SRT is primarily an attempt to reduce the risks of radiation damage to the surrounding normal tissue. Finally, they state that the term "(hypo-)fractionated stereotactic radiosurgery" is an oxymoron.

Alternative Perspectives

All will agree that a high dose of ionizing radiation deliv-

J. Neurosurg. / Volume 106 / January, 2007

Definition of stereotactic radiosurgery

ered to a stereotactically defined target in a single session is (a form of) SRS. Contemporary controversies focus on two areas: can "radiosurgery" be delivered in more than one session, and, if so, where does SRS delivered in multiple sessions end and SRT begin?

The historical review presented earlier demonstrates the evolutionary process of thought and practice in SRS throughout the past five decades. We believe that a reasonable person will recognize that this evolution includes radiosurgery delivered in more than one session. In his original description of SRS in 1951, Lars Leksell did not specifically state that the procedure needed be performed in a single session. In 1983, Leksell described SRS as "a technique for the non-invasive destruction of intracranial tissues or lesions

[in which] the open stereotactic method provides the basis. ""---again without explicitly restricting its use to a single session. Statements limiting SRS to a single session arose years later, in describing the state of practice at that time 67,000 Today, the American Medical Association recognizes that SRS may be undertaken in one or more sessions according to Current Procedural Terminology,3 as does the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

lonizing radiation has been used for longer than a century in medical therapy. Much has been made of the differ-ential radiobiology of SRS and fractionated radiotherapythe "Four Rs" of reoxygenation, reassortment, repopulation, and repair an to distinguish SRS from SRT. In truth, little is known about the true radiobiology of radiosurgery and these arguments are theoretical at best.453

What is known is the intent of the treatment. Radiosurgery aims to injure or destroy tissue at the target and preserve adjacent critical tissue, primarily due to steep dose gradients. Homogeneity within the lesion is generally not considered important and can be a disadvantage for achieving tumor shrinkage when treating lesions that do not contain normal tissue or for treating internal tumor areas of necrosis or hypoxemia. Tumors that may be resistant to fractionated radiotherapy may respond well to radiosurgery. Multiple sessions may be used to further reduce injury to adjacent normal tissue while maintaining the efficacy of radiosurgery. In fractionated radiotherapy abnormal tissue is differentiated from normal tissue within the target site by the differential sensitivity of these tissues to fractionated ionizing radiation.²¹ Dose homogeneity is desirable when the treatment volume contains sensitive normal tissue (either in the tumor or closely adjacent). Deleterious effects outside the treatment area may be further reduced by enhancing treatment conformality and by increasing the dose gradient. Either technique may be directed stereotactically (SRS and SRT)

Few would disagree that the precise stereotactic delivery of a high dose of radiation for the purpose of tissue inactivation or destruction in a single session is within the scope of SRS, and that the precise stereotactic delivery of radiation in 30 sessions is not SRS but is better described as SRT. Conversely, such a single-session delivery should fall outside the scope of SRT. Between these extremes, however, are cases of potential overlap between the techniques. We believe that these are best differentiated by the intended mechanism of action and that data in the literature, federal policy, and contemporary practice indicate that the upper limit of sessions in which SRS may be delivered is five.14 After considerable debate and discussions, on June 29,

J. Neurosurg. / Volume 106 / January, 2007

2005, the members of the AANS/CNS Stereotactic Radiosurgery Task Force (Appendix A) met in Chicago and arrived at a contemporary definition of SRS, which has subsequently been approved by both parent organiza-tions. Thereafter, on March 20, 2006, representatives of the AANS/CNS met with the corresponding body of the Amercan Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (AS-TRO; Appendix B) and refined this definition of radiosurgery, subsequently sanctioned by the AANS, CNS, and ASTRO:

Stereotactic Radiosurgery is a distinct discipline that utilizes externally generated ionizing radiation in certain cases to inacti-vate or eradicate (a) defined target(s) in the head or spine without the need to make an incision. The target is defined by highresolution stereotactic imaging. To assure quality of patient care the procedure involves a multidisciplinary team consisting of a neurosurgeon, radiation oncologist, and medical physicist

Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) typically is performed in a single session, using a rigidly attached stereotactic guiding device, other immobilization technology and/or a stereotactic image-guidance system, but can be performed in a limited number of sessions, up to a maximum of five

Technologies that are used to perform SRS include linear accelerators, particle beam accelerators and multisource Cobalt 60 units. In order to enhance precision, various devices may incorporate robotics and real time imaging,

Appendix A

Members of the AANS/CNS Washington Committee Stereotactic Radiosurgery Task Force

Gene H. Barnett, M.D., Chair Mark E. Linskey, M.D., Vice-Chair John R. Adler, M.D. Jeffrey W. Cozzens, M.D. William A. Friedman, M.D. M. Peter Heilbrun, M.D. L. Dade Lansford, M.D. Michael Schulder, M.D. Andrew E. Sknn, M.D.

Appendix B

Representatives at the March 20, 2006 Meeting of the AANS/CNS and the ASTRO

AANS/CNS

- Construction of the second sec
- Committee Greg Przybylski, M.D., Chair AANS/CNS Coding and Reimburse-ment Committee; Member, AANS Relative Value Update Com-
- mittee Jeff Cozzens, M.D., Member, AANS/CNS Coding and Reimburse-ment Committee: Advisor, AANS Current Procedural Terminology
- Troy Tippett, M.D., Chair, AANS/CNS Washington Committee; Member, AANS Board of Directors Cathy Hill, Senior Manager for Regulatory Affairs, AANS/CNS Katie Orrico, Director, AANS/CNS Washington Office

STRO

- ASTRO K. Kian Ang, M.D., Ph.D., President, ASTRO Michael Steinberg, M.D., Member, ASTRO Board of Directors; Chair, Health Policy Council; Advisor, Current Procedural Terminelogy
- Louis Potters, M.D., Member, ASTRO Board of Directors: Vice-

G. H. Barnett et al.

Chair, Health Policy Council; Member, Ambulatory Payment Classification Panel

- Casserierum Patter Innothy Williams, M.D., Co-Chair, Health Policy Committee David Beyer, M.D., Co-Chair, Health Policy Committee; Advisor, Current Procedural Terminology Najeeb Molideen, M.D., Chair, Code Utilization, Application, De-velopment and Valuation Committee; Representative, Relative Watter Undata Committee
- Value Update Committee Joel Cherlow, M.D., Chair, Regulatory Committee
- Trisha Crishock, Director of Health Policy, ASTRO Debra Lansey, Assistant Director of Health Policy, ASTRO

References

- 1. Adler JR Jr, Colombo F, Heilbrun MP, Winston K: Toward an expanded view of radiosurgery. Neurosurgery 55:1374-1376, 2004
- 2. Adler JR Jr, Murphy MJ, Chang SD, Hancock SL: Image-guided robotic radiosurgery. Neurosurgery 44:1299–1306, 1999
 3. American Medical Association: Current Procedural Terminol-
- ogy, CPT 2006, Professional Edition. Chicago: AMA Press, 2005, p 250
- 4. Andrews DW, Scott CB, Spenduto PW, Flanders AE, Gaspar LE, Schell MC, et al: Whole brain radiation therapy with or without stereotactic radiosurgery boost for patients with one to three brain metastases phase III results of the RTOG 9508 randomised trial. Lancet 363:1665-1672, 2004
- 5. Andrews DW, Suarez O, Goldman HW, Downes MB, Bednarz G, Com BW, et al: Stereotactic radiosargery and fractionated stereotactic indiotherapy for the treatment of acoustic schwarmomas, comparative observations of 125 patients treated at one institution. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 50:1265-1278, 2001
- Anonymous: Consensus statement on stereotactic radiosurgery: quality improvement. Neurosurgery 34:193–195, 1994
- 7. Anonymous: Consensus statement on stereotactic radiosurgery quality improvement. The American Society for Therapeatic Ra-diology and Oncology, Task Force on Stereotactic Radiosurgery and the American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Task Force on Stereotactic Radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 28:527-530, 1994
- 8. Barnett GH, Konnos DW, Steiner CP, Weisenberger J: Intraop erative localization using an armless, frameless stereotactic wand. Technical note. J Neurosurg 78:510-514, 1993
- Beitler JJ, Makara D, Silverman P, Lederman G: Definitive, high-dose-per-fraction, conformal, stereotactic external radiation for renal cell carcinoma. Unusual manifestation of malignancy. Am J Clin Oncol 27:546-648, 2004 10. Benzil DL, Sabooi M, Mogilner AY, Rocchio R, Moorthy CR:
- Safety and efficacy of stereotactic radiosurgery for tumors of the spine. J Neurosurg 101 (3 Suppl):413–418, 2004
 Blomgren H, Lax I, Naslund I, Svanstrom R. Stereotactic high
- dose fraction radiation therapy of extracranial tumors using an ac celerator. Clinical experience of the first thirty-one patients. Acta Oncol 34:861–870, 1995
- 12. Breen P, Flickinger JC, Kondziołka D, Martinez AJ: Radiotherapy for nonfunctional pituitary adenoma: analysis of long-term tumor control. J Neurosurg 89:933–938, 1998
- Carol M, Grant WH III, Pavord D, Eddy P, Targovnik HS, Butler B, et al: Initial clinical experience with the Peacock intensity mod-ulation of a 3-d conformal radiation therapy system. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 66:30-34, 1996
- 14. Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services: CMS Manual System: Publication #100-20. One-Time Notification. Transmit tal 32. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services, 2003
- 15. Chang SD, Main W, Martin DP, Gibbs IC, Heilbrun MP: An analysis of the accuracy of the CyberKnife: a robotic frameless ste-reotactic radiosurgical system. Neurosurgery 52:140-147, 2003
- 16. Clark BG, Souhani L, Pla C, Al-Amro AS, Bahary JP, Villemure JG, et al: The integral biologically effective dose to predict brain

stem toxicity of hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 40:667-675, 1998 Clement GT: Perspectives in clinical uses of high-intensity fo-

- 17
- Cleanesh O'T Perspectives in China uses of high-intensity for-cused ultrasound. Ultrasonics 42:1087–1093, 2004
 De Salles AAF, Pedroso AG, Medin P, Agazaryan N, Solberg T, Cabatan-Awang C, et al. Spinal lesions treated with Novalis-shiped beam intensity-modulated radiosurgery and stereotactic radiotherapy. J Neurosurg 101 (3 Supple:435–440, 2004
 Defames M, Daly N, Bonnet J, Sabasler J, Trémonlet M: Le article advenue to Letterer undirection & Directification reformable
- stéréo-adapteur de Laitinen: application à l'irradiation cérébrale fractionnée en conditions stéréotaxiques. Neurochirurgie 36: 167-175, 1990
- 20. Dewey WC, Bedford JA: Radiobiologic principles, in Leibel SA, Phillips TL (eds): Textbook of Radiation Oncology, ed 2. Philadelphia: Saunders, 2004, pp 31–43
- 21. Fabrikant JI, Lyman JT, Hosobuchi Y: Stereotactic heavyion Bragg peak radiosurgery for intra-cranial vascular disorders method for treatment of deep arteriovenous malformations. Br J Radiol 57:479-490, 1984
- Firlik AD, Levy EI, Kondziolka D, Yonas H: Staged volume ra-diosurgery followed by microsurgical resection: a novel treatment for giant cerebral arteriovenous malformations: technical case re-port. Neurosurgery 43:1223–1227, 1998 Plickinger JC, Kondziołka D, Niranjan A, Lunsford LD: Results
- of accustic neuroma radiosurgery: an analysis of 5 years' experience using current methods. J Neurosurg 94:1–6, 2001
 24. Flickinger JC, Kondziolka D, Pollock BE, Lansford LD: Evolu-
- tion of technique for vestibular schwannoma radiosurgery and effect on outcome. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 36:275-280, 1996
- 25. Friedman WA, Bova FJ: The University of Florida radiosurgery system. Surg Neurol 32:334-342, 1989 Gerszten PC, Burton SA, Welch WC, Brufsky AM, Lembersky
- 26. BC, Ozhasoglu C, et al: Single fraction radiosurgery for the treat-ment of breast metastases. Cancer 104:2244–2254, 2005 Genszien PC, Germanwala A, Burton SA, Welch WC, Ozhasoglu
- 27. C, Vogel WJ: Combination kyphoplasty and spinal radiosurgery: a new treatment paradigm for pathologic fractures. J Neurosurg Spine 3:296–301, 2005
- Gerszten PC, Ozhasoglu C, Burton SA, Kalnicki S, Welch WC: Fessibility of frameless single-fraction stereotactic radiosurgery for spinal lesions. Neurosurg Focus 13(4):E2, 2002 Gerszten PC, Ozhasoglu C, Burton SA, Vogel W, Atkins B, Kal-
- nicki S, et al: Evaluation of CyberKnife frameless real-time im-age-guided stereotactic radiosurgery for spinal lesions. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 81:84-89, 2003
- Gerszten PC, Ozhasoglu C, Burton SA, Vogel WJ, Atkins BA, Kalnicki S, et al: CyberKnife frameless single-fraction stereotactic radiosurgery for benign tumors of the spine. Neurosurg Focus 14(5):E16, 2003
- 31. Gerszten PC, Ozhasoglu C, Burton SA, Vogel WJ, Atkins BA, Kalnicki S, et al: CyberKnife frameless stereotactic radiosurgery for spinal lesions: clinical experience in 125 cases. Neurosurgery 55:89–99, 2004
- 32. Gerszten PC, Ozhasoglu C, Burton SA, Welch WC, Vogel WJ, Atkins BA, et al. CyberKrife frameless single-fraction stereo-tactic radiosurgery for tumors of the sacrum. Neurosurg Focus 15(2):E7, 2003
- Gerszten PC, Welch WC, Current surgical management of meta-static spinal disease. Oncology 14:1013–1030, 2000 Gerszten PC, Welch WC: CyberKnife indiosurgery for metastatic 33.
- Gersteller PC, Welch WC, CyberKnife Endosurgery for heliatolic spine tumors. Neurosurg Clin N Am 15:491–501, 2004
 Gerszen PC, Welch WC, CyberKnife radiosurgery for spine, in Heilbrun MP (ed): CyberKnife Radiosurgery: A Practical Guide. Sunnyvale, CA: The CyberKnife Society Press, 2003, pp 29:495 20 - 30
- 36. Gerszten PC, Welch WC: CyberKnife radiosurgery for spine, in Lunsford LD, Niranjan A: Techniques in Neurosurgery-Radio surgery. Philadelphia: Williams & Wilkins, 2003, pp 232–241

J. Neurosurg, / Volume 106 / January, 2007

Definition of stereotactic radiosurgery

- Gildenberg PL: The birth of stereotactic surgery: a personal retro-spective. Neurosurgery 54:199–208, 2004
- 38. Gildenberg PL: Stereotactic versus stereotaxic. Neurosurgery 32: 965–966, 1993 39. Gell SS, Thomas DGT, Warrington AP, Brada M: Relocatable
- frame for stereotactic external beam radiotherapy. Int J Radiat
- Oncol Biol Phys 20:599-603, 1991 40. Ganven P, Blorigren H, Lax I: Radiosurgery for recurring liv-er metastases after hepatectomy. Hepatogastroenterology 50: 1201-1204, 2003
- 41. Hamilton AJ, Lulu BA, Fosmire H, Gossett L: LINAC-based spinal stereotactic radiosurgery. Storeotact Funct Neurosurg 66: 9.1996 42. Horsley V, Clarke RH: The structure and functions of the cerebel-
- um examined by a new method. Brain 31:45-124, 1908
- Houdek PV, Fayos JV, Van Buren JM, Ginsberg MS: Stereotaxic radiotherapy technique for small intracranial lesions. Med Phys 12:469–472, 1985
- Jääskeläinen J: Non-invasive transcranial high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFUS) under MRI thermometry and goidance in the treatment of brain lesions. Acta Neurochir Suppl 88:57-60, 2003
- 45. Kennedy JE, ter Haar GR, Cranston D: High intensity focused alrasound: surgery of the future? Br J Radiol 76:590-599, 2003
- King CR, Lehmann J, Adler JR, Hai J: CyberKnife radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: rationale and technical feasibility. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2:25-30, 2003
- Kjellberg RN: Stereotactic Bragg peak proton beam radiosurgery for cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Ann Clin Res 18 (47) Supply:17-19, 1986
- 48. Kondziołka D, Lunsford LD, Loeffler JS, Friedman WA: Radio-Kondzioka D, Luiston LD, Evenier JS, Priedman WA, Kako-surgery and radiotherapy: observations and clarifications. J Neu-rosurg 101:585–589, 2004
 Kondziolka D, Luasford LD, Witt TC, Flickinger JC. The future
- of radiosurgery: radiobiology, technology, and applications. Surg Neurol 54:406-414, 2000 50, Kondziołka D, Nathoo N, Flickinger JC, Niranjan A, Maitz AH,
- Lunsford LD: Long-term results after radiosurgery for benign inracranial numors. Neurosurgery 53:815-822, 2003
- Kondziołka D, Patel A, Lunsford LD, Kassam A, Flickinger JC. Stereotactic radiosargery plas whole brain radiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for patients with multiple brain metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 45:427–434, 1999 52. Koong AC, Le QT, Ho A, Fong B, Fisher G, Cho C, et al: Phase
- l study of stereotactic radiostrgery in patients with locally ad-vanced pancreatic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 58: 1017-1021, 2004
- 53. Larson D, Bova F, Eisert D, Kline R, Loeffler J, Lutz W, et al: Current radiosurgery practice: results of an ASTRO survey. Task Force on Stereotactic Radiosurgery, American Society for Ther-apeutic Radiology and Oncology. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 28:523–526, 1994
- 54. Larson DA, Flickinger JC, Loeffler JS: The radiobiology of radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 25:557-561, 1993
- Leksell L: Cerebral radiosurgery I. Gammathalamotomy in two cases of intractable pain. Acta Chir Scand 134:585–595, 1968
- Leksell L: A stereotactic apparatus for intracerebral surgery. Acta Chir Scand 99:229–233, 1949 57. Leksell L: The stereotactic method and radiosurgery of the brain.
- Acta Chir Scand 102:3316-3319, 1951 58. Leksell I.: Stereotactic radiosurgery. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychi-
- atry 46:797-803, 1983
- Linskey ME: Stereotactic radiosurgery versus stereotactic radio-thernpy for patients with vestibular schwannomas: a Leksell Gamma Knife Society 2000 debate. J Neurosurg 93 (3 Suppl):90-95, 2000

- Lurisford LD: Lars Leksell. Notes at the side of a raconteur. Ste-reotact Funct Neurosurg 67:153–168, 1996/1997
 Lurisford LD, Flickinger JC, Lindner G, Maitz A: Stereotactic
- radiosurgery of the brain using the first United States 201 cobalt-60 source gamma knife. Neurosurgery 24:151-159, 1989
- Maciunas RJ, Galloway RL Jr, Hizpatrick JM, Mandava VR, Edwards CA, Allen GS: A universal system for interactive im-age-directed neurosurgery. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 58: 108-113, 1992
- Pend G, Unger F, Papaefthymiou G, Eastacchio S: Staged radio-surgical treatment of large benign lesions. J Neurosourg 93 (3) Suppl):107-112,2000
- Phan CJ, Chang SD, Gibbs IC, Jones P, Heilbrun MP, Adler JR Jr: Preliminary visual field preservation after staged CyberKnife radiosurgery for perioptic lesions. Neurosurgery 54:799-812, 2004
- 65. Pollock BE, Kline RW, Stafford SL, Foote RL, Schomberg PJ: The rationale and technique of staged-volume arteriovenous malformation radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 48: 817-824, 2000
- Pollock BE, Lunsford LD: A call to define stereotactic radiosur-gery. Neurosurgery 55:1371–1373, 2004
- 67. Roberts DW, Strohbelm JW, Hatch JF, Murray W, Kettenberger H: A frameless stereotaxic integration of computerized tomo-graphic imaging and the operating microscope. J Neurosurg 65: 545–549, 1986
 Rock JP, Ryi S, Yin FF, Schreiber F, Abdulhak M: The evolving
- role of stereoractic radiosurgery and stereoractic radiation therapy for patients with spine numors. J Neurooncol 69:319–334, 2004
 Ryken TC, Eichholz KM, Gerszten PC, Welch WC, Gokaslan ZL,
- Result DK: Evidence-based review of the surgical management of vertebral column inetastatic disease. Neurosurg Focus 15(5): E11.2003
- Schwade JG, Houdek PV, Landy HJ, Bujnoski JL, Lewin AA, Abitol AA, et al: Small-field skereotactic external-beam radiation therapy of intracranial lesions: fractionated treatment with a fixed-
- halo intrnebilization device. Radiology 176:563–565, 1990 71. Spiegel EA, Wycis HT, Marks M, Lee AS: Saereotaxic apparatus for operations on the human brain. Science 106:349–350, 1947
- Takacs I, Hamilton AJ: Extracranial stereotactic radiosurgery: ap-plications for the spine and beyond. Neurosurg Clin N Am 10: 257-270, 1999
- Toomson ES, Gill SS, Doughty D: Stereotactic multiple are radio-therapy. Br J Radiol 63:745–751, 1990
- Watanabe E, Watanabe T, Manaka S, Mayanagi Y, Takakora K: Three-dimensional digitizer (neuronavigator): new equipment for computed tomography-guided stereotaxic surgery. Surg Neurol
- Composed iomography-guided stereoloxic sargery. Surg Neuron 27:543–547, 1987
 Welch WC, Gerszten PC: Accuray CyberKnife image-guided radiosurgical system Expert Rev Med Devices 21:141–147, 2005
 Whyte RI, Crownover R, Murphy MJ, Martin DP, Rice TW, DeCamp MM *in*, et al: Stereosactic radiosurgery for lung immoss rectinement neuron of colones. I. Mar. Mur. Themes. Surg. 25:44 preliminary report of a phase I trial. Ann Thorae Surg 75: 1097-1101, 2003
- Williams JA: Fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for acoustic neuromas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 54:500–504, 2002
 Williams JA: Fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for acoustic
- neuromas: preservation of function versus size. J Clin Neurosci 10:48-52, 2003
- 79. Winston KR, Lutz W: Linear accelerator as a neurosurgical tool for stereotactic radiosurgery. Neurosurgery 22:454-464, 1988

Manuscript received January 23, 2006. Address reprint requests to: Gene H. Barnett, M.D., Brain Tumor Institute, Taussig Cancer Center, R20, 9500 Euclid Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio 44195. email: barnett@neus.ccf.org.

J. Neurosurg. / Volume 106 / January, 2007

American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO)



September 28, 2012

Christine Valkyrie Masters Program Specialist Health Technology Assessment Washington State Health Care Authority P.O. Box 42712 Olympia, WA 98504-2712

BY ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION to shtap: a hea.wa.gov

Dear Ms. Masters:

The American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO), the largest radiation oncology society in the world representing more than 10,000 members who specialize in treating patients with radiation therapies, appreciates the opportunity to comment on the Washington State Health Care Authority Health Technology Assessment Program Draft Evidence Report on stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) and stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), published on August 29, 2012.

The draft evidence report from the Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) Center for Evidence-based Policy compares SRS and SBRT with conventional radiation therapy in the areas of efficacy, safety and cost effectiveness for multiple cancer types. The report concludes that the strength of the evidence for SRS and SBRT is very low or low for most of the findings according to a method of evaluation that the OHSU group developed as a modification of the British systems used by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) and the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). ASTRO believes there is ample evidence of efficacy and safety for SRS and SBRT, and our comments will be primarily focused on the shortcomings of this evaluation based on the NICE and SIGN methodologies. We are very concerned that the OHSU group's reports might lead to a limitation of access to SRS and SBRT for certain underserved populations of patients in the state of Washington, and we wish to avoid disparities in cancer care for socioeconomically disadvantaged groups.

First of all, it should be appreciated that for many of the most important indications for which SRS and SBRT have emerged as a standard of care, they were developed to meet otherwise unmet medical needs. For example, regarding the case of medically inoperable early stage nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), if left untreated the disease kills more than half of afflicted patients [1]. Data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) registry indicate that with the use of conventional radiotherapy for stage I NSCLC the incremental survival gain above observation is a meager 7 months, for a median survival of only 21 months [2]. Against the background of these entirely unsatisfactory results, when carefully executed multi-institutional cooperative group studies involving SBRT in the management of early stage medically inoperable NSCLC were completed and revealed a median overall survival exceeding

AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR RADIATION DNCOLOGY 8260 WILLOW GARS CORPORATE DRIVE + SUTE 500 + FAIRSAX, VA.22031 + 800-962,7876 + 703,502,1550 + FAX: 703,502,7852 www.attro.org + www.rtamover.org

3 years [3,4], it is not surprising that patient advocates objected to randomized studies comparing SBRT with a conventional radiotherapy technique, effectively eliminating the possibility of a phase III study of that type in the US given the overwhelming body of evidence favoring the superiority of SBRT in that setting.

Additional compelling evidence supporting the US observations is available from the published reports of the Dutch experience of SBRT for early stage medically inoperable NSCLC. An analysis of 4605 patients followed in the Netherlands Cancer Registry revealed a significant improvement in overall survival for patients with stage I NSCLC treated with radiotherapy since the implementation of SBRT methods for treating this disease [5, 6]. In view of these and the multitude of other supporting published reports documenting the safety and efficacy of SBRT in this setting, NICE has now included SBRT within its recommended treatments for patients with medically inoperable early stage NSCLC [7].

It is likewise worth noting that cranial SRS was similarly developed as a means of addressing unmet medical needs. Specifically, the individual universally credited as the inventor of the technique; Lars Leksell, initially focused on the use of SRS as a means of treating anatomic irregularities such as arteriovenous malformations and a variety of functional disorders of the central nervous system, and only a minority of his initial patients in the late 1960s through early 1980s were treated for neoplastic disease [8]. Once the safety and efficacy of administering SRS had been established as an effective non-surgical alternative in a wide range of neurosurgical applications, the technique began to proliferate with emphasis on the use of SRS for CNS neoplasms in particular. Decades of accumulated experience have led the oncology community to view the use of SRS and the use of open surgical resection as equivalent approaches for the treatment of brain metastases. For example, in the randomized EORTC study comparing observation versus adjuvant whole brain radiotherapy following local treatment for limited cranial metastases, either SRS or open surgery could be employed as the initial treatment modality [9].

In other words, the comparator modality for SRS is not conventional radiotherapy but, instead, open surgical resection. It is unrealistic to think that a randomized clinical trial would ever be accomplished in the comparison of two modalities of such widely disparate nature. To our knowledge, the only study of this type ever reported is the noble, ambitious but ultimately futile efforts of Roos and colleagues [10], who were obliged to close their trial long before reaching the intended accrual as a result of the difficulty in identifying patients willing to undergo this type of randomization. Indeed, in their discussion the authors articulated the essential insurmountable obstacle elegantly: "The high rate of patient refusals (18/40 - 45% of those deemed eligible) reflects the strong preferences of some patients to avoid an invasive procedure, some want the lesion removed and others want neither surgery nor radiosurgery."

For extracranial indications other than medically inoperable NSCLC, SBRT is likewise not appropriately compared with conventional radiotherapy but, instead, would be more appropriately compared with surgical resection given that the reported local control outcomes are generally very similar to surgery and so greatly exceed those of conventional radiotherapy. Thus, just as the prospect of randomizing patients between open brain surgery and non-invasive cranial

SRS has proven not to be feasible, a randomization between SBRT and surgical resection of a liver, lung, or spine metastasis is unrealistic.

There have been a few notable and instructive examples of attempted randomizations between surgery and conventional radiotherapy for extracranial malignancies. A rare example of a successfully completed study of surgery versus radiotherapy is the Department of Veterans Affairs Laryngeal Cancer Study, which demonstrated higher larynx preservation and equal survival with non-surgical treatment [11]. That study, however, is the exception and not the rule, and it is a singular example of an instance where patients agreed to undergo randomization between interventions with such extremely different anatomic impact. While a completed intergroup study for lung cancer involved a randomization between full dose chemotherapy and radiotherapy versus a lower pre-operative dose of radiotherapy and chemotherapy prior to surgery [12], there is far less difference in net physiologic or psychological impact between high dose radiotherapy and lower dose radiotherapy plus partial lung resection than between surgery that removes a voicebox and radiotherapy that preserves oral speech. On the other hand, numerous other studies attempting randomization between surgery and radiotherapy for prostate or esophageal cancer have failed to accrue. It is unrealistic to expect patients to be willing to undergo a coin toss assignment between interventions of such vastly different risk profiles and functional impact.

Concerning some other aspect of the OHSU report, we disagree with the assessment by this group that nearly all of the studies reviewed, as well as the guidelines evaluated and listed in Appendix G, are of "poor" or at best "fair" quality. Appendix D includes the checklists used as quality assessment tools for the evidence review, and the overall assessment of quality is the reviewer's opinion of the answer to the question "How well was the study done to minimize bias?" or "How well was the study done to minimize the risk of bias or confounding, and to establish a causal relationship between exposure and effect?" for assessments of systematic reviews and cohort studies, respectively. It is ASTRO's opinion that this type of question is impossible to answer, since the reviewers cannot know the state of mind of authors of the studies reviewed, and we submit that any evaluation of published studies should be made based on the objective data reported and not a speculative judgment regarding the authors' state of mind.

Furthermore, as we discussed in our comment letter on the IMRT draft evidence report dated August 2, 2012, ASTRO believes there is established precedent for introducing significant technological developments based on self-evident superiority without the need for randomized clinical trials. Examples include:

- · CT scanning vs. plain radiographs;
- · Linear accelerators vs. cobalt machines;
- · Minimally invasive surgery vs. conventional surgery.

Of lesser importance in the OHSU draft report, but still worth noting, are instances where there is promotion of a specific vendor's commercially available treatment delivery system that possibly resulted from the OHSU group's fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of the technology described. In figure 1, the trade name Tomotherapy is isolated as a category of so-called newer image-guided conformal methods with an implication that it is somehow different from IMRT, when in fact that particular commercial delivery platform administers treatment that is properly

called either SBRT or IMRT, depending on the clinical indication and schedule of treatment. Likewise, Figure 2 separates out CyberKnife and GammaKnife from other treatment delivery platforms that administer stereotactic radiation, but these systems are simply examples of vendor-specific commercially available systems capable of either cranial SRS (GammaKnife) or both SRS and SBRT (CyberKnife).

In summary, ASTRO agrees that in general, prospective studies and randomized controlled trials are the most reliable way of assessing the efficacy and safety of new technologies. However, in the case of transformative technologies such as SRS or SBRT, it is often impossible to sustain the necessary equipoise to complete a randomized study if the clinical outcomes of the new treatment so far exceed prior forms of intervention. Additionally, in some cases the nature of the new technology is so fundamentally different from the most relevant comparator that it is unrealistic to expect patients to be willing to undergo randomization, as in the case when open surgical resection—with its attendant risks of immediate perioperative mortality—would have to be compared with the less invasive interventions of SRS and SBRT. Ultimately, then, not all technology questions will be addressed by phase III trials, and other high quality levels of evidence are employed to facilitate the evolution of practice standards.

We appreciate your consideration of our comments and look forward to the November 16, 2012 public meeting on this topic.

Sincerely,

Gregory Patton, MD Chair, Regulatory Committee

Mulal moun

Michael Dzeda, MD Vice-Chair, Regulatory Committee

cc: Thomas Eichler, MD Joel Cherlow, MD Najeeb Mohideen, MD Brian Kavanagh, MD

REFERENCES

- McGarry RC, Song G, des Rosiers P, and Timerman R. Observation-only management of early stage, medically inoperable lung cancer: poor outcome. Chest 121:1155-1158, 2002.
- Wisnivesky JP, Bonomi M, Henschke C, et al. Radiation therapy for the treatment of unresected stage I-II non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 128:1461-1467, 2005.
- Baumann P, Nyman J, Hoyer M, et al: Outcome in a prospective phase II trial of medically inoperable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27: 3290-6.
- Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. JAMA 303:1070-1076, 2010.
- Haasbeek CJA et al Early-stage lung cancer in elderly patients: a population-based study of changes in treatment patterns and survival in the Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2012. May 2 [epub ahead of print],doi:10.1093/annonc/mds081.
- Palma D, et al Impact of introducing stereotactic lung radiotherapy for elderly patients with stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: a population-based time-trend analysis. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:5153-5159.doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.0731.
- Baldwin DR, et al Guideline Development Group. Diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer: summary of updated NICE guidance. Br Med J 2011;342:d2110. doi:10.1136/bmj.d2110.
- 8. L Leksell. Stereotactic radiosurgery, J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1983 46: 797-803
- Kocher M, Soffietti R, Abacioglu U, et al. <u>Adjuvant whole-brain radiotherapy versus</u> observation after radiosurgery or surgical resection of one to three cerebral metastases; results of the EORTC 22952-26001 study. J Clin Oncol. 2011 Jan 10;29(2):134-41
- Roos DE, Smith JG, Stephens SW. Radiosurgery versus surgery, both with adjuvant whole brain radiotherapy, for solitary brain metastases: a randomised controlled trial. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2011 Nov;23(9):646-51
- The Department of Veterans Affairs Laryngeal Cancer Study Group. Induction chemotherapy plus radiation compared with surgery plus radiation in patients with advanced laryngeal cancer. N Engl J Med 1991;324:1685-1690
- Albain KS, Swann S, Rusch VW, et al. Radiotherapy plus chemotherapy with or without surgical resection for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009; 374: 379-386

CyberKnife® Coalition (CKC)

Board of Director Nember Centers

Ovorpitowo University Hospital Stanford Hospital and Chrick CyberKinte Carber of Miami The START Center for Cancer Care Cyberknite Cecters of San Dirac Community Regional Medical Conter MultiCare Regional Canter Center CyberXinde Centers of Tempa Bay Cyberkinite Center of South Floride, Stuart US Redicsurpery Nember Centers Advocate Christ Medical Center Baylor Healthcare System Carter for Advanced Rachidherapy and CyberKinite Radiotungery Cyberkiste Canter of Chicego CyberFinite Center of South Florida, Wellington Cuberkinde Center of Tevas JEL and Lomaina Nicewonder Cancer Center Okishonia OxberKnife Philadelphia Cyberkinile Reto Oyterkinite The CyberKnile Service of BroMern re at The Community Carloer Center Hailbeir Waqiesha Memoriai Hospital Constal CyberForde and Radiation Diroclogy Colorado Cyberkiniki Cybertinite of California, Vista Mitchell Cancer Institute Southwest Radiation Oncology University Hospitals Case Medical Center Frenklin Square Hospital Center

Corporate Members

Accuracy Incorporated Atliance Radiosurgery Architection



September 27, 2012

Health Technology Assessment Program (HTA) Washington State Health Care Authority PO Box 42712 Olympia, WA 98504-2712

Re: Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SRS/SBRT) Draft Evidence Report

The CyberKnife® Coalition (CKC) respectfully submits our response to the draft evidence report released by the Washington State Health Care Authority, Health Technology Assessment Program (HTA) entitled, "Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy." The CKC is a non-profit association of both hospital-based and freestanding centers that are dedicated to protecting patients' access to robotic stereotactic radiosurgery (R-SRS) and robotic stereotactic body radiotherapy (R-SBRT), performed utilizing CyberKnife technology.

In March 2012, the CKC submitted a response to HTA's request for public comments on Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SBRT). Our response included detailed information surrounding the significant clinical benefits of CyberKnife and the well documented published data that supports SRS/SBRT as a standard of care in the treatment of cancer patients in the United States and around the world.

At this time we would like to provide the HTA with additional information about clinical practice patterns including federal and private payer coverage policies and national guidelines that demonstrate the acceptance of SRS/SBRT. There are several federal and private payers that have deemed SRS/SBRT to be non-experimental and medically necessary for many of the indications that HTA reviewed. Several of the payer policies reviewed by HTA provide coverage for the treatment of benign cranial lesions such as neuromas, meningiomas and malignant brain lesions, while several policies include SBRT for lung, liver, kidney, pancreas and prostate tumors. In addition, Noridian Administrative Services (JH Medicare Contractor) has published a draft Local Coverage Determination (LCD) for SRS/SBRT, which provides coverage for primary and secondary cancers of the brain, spine, lung, liver, pancreas, kidney, and adrenal gland. Noridian bas also publicly stated it plans on revising this policy to include coverage of prostate cancer for patients enrolled in a clinical registry. The final LCD is expected this fail, which will be similar to the majority of other published Medicare policies for SRS/SBRT. A complete list of all indications covered by Noridian is provided in Appendix A

info@ckcoalition.org

We also submit for your consideration guideline information developed by the National Comprehensive Cancer. Center (NCCN), a not-for-profit alliance of 21 of the world's leading cancer centers. NCCN promotes the importance of continuous quality improvement and recognizes the significance of creating clinical practice guidelines. There are several NCCN guidelines (further details in appendix B) that have positive inclusion of SRS/SBRT as an initial treatment option, including:

- NCCN non-small cell lung cancer
- NCCN hepatocellular carcinoma
- NCCN central nervous system

in addition to the NCCN guidelines, there are 3 recent draft Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) comparative effectiveness review reports: stage I non-small cell lung cancer, unresectable primary hepatocellular carcinoma, and metastasis to the liver from unresectable colorectal cancer, which include SBRT as one of the primary treatment options for each of these 3 cancer indications (further details in Appendix C-E).^{3,2,3}

Finally, the 2011 California Technology Assessment Forum's (CTAF) report on SBRT for the treatment of early stage NCSLC supports SBRT as a treatment option for stage I inoperable NSCLC.⁴ The report notes the following:

"It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with peripheral lesions meets CTAF criteria for safety, effectiveness and improvement in outcomes."

We strongly support the current federal and private payer coverage policies that provide cancer patients with access to this clinically beneficial treatment option. We also strongly support the current NCCN, AHRQ, and CTAF guidelines and reports that demonstrate the clinically efficacy and safety of SRS and SBRT in the treatment of several cancer types. We urge the Washington State Health Care Authority to allow this same

³ AHRQ. Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for Unresectable Primary Hepatocellular Carcinoma. http://effectiveneaithcare.ahrg.gov/index.cfm/search-for-guides-reviews-and-

reports/?productid=1012&pageaction=displayproduct_Accessed September 25, 2012.

² ARHO, Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Hepatic Therapies for Metastases to the Liver from Unresectable Colorectal Cancer: Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness. <u>http://effectivenealthcare.ahrg.gov/index.cfm/searchfor-guides-reviews-and-reports/?pageaction=displayproduct&product&productid=949</u> Accessed September 25, 2012.

¹ AHRO. Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for the Treatment of Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung. Cancer and Endobronchial Obstruction due to Advanced Lung Tumors.

http://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/index.cfm/search-for-guides-reviews-and-

reports/?productid=965&pageaction=displayproduct Accessed September 25, 2012.

⁶ Walsh, J. CTAF. Stereotactic Body Therapy Radiation for the Treatment of Early Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. June 2011. <u>http://www.ctaf.org/assessments/stereotactic-body-radiation-therapy-treatment-early-stage-non-small-cell-lungcancer-0_Accessed September 25, 2012.</u>

access to care and not deviate from the current federal and private payer SRS/SBRT coverage policies and guidelines within the state of Washington.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments regarding SRS and SBRT coverage. Our member institutions, including those in Washington State, would welcome a meeting with you in person answer any further questions or concerns that you may have. In addition, please feel free to contact us at the numbers below if we can be of any assistance as your organization finalizes the report.

Sincerely,

Sindewenger

Linda F. Winger, MSc, FACHE President, CyberKnife Coalition Vice President, Washington Region Oncology Svcs. MedStar Health 3800 Reservoir Road, NW Washington, DC 20007-2197 202-412-3191 Linda F. Winger@medstar.net

00

John W. Rieke, MD, FACR Board of Directors, CyberKnife Coalition Medical Director, MultiCare Regional Cancer Center 1003 South 5th Street Tacoma, Washington 98405 253-403-4994 John Rieke@Multicare.org

Appendix A

90340		
147.0	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF SUPERIOR WALL OF NASOPHARYNX	
147.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF POSTERIOR WALL OF NASOPHARYNX	
147.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LATERAL WALL OF NASOPHARYNX	
147.3	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ANTERIOR WALL OF NASOPHARYNX	
147.8	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SPECIFIED SITES OF NASOPHARYNX	
147.9	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF NASOPHARYNX UNSPECIFIED SITE	
160.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF NASAL CAVITIES	
160.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF AUDITORY TUBE MIDDLE EAR AND MASTOID AIR CELLS	
160.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF MAXILLARY SINUS	
160.3	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ETHMOIDAL SINUS	
160.4	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF FRONTAL SINUS	
160.5	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SPHENOIDAL SINUS	
160.8	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER ACCESSORY SINUSES	
160.9	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF ACCESSORY SINUS UNSPECIFIED	
191.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF CEREBRUM EXCEPT LOBES AND VENTRICLES	
191.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF FRONTAL LOBE	
191.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TEMPORAL LOBE	
191.3	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF PARIETAL LOBE	
191.4	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OCCIPITAL LOBE	
191.5	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF VENTRICLES	
191,6	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF CEREBELLUM NOS	
191.7	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BRAIN STEM	
191.8	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER PARTS OF BRAIN	
191.9	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BRAIN UNSPECIFIED SITE	
192.0	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF CRANIAL NERVES	
192.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF CEREBRAL MENINGES	
194.3	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF PITUITARY GLAND AND CRANIOPHARYNGEAL DUCT	
194.4	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF PINEAL GLAND	
194.6	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF AORTIC BODY AND OTHER PARAGANGLIA	
198.3	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BRAIN AND SPINAL CORD	
198.4*	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER PARTS OF NERVOUS SYSTEM	
198.5*	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BONE AND BONE MARROW	
198.89*	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SPECIFIED SITES	
225.0	BENIGN NEOPLASM OF BRAIN	
225.1	BENIGN NEOPLASM OF CRANIAL NERVES	

Storeotactic Radiosurgery Services and Storeotactic Rody Radiation Therapy (for Cranial Lasions only) - (CPT 77373, 77572, 77572, 77482, 77482, 60178, 60251, 60388, and 603402

225.2

227.3

BENIGN NEOPLASM OF CEREBRAL MENINGES

BENIGN NEOPLASM OF PITUITARY GLAND AND CRANIOPHARYNGEAL DUCT

227.4	BENIGN NEOPLASM OF PINEAL GLAND
227.5	BENIGN NEOPLASM OF CAROTID BODY
227.6*	BENIGN NEOPLASM OF AORTIC BODY AND OTHER PARAGANGLIA
228.02	HEMANGIOMA OF INTRACRANIAL STRUCTURES
237.0	NEOPLASM OF UNCERTAIN BEHAVIOR OF PITUITARY GLAND AND CRANIOPHARYNGEAL DUCT
237.1	NEOPLASM OF UNCERTAIN BEHAVIOR OF PINEAL GLAND
237.3*	NEOPLASM OF UNCERTAIN BEHAVIOR OF PARAGANGLIA
237.5*	NEOPLASM OF UNCERTAIN BEHAVIOR OF BRAIN AND SPINAL CORD
237.6*	NEOPLASM OF UNCERTAIN BEHAVIOR OF MENINGES
239.6*	NEOPLASM OF UNSPECIFIED NATURE OF BRAIN
239.7*	NEOPLASM OF UNSPECIFIED NATURE OF ENDOCRINE GLANDS AND OTHER PARTS OF NERVOUS SYSTEM
332.0*	PARALYSIS AGITANS
33.1*	ESSENTIAL AND OTHER SPECIFIED FORMS OF TREMOR
45.11	GENERALIZED CONVULSIVE EPILEPSY WITH INTRACTABLE EPILEPSY
45.3	GRAND MAL STATUS EPILEPTIC
45.91	EPILEPSY UNSPECIFIED WITH INTRACTABLE EPILEPSY
50.1	TRIGEMINAL NEURALGIA
50.8	OTHER SPECIFIED TRIGEMINAL NERVE DISORDERS
50.9	TRIGEMINAL NERVE DISORDER UNSPECIFIED
51.0	BELL'S PALSY
51.1	GENICULATE GANGLIONITIS
51.8	OTHER FACIAL NERVE DISORDERS
51.9	FACIAL NERVE DISORDER UNSPECIFIED
52.0*	DISORDERS OF OLFACTORY (1ST) NERVE
52.1*	GLOSSOPHARYNGEAL NEURALGIA
52.2*	OTHER DISORDERS OF GLOSSOPHARYNGEAL (9TH) NERVE
52.3*	DISORDERS OF PNEUMOGASTRIC (10TH) NERVE
52.4*	DISORDERS OF ACCESSORY (11TH) NERVE
52.5*	DISORDERS OF HYPOGLOSSAL (12TH) NERVE
52.6*	MULTIPLE CRANIAL NERVE PALSIES
52.9*	UNSPECIFIED DISORDER OF CRANIAL NERVES
47.81*	CONGENITAL ANOMALIES OF CEREBROVASCULAR SYSTEM
90*	EFFECTS OF RADIATION UNSPECIFIED
ICD-9-CM	Codes 198.4, 198.5, 198.89, 227.6, 237.3, 237.5, 237.6, 239.6, 239.7, 352.0, 352.1, 352.2, 352.3, 352.4, 6, 352.9 and 747.81 are all limited to use for lesions occurring either <u>above the neck or in the spine.</u>
ICD-9-CM	Codes 333.1 and 332.0 codes are limited to the patient who cannot be controlled with medication, has mic disease or coagulopathy, and who is unwilling or unsulted for open surgery.

*ICD-9-CM Code 990 may only be used where prior radiation therapy to the site is the governing factor necessitating SRS in lieu of other radiotherapy. An ICD-9-CM code for the anatomic diagnosis must also be used.

Stereotactic Bo	dy Radiation Therapy (SBRT) Services (CPT 77878, 77435, GOD38, and GOD40
140.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF UPPER LIP VERMILION BORDER
140.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LOWER LIP VERMILION BORDER
140.3*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF UPPER LIP INNER ASPECT
140.4*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LOWER LIP INNER ASPECT
140.5*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LIP UNSPECIFIED INNER ASPECT
140.6*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF COMMISSURE OF LIP
140.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SITES OF LIP
140.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LIP UNSPECIFIED VERMILION BORDER
141.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BASE OF TONGUE
141.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF DORSAL SURFACE OF TONGUE
141.2*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TIP AND LATERAL BORDER OF TONGUE
141.3*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF VENTRAL SURFACE OF TONGUE
141.4*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ANTERIOR TWO-THIRDS OF TONGUE PART UNSPECIFIED
141.5*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF JUNCTIONAL ZONE OF TONGUE
141.6*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LINGUAL TONSIL
141.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SITES OF TONGUE
141.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TONGUE UNSPECIFIED
142.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF PAROTID GLAND
142.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SUBMANDIBULAR GLAND
142.2*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SUBLINGUAL GLAND
142.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER MAJOR SALIVARY GLANDS
142.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SALIVARY GLAND UNSPECIFIED
143.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF UPPER GUM
143.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LOWER GUM
143.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SITES OF GUM
143.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF GUM UNSPECIFIED
144.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ANTERIOR PORTION OF FLOOR OF MOUTH
144.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LATERAL PORTION OF FLOOR OF MOUTH
144.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SITES OF FLOOR OF MOUTH
144.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF FLOOR OF MOUTH PART UNSPECIFIED
145.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF CHEEK MUCOSA
145.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF VESTIBULE OF MOUTH
145.2*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF HARD PALATE
145.3*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF SOFT PALATE
145.4*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF UVULA
145.5*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF PALATE UNSPECIFIED
145.6*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF RETROMOLAR AREA

145.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SPECIFIED PARTS OF MOUTH
145.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF MOUTH UNSPECIFIED
146.0*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TONSIL
146.1*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TONSILLAR FOSSA
146.2*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TONSILLAR PILLARS (ANTERIOR) (POSTERIOR)
146.3*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF VALLECULA EPIGLOTTICA
146.4*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ANTERIOR ASPECT OF EPIGLOTTIS
146.5*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF JUNCTIONAL REGION OF OROPHARYNX
146.6*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LATERAL WALL OF OROPHARYNX
146.7*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF POSTERIOR WALL OF OROPHARYNX
146.8*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SPECIFIED SITES OF OROPHARYNX
146.9*	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OROPHARYNX UNSPECIFIED SITE
155.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LIVER PRIMARY
155.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF INTRAHEPATIC BILE DUCTS
155.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LIVER NOT SPECIFIED AS PRIMARY OR SECONDARY
157.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF HEAD OF PANCREAS
157.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF BODY OF PANCREAS
157.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF TAIL OF PANCREAS
157.3	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF PANCREATIC DUCT
157.4	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ISLETS OF LANGERHANS
157.8	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER SPECIFIED SITES OF PANCREAS
157.9	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF PANCREAS PART UNSPECIFIED
162.2	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF MAIN BRONCHUS
162.3	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF UPPER LOBE BRONCHUS OR LUNG
162.4	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF MIDDLE LOBE BRONCHUS OR LUNG
162.5	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LOWER LOBE BRONCHUS OR LUNG
162.8	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF OTHER PARTS OF BRONCHUS OR LUNG
162.9	MAUGNANT NEOPLASM OF BRONCHUS AND LUNG UNSPECIFIED
189.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF KIDNEY EXCEPT PELVIS
189.1	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF RENAL PELVIS
194.0	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ADRENAL GLAND
194.6	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF AORTIC BODY AND OTHER PARAGANGLIA
196.1	SECONDARY AND UNSPECIFIED MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF INTRATHORACIC LYMPH NODES
197.0	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LUNG
197.7	MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF LIVER SECONDARY
198.0	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF KIDNEY
198.7	SECONDARY MALIGNANT NEOPLASM OF ADRENAL GLAND
990*	EFFECTS OF RADIATION UNSPECIFIED

*ICD-9-CM Codes 140.0-146.9 and 990 due to recurrence after prior conventional fractionated RT.

ICD-9-CM Code 990 may only be used where prior radiation therapy to the site is the governing factor necessitating SBRT in lieu of other radiotherapy. An ICD-9-CM code for the anatomic diagnosis must also be used.

Diagnoves that Support IM edical Necessity All diagnoves lives in ICD-9-CM Codes that Support Medical Necessity above. ICD-9-Code whet DO NOT Support Medical Necessity All KD-9-CM codes <u>org</u> inced in this policy under KD-9-CM Codes that Support Medical Necessity above.

TCD-9 Codes that DO NOT Support Medical Necessity Asterisk Explanation

Diagnoses that DO NOT Support Medical Necessity All ED-9 CM codes agglisted in this policy under ED-9 CM Codes that Support Medical Necessity above.

Appendix B: NCCN Guidelines

Guideline indication	Key highlights					
Non-small cell lung	Early stage Lung Cancer (Stage I)					
	"SABR (traditionally known as SBRT) is recommended for patients who are medically inoperable and is also an appropriate option for many older patients (eg, ≥ age 75). SABR has achieved high primary tumor control rates and favorable overall survival in prospective studies, comparable to surgery and higher than #DCRT in non-randomized comparisons. An analysis of cost- effectiveness found SABR more cost-effective than 3DCRT and radiofrequency ablation, largely owing to its high efficacy."					
	"For patients with high survival risk (able to tolerate sublobar resection but not lobectomy), SABR and sublobar resection achieve comparable cancer-specific survival and primary tumor control in non-randomized comparisons. A prospective randomized cooperative group trial of sublobar resection vs. SABR has been initiated. (ACOSOG Z4099/RTOG 1021)." "For potentially operable patients who refuse surgical therapy despite a complete thoracic surgery consultation, SABR is recommended based on comparable outcomes in non-randomized retrospective comparisons,					
	especially in older patients.					
	Early stage/SABR					
	"For SABR, intensive regimens of BED ≥ 100 Gy are associated with significantly better local control and survival than less intensive regimens. In the United States, only regimens of ≤ 5 fractions meet the arbitrary billing code definition of SBRT but slightly more protracted regimens are appropriate as well." "SABR is most commonly used for tumors up to 5 cm in size, though selected larger isolated tumors can be treated safely if normal tissue constraints are respected."					
	Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy (SABR)					
	SABR (traditionally known as SBRT), uses short courses of very high dose RT that are precisely delivered to the target. Studies have shown that SABR is very useful for patients with inoperable stage I NSCLC, or those who refuse surgery. With conventional treatment, 3-year survival is only about 20-35% in these patients. There is a high rate of local failure in patients receiving conventional RT. However, local control is increased after SABR. In patients with stage I NSCLC, SABR provides a significantly longer 5-year survival than 3-D conformal RT. SABR yields median survival of 32 months and 3-year overall survival of about 43% in patients with stage I disease; patients with T1 tumors survive longer than those with T2 tumors (39 versus 25 months). Randomized clinical trials are currently comparing SABR to surgery. SABR can also be used for patients with limited lung metastases and for paliative therapy. Studies also suggest that SABR can be used for bone, liver, and brain metastases. A recent study reported that SABR increased survival in elderly patients (75 years or					

Hepatocellular carcinoma	Principles of locoregional therapy
	"There is growing evidence for the usefulness of radiotherapy in the management of HCC. All tumors irrespective of location may be amenable to SBRT or external-bean conformal radiation. SBRT is often used for 1-3 tumors with a cumulative diameter under 6 cm. SBRT could be considered for larger lesions, if there is at least 800 cc of uninvolved liver and liver radiation tolerance can be respected. There should be no extra-hepatic disease or it should be minimal and addressed in a comprehensive management plan. Most patients treated today were in the Child-Pugh A category. Radiotherapy can be considered as an alternative to the ablation/embolization techniques"
	External beam radiation therapy
	"The panel recommends that radiation therapy can be considered (category 2B) as an alternative to ablation/embolization techniques or when these therapies have failed in patients with unresectable disease characterized as extensive or otherwise no suitable for liver transplantation and those with local disease who are not operable due to performance status or comorbidity."

Central nervous	Brain Metastases – Stereotactic radiosurgery						
зузсти	"The advent of SRS offered a minimally invasive option as opposed to surgery. Patients undergoing SRS avoid the risk of surgery-related morbidity. Late side effects such as edema and radiation necrosis are uncommon. SRS is most successful for small, deep tumors. In a randomized Japanese study of 132 patients with 1 to 4 metastatic brain tumors smaller than 3 cm, addition of WBRT to SRS did not prolong median survival compared to SRS along (7.5 months vs. 8.0 months, respectively). However, 1-year brain recurrence rate was lowered in the WBRT plus SRS arm (47% vs. 76%; P < 0.001). This likely served to decrease the need for salvage therapy in this group (10/65) compared to patients receiving no upfront WBRT (29/67)."						
	"Retrospective comparative studies showed that SRS plus WBRT resulted in equivalent if not better survival compared with surgery and WBRT. SRS also conferred a significant improvement in local control, especially for patients with radiosensitive tumors or solitary brain lesions."						
	Metastatic Spinal Tumors						
	The advent of SRS allowed precise high-dose targeting in one or two fractions while minimizing exposure of surrounding cord. This is especially important in pre-irradiated patients. The largest prospective study involved a cohort of nearly 400 patients with 500 spinal metastases, 70% of whom had previous conventional irradiation. At a median follow-up of 21 months, radiosurgery resulted in long-term pain improvement and turnor control in 85% and 90% of cases, respectively. Other single-institution reports also suggest that SRS is safe and offers more durable response than conventional therapy."						
	"Patients experiencing intractable pain or rapid neurological decline during RT should consider surgery or SRS."						
	Overall						
	SRS included in the following areas as primary treatment:						
	 Adult intracranial ependymoma Meningiomas Limited (1-3) metastatic lesions Multiple (-3) metastatic lesions 						

APPENDIX C

AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for Unresectable Primary Hepatocellular Carcinoma.

Treatment strategy	Mechanism of cell death	Seting	Performent Dy	Specifi: Harm-
External lossin finan- dimensional contornal contornal contornal contornal (JES-CRT)	The type of relationships uses, consistent analysis of time property STT in CA1) and/or magnetic transmission making (MR of NB2), or SMT to chall delated, 30 representations of the haves another community or gass. This subspace consistent and the same the computer percentation may be the computer percentation of the haves another community of the percentation of the same them computer percentation of the subgest optically hardly the same of the same. When its intended	Sach Inselfnerf antis only a fee minister, atthough the oxide time usually taken lenger. Most Oxide rediction besttorefs are given 3 dans a week to several weeks. The patient's diagnosts advances the local duration of teathers?" ¹⁰	Radiator oncitoges, midical provision, dostrietini, radiation trengral, and radiation tierupp rome	Possible side affects of outprises adultion thereby rooteds assessment-the date groupsets. Takendo ventring, and takpue. These hypocady entries to postibustneters. Haddelan margin gase mare the side effects of chereatorisage version. Radiation induced heir disease to the major dose studing travelity."
Edansa-okan Intersity- motulated radiotherapy (IMST)	This approach to indicate any access the indicates on checking to any short the international of the angle of the start of the approx of which it is defined to be part of the start in the defined to be part of the start of the angle of the approximation of the approximation international start of the approximation approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the approximation of the a	Samo as 30-281, out MRT repares sights inger day buildent lines are additional partning and whith checks before the patient can teld the peatment."	Radiation oncorport, involcal physics: costine/sec calification therapist, and radiation therapy nurse	Save as for Social
Stonedactic body radiation therapy (SBRT)	This type of external beam radiation therapy densma a high dose of indiction with high targeting accuracy to an editocorrai target within the body in either a single dose or a small runneer of doses tractoris. ¹¹	SBIT bycaty consist of one to five reatment seasons over the course of 1 to 2 words."	Radiation oncocquist, medical- provisions, dosimetriat, radiation becapiet, and radiation becapie, razive	Same as above for 35-CBF and MART
Hypothactioniated proton beam formapy	This is a fige of extensi-beam sociation therapy limit delives high doesn of radializen is the turnor target while extructionerusly technical bar names of delivers exciting the names of anotoxis reacting normal manufact limits, extension from sensorm of anget does technics that set delivered in standard regimens. ²⁴	Proton local therapy is performed typically on an outpatient basis. For meah timer state, the awarage issues of treatment is calculy if to 3 weeks, with spring length of each treatment depending on the tamor hos and share. The deview of the proton beam basis any 1 minute.	Pachaton oncelogal, radiation physical, doameting, enrocolization specialist, radiation therapict, radiation therapict, radiation therapict,	Same as above for SD-CRT, WHIT and SBHT
Treatmont	Michanism of call dealth	Itemp	Performed By	Specific Harms
inkauming prachytherapy	This bype of nethodnessing cliness is addation observed within the boots (inners, addation, discourse of higher durans of addation, directly to a speed to use of histochartings can be administered as a permanent or temporary testment,	In personalist Latertytherapy, a advanced in the similar field of the similar parallel in the latera field of the similar shock the imposited of equilar relevals. In tensionary backwheetay wedenich may to observe a bonn not per selection a naive observed a single observed (HDR) in 750 b 20 minute in 250 b 250 kms. HDR renorthweetay where the teachered is required the values of the teacher is separated the search and bonn is to 50 advants that the teacher is back on a continuous often in 110 2 daws. Reado desired all practice in the search of the desired and bonn is personal of the search of the desire in the 2 daws. Reado desired is the desire in the 2 daws. Reado desired is the desire in the 2 daws. Reado	Radiation oncelopati, medical physicati, dopinebut, catalahin therapis, isolahin therapis, isolahin therapis, cases, a surgicon	Prochotemps holicity concess lever one effect hand does advected levers sociality. Potentia and reportence henderines and participation of the so- matine advected and other completions dependence the site of participation of the social social participation that are site of participation of the site of the social advected within social or weeks of the orbital participa- advected within social or weeks of the orbital participation of the site of the social participation of th

"The radioberapy pesented in the report is toused on focal treatment of the lesion or lesions and non-whole liver implication.

Appendix D

AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Therapies for the Treatment of Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and Endobronchial Obstruction due to Advanced Lung Tumors.

Analytic Framework

Figure ES1. Analytical framework for comparative effectiveness of local nonsurgical definitive therapies for adult patients (age 18 years or older) with documented (clinical or biopsy) stage I (T1N0M0 or T2N0M0) medically inoperable NSCLC or those with documented stage I NSCLC who are deemed operable but elect nonsurgical intervention



Figure ES2. Analytical framework for comparative effectiveness of local curative or palliative therapies for adult patients (age 18 years or older) with symptomatic inoperable airway obstruction due to NSCLC.



Appendix E

AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review. Local Hepatic Therapies for Metastases to the Liver from Unresectable Colorectal Cancer: Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness.

Table ES-2. Characteristics of studies included in this review by intervention.

Characteristic	RFA	TACE	HAI	RE	DEB	SBRT	RFA with SC	HAI with SC	RE with SC	Total*
Total	2	21	2	122	3	3	2	2	2	30
Study Design	8		(1	2	3 3	1
Prospective case series	1	0	0	6	2	1	2 [¢]	4	1	14
Retrospective case series.	1	2	2	6.9	<u></u>	2	a	3	18	16
Outcomes Reported							h.;			
Overall Survival	2	2	2	12	3	3	2	2	2	30
Quality of Life	0	0	0	. 9		0	1	0	0	3
Time to Recurrence	1	0	0	0	0	8	ũ	0	ũ	1
Length of Stay	0	1	0	0	- 21	0	0	0	0	2
Local Recurrence	2	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	0	6
Adverse Events	2	2	2	12	3	3	2	2	2	30
Study population	14		7	1			8	3		
United States	0	2	0	6	1	0	0	0	0	.9
Europe	2	0	3	5	(2	2	10	0	1	14
Australia	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1.1	3
Asia	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	2	0	4
Total N participants	190	142	87	416	157	43	73	36	159	1283

RFA: Radiofrequency stulation, TACE: Transacterial chemoembolization, HAI: Bepatic arterial mfosion, RE Radioembolization, DEB: Drug-elisting beads, SBRT: Sterotactic body radiotheragy, SC: Systemic chemotherapy, N: Number No studies reporting on cryoablation, macrowarve ablation, transacterial embolization, JD-CRT, or DMRT met inclusion cateria for this review.

The total number of articles included in this review is 29, but the study by Hong et al., reports on both TACE and RE * The totals manner or marker marker and RE interventions * Hong et al. reports on both TACE and RE interventions * Holeadiz et al., is an RCT that was extracted as a single-arm case-series * The study by Raers et al., is an RCT that was extracted as a single-arm case series

Table ES-31. Core dataset elements for local hepatic therapy registry by PICOTS

Population	bilarvantion	Companyton	Outcorren	Urning	Setting	
Potent Characteristice Age Sea Bace Bace Bace Bace Bace Bace Circat mix scenes in g. Fing/I ^{II} Circat mix scenes Res of inscene Number of Asserts Turor volume Portel vers distinction Portel vers distinction Come of desage/publicitation, nor mand programson: Other treatments Number, does, distinct for lives of adjust frequency in dual Number, does, distinct for lives of adjust theory of dual Number, does, distinct for lives of adjust how distinct for lives of adjust how distinct for lives of adjust how distinct for lives	Type of local hepetic titerapy abbidon RFA Microwow utration TAE TACE HAI RE DEB 3D-CIRT WART SERT Characteristics of local Regalls: thereay Davidon Surpcif ste	Same re brivyventan	Overall summer Quality of the Response in g warracker, expending na recopored) Recovery inne Langth of Stay Advance effects Schott horm and Long-ferm harms Treatment holdings	Orgong	Hockbolt type Number of procedures the productional type of practicoar local hopetid therapy availability maphenet constrained that any availability maphenet procedure	

* Transmet Holders refer to tase story fains systems: Generationary and may need firms uccessful transmet with a lock loganic benery. of LDM: Include debridgements, CRA resistance/system (anges: IEA) Baladements; Warner, TAE: Transment embodation, TACE transmetsic demonstrated datases. BAE September 2018; Exclude and an exclusion of the second conference of the second exclusion. BAE September 2018; Second exclusion, DEE Department, EEE Redoorde-balance, DEE Department, DEE Department, embodation, TACE transmets, BAE Transmet, and does a story allocate the second exclusion of the second exclusion

Huong Pham, MD (Virginia Mason Medical Center)

Public Comment for: Stereotactic Radiation Surgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy Pham, Huong [Huong.Pham@vmmc.org]

Sun 9/30/2012 4:09 PM HCA ST Health Tech Assessment Prog

Dear members of the Health Technology Clinical Committee:

Thank you for performing an assessment of the benefits and appropriateness of SRS and SBRT. I've reviewed the "Draft Evidence Review" for this topic. I would like to emphasize that SRS and SBRT is not the same as IMRT. Stereotactic treatments require special equipment (Gamma Knife, Cyber Knife) or modifications to the linear accelerator to ensure the accuracy of the radiation beams coming from any direction is less than 1 mm. That is not the case with standard linear accelerators used for standard radiation therapy whose accuracy could be up to 2-3 mm depending on how it was calibrated. IMRT is a technique of conforming the dose to the target but does not necessarily employ a stereotactic approach. SRS and SBRT can however use IMRT if necessary to increase conformality of dose to the target. My observation is that SRS and SBRT are being compared to conventional XRT for the various disease sites and possible indications listed in the document. I do not believe that is a correct comparison analysis for several indications including acoustic neuromas, meningiomas, and solitary primary or metastatic lung tumors since SRS/SRT is used here as an alternative to surgery. There are very few studies published on the use of conventional XRT in these settings. SRS is a well established treatment for brain metastases and the "Draft Evidence Review" provided a good summary of indications and appropriateness of its use in the guidelines section (NCCN). Other than for primary stage 1 lung cancers and solitary lung metastasis, I believe SBRT is investigational for other disease sites as described in the document.

In acoustic neuromas, SRS or SRT is being used as an alternative to surgery. There are many more patients who have been treated with SRS for acoustic neuromas than with fractionated radiation therapy or hypofractionated SRT. A sentinel paper published in 1998 (N Engl J Med. 1998 Nov 12;339(20):1426-33) by Kondziolka and Flickinger demonstrates excellent outcomes in terms of local control; and hearing preservation improved with lower doses in subsequent reports. Radiosurgery has long been considered a standard treatment option for acoustic neuromas. More recently, reports of using fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy to reduce the risk of hearing loss were reported. These studies are summarized in a review by Dr. Backous and myself (Backous D and Pham HT. Guiding Patients Through the Choices for Treating Vestibular Schwannomas: Balancing Options and Ensuring Informed Consent. In Otolaryngologic *Clinics of North America* Haynes DA; W.B. Saunders: Philadelphia, PA 2007; Vol 40 (3): pp 521-540.). I think controversy exists between SRS and SRT as to which is a better radiotherapeutic option for patients, but there is really no role for conventional radiation therapy for acoustic neuromas as there is very little published using this technique. I do not think it makes any sense to do a comparison of SRS/SRT to conventional radiation therapy for acoustic neuromas. A better comparison is to look at the effectiveness and toxicity of SRS/SRT with surgery.

Same can be said of small meningiomas. Typically, if a patient has a meningioma that can be resected safely and the patient is deemed fit for surgery, then surgery is usually recommended. However, often, there are times when a patient has a meningioma in a location that is not safe to operate or the patient could not tolerate the surgery. SRS/SRT would be a good alternative to surgery offering excellent local control rates in the range of 90% at 5 years. Conventional radiation therapy would be an option for larger tumors. Conventional XRT requires 30 fractions over 6 weeks while SRS is a single treatment which is much more conformal reducing the amount of surrounding normal brain tissue being treated. If possible, it seems much more practical and safer for a patient to receive SRS over conventional XRT. The cost of SRS is probably the same or less than a 6 week course of conventional XRT.

The standard of care for stage 1 lung cancer or for a solitary lung metastasis is surgical resection for curative intent if the patient can tolerate it. What happens if these patients are not fit for surgery ? Options include smaller surgeries such as a wedge resection (rather than a standard cancer operation such as lobectomy) or SBRT. Again, there is little data for conventional XRT in this setting. Radiobiological studies demonstrate a dose response for lung tumors which require doses as high as 100cGy (RBE) to obtain good local control for a lung cancer for curative intent. If that were to be done with conventional radiation therapy, it would require 50 fractions or 10 weeks of treatment. In addition, a larger margin of normal lung tissue would be needed around the tumor to account for lung motion resulting in a significant amount of lung treated. Unfortunately, patients who are considered for SBRT are usually because they have poor pulmonary function and cannot afford to have significant lung damage from radiation therapy. With SBRT, the course of the treatment is typically 2-5 fractions over 1 wk with minimal amount of lung damage using gating or breath hold techniques and image guidance. Although I don't have actual cost information, I suspect a course of SBRT would cost less than 10 wks of conventional XRT. Again, SBRT for lung cancer is an alternative to surgery and a better comparison in this setting would be to compare the results of SBRT for lung tumors with surgery, not conventional XRT.

Thank you for allowing me to submit my comments on this topic.

Huong Pham, MD Section Head, Section of Radiation Oncology Virginia Mason Medical Center 1100 Ninth Ave, PO Box 900 Mailstop : CB-RO Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 223-6801

********************* CONFIDENTIALITY DISCLAIMER ********************

The information contained in this e-mail may be confidential. IF YOU RECEIVED THIS IN ERROR, please call the Virginia Mason Privacy Officer through the Virginia Mason Operator at (206) 223-6600. Thank you.

Patients: E-mail is NOT considered secure. By choosing to communicate with Virginia Mason by e-mail, you will assume the risk of a confidentiality breach. Please do not rely on e-mail communication if you or a family member is injured or is experiencing a sudden change in health status.

If you need emergency attention, call 911.

Radiosurgery Society

I am writing in response to the Washington State Health Authority Draft Evidence Review of Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy. I am the Chairman of the Radiosurgery Society. The RSS is the world's largest SRS/SBRT society, and through its white papers like those attached has become the authoritative voice in this field. We appreciate the work that has gone into this review. In many ways, we agree with the conclusions that the quality of the evidence that is available is less than we would wish. Despite the lack of level I evidence, there are several indications for which SRS/SBRT has become a standard of care - and years of clinical practice and published data that do exist, have allowed conclusions to be drawn reflecting the safety and efficacy of these treatments.

Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS, which we will use to refer to intracranial treatments only) started with Gamma Knife, which in this country became available at the University of Pittsburgh in 1987. Since its inception, the Gamma Knife center there has treated over 10,000 patients and the physicians and scientists there have published over 600 articles on their experience.

Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT, which will be used here to refer to all extracranial treatments) began with the CyberKnife at Stanford in 1987, with the first patient treated in 1994. The CyberKnife has been commercially available with FDA clearance for full body treatment since 2001, and since that time, over 100,000 patients worldwide have been treated.

Building on the clinical success of the CyberKnife, multiple other manufacturers have devised other methods of delivering high dose, extremely hypofractionated treatment to intracranial and extracranial sites. These usually consist of an imaging system, a gantry-based linear accelerator with enhanced accuracy, and a multi-leaf collimator with small leaf sizes than are commonly employed for more conventionally fractionated treatment. Examples include the Novalis system, Accuknife, X-Knife, and Peacock. Other systems with novel designs are approaching FDA clearance.

These devices, and the treatments they can deliver, should be considered disruptive technologies. They have not simply changed the way we deliver radiation, they have redefined an entirely new approach wherein radiation is used like a surgical tool, with large doses delivered over a short time frame with the intention of total tumor ablation. Like many disruptive technologies, their inroads into clinical practice have taken place more rapidly than top-level evidence of effectiveness could be developed. With advanced technologies such as these, this is going to be an ongoing problem. It takes nearly ten years to develop, deploy, carry out, follow, and publish a randomized clinical trial. By the time that is done, the technology has advance and changed so much that the conclusions are no longer relevant. CMS has explicitly acknowledged this fact in their discussions with us, and they are moving more toward the use of validated registries as a means of developing the necessary clinical evidence in instances where CMS seeks to answer additional questions of comparative effectiveness among existing therapies or to determine generalizability of data to certain patient populations.

The Radiosurgery Society has developed such a registry, called RSSearch. It contains over 10,000 patients, and we have just begun the process of mining the information it contains to establish

efficacy and safety data for indications commonly treated with SRS/SBRT. As an example, the first aggregate data study has been initiated with a study of 2800 non-small cell lung cancer patients. Over 800 of these are T1 patients, and to accrue that number on a randomized protocol would be impossible.

Multiple institutions are attempting randomized trials. In some cases, these will result in publishable Level I evidence, but some may never be completed because of the difficulty inherent in trying to convince a patient that they should allow random selection of their treatment when the possible treatments are as different as a surgical procedure and a completely non-invasive treatment.

With regard to the existing clinical published data, there is little that would be considered Level I evidence. What exists is largely single institution reviews of institutional experience. These should not be discounted as insufficient evidence for the following reasons:

- 1. Many of these have 5-10 year follow-up data, making conclusions more valid and valuable
- 2. 2. Many (perhaps most) have been validated by publication of similar results from other centers

Taken in the aggregate, studies of SRS/SBRT show 70-90% control rates of treated tumors. This almost always compares very favorably with published data for more conventional radiation fractionation schemes. For instance, in non-small cell lung cancers of limited extent, SBRT routinely achieves local control rates of approximately 90% in virtually every published study, while standard radiation struggles to reach a 40% rate. The essential fact is that SRS/SBRT achieves superior results simply because it is better able to deliver the radiation dose precisely to the target while maximally sparing critical nearby tissues, thus allowing a dose of radiation which is biologically different from, and possibly biologically superior to, conventionally fractionated radiation.

There are compelling non-clinical reasons to consider SRS/SBRT, including the following:

- It is usually less expensive than the available alternatives. For instance, a course of IMRT radiation for prostate cancer will cost over \$40,000, while SBRT is only about \$30,000. Single fraction or multiple fraction SRS for a skullbase meningioma will be significantly less expensive than a skullbase surgery and the protracted rehabilitation that frequently ensures.
- 2. It is more convenient for patients. In western states such as Washington and others, patients often have to travel great distances for treatment. This is especially important for patients covered under the Washington Medicaid program with limited financial resources, where travel and extended treatment times associated with conventional radiation frequently results in large unnecessary expense for the patient, or all too frequently results in poor treatment compliance or the patient not seeking treatment at all.
- 3. It uses less of the health system's resources. It is obviously more efficient for a center to treat a patient in 1-5 days than to treat them daily for 6-9 weeks.

The California Technology Assessment Forum also considered similar questions of efficacy and safety for SRS/SBRT for non-small cell lung cancer. Their recommendations were:

It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with peripheral lesions meets CTAF criteria 2-5 for safety, effectiveness and improvement in outcomes. It is recommended that stereotactic body radiation therapy for the treatment of early stage non small cell lung cancer in medically inoperable patients with central lesions and medically operable patients does not meet CTAF TA criteria 2-5, for safety, effectiveness, and improvement in outcomes.

There is also information in the NCCN guidelines:

Non-small cell lung	Early stage Lung Cancer (Stage I)
	"SABR (traditionally known as SBRT) is recommended for patients who are medically inoperable and is also an appropriate option for many older patients (eg, ≥ age 75). SABR has achieved high primary tumor control rates and favorable overall survival in prospective studies, comparable to surgery and higher than #DCRT in non-randomized comparisons. An analysis of cost-effectiveness found SABR more cost- effective than 3DCRT and radiofrequency ablation, largely owing to its high efficacy."
	"For patients with high survival risk (able to tolerate sublobar resection but not lobectomy), SABR and sublobar resection achieve comparable cancer-specific survival and primary tumor control in non-randomized comparisons. A prospective randomized cooperative group trial of sublobar resection vs. SABR has been initiated. (ACOSOG Z4099/RTOG 1021)." "For potentially operable patients who refuse surgical therapy despite a complete thoracic surgery consultation, SABR is recommended based on comparable outcomes in non-randomized retrospective comparisons, especially in older patients."
	Early stage/SABR
	"For SABR, intensive regimens of BED ≥ 100 Gy are associated with significantly better local control and survival than less intensive regimens. In the United States, only regimens of ≤ 5 fractions meet the arbitrary billing code definition of SBRT but slightly more protracted regimens are appropriate as well." "SABR is most commonly used for tumors up to 5 cm in size, though selected larger isolated tumors can be treated safely if normal tissue constraints are respected."
	Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy (SABR)
	SABR (traditionally known as SBRT), uses short courses of very high dose

	RT that are precisely delivered to the target. Studies have shown that
	SABR is very useful for patients with inoperable stage I NSCLC. or those
	who refuse surgery. With conventional treatment, 3-year survival is only
	about 20-35% in these nations. There is a high rate of local failure in
	national receiving conventional PT. However, local control is increased
	after SAPP. In patients with stage INICLE, SAPP provides a significantly
	after SABR. In patients with stage insclut, SABR provides a significantly
	ionger 5-year survival than 3-D conformal RT. SABR yields median
	survival of 32 months and 3-year overall survival of about 43% in
	patients with stage I disease; patients with T1 tumors survive longer
	than those with T2 tumors (39 versus 25 months). Randomized clinical
	trials are currently comparing SABR to surgery. SABR can also be used
	for patients with limited lung metastases and for palliative therapy.
	Studies also suggest that SABR can be used for bone, liver, and brain
	metastases. A recent study reported that SABR increased survival in
	elderly patients (75 years or older) with stage I NSCLC who otherwise
	would not have received treatment."
Hepatocellular	Principles of locoregional therapy
carcinoma	
	"There is growing evidence for the usefulness of radiotherapy in the
	management of HCC All tumors irrespective of location may be
	amenable to SBRT or external-bean conformal radiation. SBRT is often
	used for 1.2 tumors with a sumulative diameter under 6 cm. SPPT could
	be considered for larger locience, if there is at least 200 sc of uninvolved
	be considered for larger resions, if there is at least 800 cc of uninvolved
	iver and iver radiation tolerance can be respected. There should be no
	extra-nepatic disease or it should be minimal and addressed in a
	comprehensive management plan. Most patients treated today were in
	the Child-Pugh A category. Radiotherapy can be considered as an
	alternative to the ablation/embolization techniques"
	External beam radiation therapy
	"The panel recommends that radiation therapy can be considered
	(category 2B) as an alternative to ablation/embolization techniques or
	when these therapies have failed in patients with unresectable disease
	characterized as extensive or otherwise no suitable for liver
	transplantation and those with local disease who are not operable due
	to performance status or comorbidity."
Central nervous	Brain Metastases – Stereotactic radiosurgery
system	3 ,
	"The advent of SRS offered a minimally invasive option as opposed to
	surgery. Patients undergoing SRS avoid the risk of surgery-related
	morbidity. Late side effects such as edema and radiation necrosis are
	uncommon SRS is most successful for small deen tumors. In a
	randomized Japanese study of 132 patients with 1 to 4 metactatic brain
	tumors smaller than 2 cm, addition of W/DPT to SPS did not prolong
	modian suminal compared to CPS along /7 5 months in 80 months
	median survival compared to SKS along (7.5 months vs. 8.0 months,
	respectively). However, 1-year brain recurrence rate was lowered in the
WBRT plus SRS arm (47% vs. 76%; P < 0.001). This likely served to	

decrease the need for salvage therapy in this group (10/65) compared	
to patients receiving no upfront WBRT (29/67)."	
"Retrospective comparative studies showed that SRS plus WBRT	
resulted in equivalent if not better survival compared with surgery and	
WBRT, SRS also conferred a significant improvement in local control	
especially for patients with radiosensitive tumors or solitary brain	
lesions "	
Metastatic Spinal Tumors	
The advent of SRS allowed precise high-dose targeting in one or two	
fractions while minimizing exposure of surrounding cord. This is	
especially important in pre-irradiated patients. The largest prospective	
study involved a cohort of nearly 400 patients with 500 spinal	
metastases 70% of whom had previous conventional irradiation. At a	
median follow-up of 21 months, radiosurgery resulted in long-term pain	
improvement and tymor control in 85% and 90% of cases respectively	
Other single-institution reports also suggest that SPS is safe and offers	
more durable response than conventional therapy "	
nore durable response than conventional therapy.	
"Patients experiencing intractable pain or rapid neurological decline	
during RT should consider surgery or SRS "	
Overall	
SRS included in the following areas as primary treatment:	
· Adult intracranial ependymoma	
· Meningiomas	
· Limited (1-3) metastatic lesions	
Multiple (>3) metastatic lesions	

There are additional NCCN guidelines that do not include SBRT as the first line of therapy; however, there is positive language within these guidelines about SBRT, which is noted below.

Prostate	Not included in the guidelines as a standard therapy option; however, there is a statement about the SBRT within the guidelines, which reads:
	"The relatively slow proliferation of prostate cancer is reflected in a low α/β ratio, most commonly reported between 1 and 4. These values are similar to that for the rectal mucosa. Since the α/β ratio for prostate cancer is similar to or lower than the surrounding tissues responsible for most of the toxicity reported with radiation therapy, appropriately designed radiation treatment fields and schedules using hypofractionated regimens should result in similar cancer control rates

	without an increased risk of late toxicity. Stereotactic body
	radiotherapy (SBRT) delivers highly conformal, high dose radiation in 5
	or fewer treatment fractions, that is possible to do safely only with
	precise delivery. Single institution series with median follow-up as long
	as 5-years report that biochemical progression free-survival is 90-100%
	and early toxicity (bladder, rectal, and quality of life) is similar to other
	standard radiation techniques. Longer follow-up and prospective multi-
	institutional data are required to evaluate longer term results especially
	since late toxicity theoretically could be worse in hypofractionated
	regimens compared to conventional fractionation (1.8 to 2.0 Gy per
	fraction)."
Pancreatic	General principles:
adenocarcinoma	"Ideally, patients should be treated on clinical trials when available.
	Radiation is typically given concurrently with chemotherapy, except in
	the palliative setting, with intraoperative radiation therapy (IORT), or
	with stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT)."
	Unresectable/locally advanced (non-metastatic):
	"No standard total dose or dose per fraction has been established for
	SBRT; therefore, it should be utilized as part of a clinical trial."
	Principles of radiation therapy:
	"SBRT is often delivered in 1-5 fractions ranging from 5-25 Gy per
	fraction."

In addition, there are 3 recent **draft** (not finalized) AHRQ reports: non-small cell lung cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, and colorectal metastases to the liver, in which SBRT is included as one of the primary treatment options for each of these 3 cancer indications.

We recommend that the Washington Health Care Authority recognize the potential advantages of SRS/SBRT and continue to make these treatments available to patients. If the HCA deems it necessary, it could impose a registry requirement similar to those in place in Medicare regions for certain indications.

Other references submitted:

- The Radiosurgery Society (November 2011). WHITE PAPER Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy Treatment for Head and Neck Cancer, 1-19
- The Radiosurgery Society (March 2010). WHITE PAPER Metastatic Cancer of the Liver and Stereotactic Radiosurgery, 1-14
- The Radiosurgery Society (March 2010). WHITE PAPER SRS for Non Small Cell Lung Cancer, 1- 56

- The Radiosurgery Society (March 2010). WHITE PAPER Carcinoma of the Pancreas and Stereotactic Radiosurgery, 1-16
- The Radiosurgery Society (March 2010). WHITE PAPER Prostate Cancer and Stereotactic Radiosurgery, 1- 34
- The Radiosurgery Society (September 2010). WHITE PAPER SRS for Spinal Tumors, 1-22
- The Radiosurgery Society (September 2011). WHITE PAPER SRS for Trigeminal Neuralgia, 1-19

VAR VAN A partner for life Warian Medical Systems, Inc S25 9° Street NW, Suite 450 Washington, DC 20004 Telephone: 202 629 3459 www.varian.com October 1, 2012 BY ELECTRONIC DELIVERY Christine V. Masters Program Specialist Health Technology Assessment

Washington State Health Care Authority P.O. Box 42712 Olympia, WA 98504-2712 Re: Washington State Health Care Authority Health Technology Assessment Program Draft

Re: Washington State Health Care Authority Health Technology Assessment Program Draft Evidence Report on Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy

Dear Ms. Masters:

Varian Medical Systems (Varian) is pleased to offer comments on the Center for Evidence-based Policy, Oregon Health & Science University, draft report entitled, "Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy", dated August 27, 2012, as commissioned by the Washington State Health Care Authority (WSHCA), Health Technology Assessment Program (HTA). Varian is the world's leading supplier of radiotherapy products for treating cancer. Our products include linear accelerators, simulators, proton therapy systems, and a broad range of accessories and interconnected software tools for planning, verifying, and delivering the most advanced radiation, radiosurgical, and brachytherapy treatments.

Varian has significant concerns that the draft report does not properly highlight the immense benefits of the use of Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SBRT) for treating cancer. Varian strongly supports comparative effectiveness research that can assist policy makers, healthcare providers and consumers make sound judgments about healthcare choices. Our comments are intended to contribute to the balance, completeness and usefulness of the Technology Assessment.

The WSHCA's narrow view of "sufficient clinical evidence" for technologies to include only randomized clinical trials will be to the significant determinant to cancer patients in the state of Washington. Varian recognizes the value of randomized controlled trials or prospective studies to guide the clinical application of new technology. Generating this type of data for radiosurgery, however, is exceedingly difficult as radiosurgery has been developed incrementally which is different from other medical interventions. As is evidenced by our

enclosed comments, there are significant clinical peer reviewed publications that demonstrate the clinical effectiveness of SRS and SBRT.

Attached, please find several edits to the report as well as additional pieces of evidence that should be considered before the report is finalized. Varian appreciates the opportunity to comment on Center for Evidence-based Policy, draft report entitled, "Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy." We stand prepared to answer any questions you may have about our comments or to provide any additional information. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

M. latte

Andrew M. Whitman Vice President, Government Affairs

Edits for Draft Evidence Report:

General Comments

The evidence-based evaluation of new medical technologies can be challenging and controversial. The 2008 paper by Bentzen describes many of the challenges, using an analogous comparison of proton and photon therapy. Many of the same challenges apply to a comparative evaluation of SRS/SBRT (radiosurgery, RS) and 3D Conformal Radiotherapy (CRT).

 Bentzen SM. Randomized controlled trials in health technology assessment: overkill or overdue? Radiother Oncol. 2008 Feb;86(2):142-7

Bekelman et al updated and expanded on this effort with their 2011 study, whose objective was to introduce the relative strengths and weaknesses of several forms of evidence to illustrate the potential for comparative effectiveness research generation within radiation oncology.

 Bekelman J, Shah A, Hahn S, Implications of comparative effectiveness research for radiation oncology, Prac Rad Onc, vol 1, lss 2, p72-80, April 2011

In particular, the draft report makes the implicit assumption that RS and CRT are single treatment entities, analogous to a new drug, and that randomized controlled trials can be used to define their respective indications for use.

Rather, RS and CRT are both clinical processes comprised of numerous discrete technologies in the areas of modern oncologic imaging, pretreatment simulation, treatment planning, treatment beam delivery and quality assurance. This situation is quite different from that of a single therapeutic technology or biological agent.

 Benedict SH, Yenice KM, Followill D, Galvin JM, Hinson W, Kavanagh B, Keall P, Lovelock M, Meeks S, Papiez L, Purdie T, Sadagopan R, Schell MC, Salter B, Schlesinger DJ, Shiu AS, Solberg T, Song DY, Stieber V, Timmerman R, Tomé WA, Verellen D, Wang L, Yin FF. Stereotactic body radiation therapy: the report of AAPM Task Group 101. Med Phys. 2010 Aug;37(8):4078-101.

While the clinical use of RS was first described in the 1940's, the enabling technologies continue to evolve at a rapid rate. RS continually evolves, typically on time scales that are much faster than the timeframes needed to collect long-term clinical outcomes, making it very challenging to conduct long-term comparative effectiveness trials.

With few high-quality controlled trial comparisons of RS and CRT, population studies can take on a high level of importance: the National Cancer Institute considers them the strongest study design after randomized controlled trials or non- randomized controlled trials. Such a study of lung SBRT implementation in a Dutch population was published during the time period

examined by this report, but not included in this draft. It will be discussed further in the following section on lung.

http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdg/levels-evidence-adulttreatment/HealthProfessional/page2

Executive Summary - Background

Pages 6 and 38, cost information;

These brief sections seems out of place and the particular report by Lanni, et al, is later
described as "...a poor quality cost evaluation...", page 98. We suggest removing this
section and relying on the discussion on page 98, or developing a larger section that
deals with cost information in a more comprehensive fashion.

Executive Summary - Findings

Page 22, KQ1;

- This section says "...Since there were no studies comparing SBRT to other therapies, it is
 uncertain whether SBRT improves survival or other patient-important outcomes
 compared to conventional EBRT." While not an exhaustive literature search, the
 following three papers describe comparison of SBRT to sublobar resection;
 - Fernandez FG, Crabtree TD, Liu J, Meyers BF. Sublobar resection versus definitive radiation in patients with stage IA non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012 Aug;94(2):354-60; discussion 360-1.
 - Puri V, Crabtree TD, Kymes S, Gregory M, Bell J, Bradley JD, Robinson C, Patterson GA, Kreisel D, Krupnick AS, Meyers BF. A comparison of surgical intervention and stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I lung cancer in high-risk patients: a decision analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012 Feb;143(2):428-36.
 - Crabtree TD, Denlinger CE, Meyers BF, El Naqa I, Zoole J, Krupnick AS, Kreisel D, Patterson GA, Bradley JD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus surgical resection for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010 Aug;140(2):377-86.

- The following paper describes the challenges and controversies inherent in doing comparative effectiveness research across very different treatment modalities, such as lung SBRT and sublobular surgical resection;
 - Senan S, Palma DA, Lagerwaard FJ. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for stage I NSCLC: Recent advances and controversies. J Thorac Dis. 2011 Sep;3(3):189-96.

Background

The first paragraph lists the devices that are approved to deliver SRS/SBRT. The list is
incomplete and inconsistent with Table 2, on page 35. The list in Table 2 should be
expanded to include; TrueBeam, TrueBeam STx, and Clinac iX, all manufactured by
Varian Medical Systems, Inc.

Pages 33 and 34, figures 1 and 2;

These figures show a mixture of generic descriptors and product names. Since this
report is intended to provide policy guidance to a broad range of individuals, we
recommend using only generic descriptors.

Page 34;

- The American Association of Neurological Surgeons, the Congress of Neurological Surgeons and the American Society of Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology approved a definition of Stereotactic Radiosurgery (SRS) in 2006. That definition reads as follows:
 - Stereotactic radiosurgery is a distinct discipline that utilizes externally generated ionizing radiation in certain cases to inactivate or eradicate (a) defined target(s) in the head and spine without the need to make an incision. The target is defined by high-resolution stereotactic imaging. To assure quality of patient care the procedure involves a multidisciplinary team consisting of a neurosurgeon, radiation oncologist, and medical physicist.
 - Stereotactic radiosurgery typically is performed in a single session, using a rigidly attached stereotactic guiding device, other immobilization technology and/or a stereotactic image-guidance system, but can be performed in a limited number of sessions, up to a maximum of five.
 - Technologies that are used to perform stereotactic radiosurgery include linear accelerators, particle beam accelerators, and multisource Cobalt 60 units. In order

to enhance precision, various devices may incorporate robotics and real time imaging.

- AANS/CNS/ASTRO Definition of Stereotactic Radiosurgery, Position Statement: 2006 June 2, available as Article 38198, AANS.org/Library (<u>http://www.aans.org/Media/Article.aspx?ArticleId=38198</u>).
- By convention, the use of the same treatment methodology in the remaining parts of the body is referred to as Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT).
- Also, some researchers are promoting the use of the term "Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy" (SABR), pronounced "sabre".
 - Loo B, Chang J, Dawson L, Kavanagh B, Koong A, Senan S, Timmerman R, Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy: what's in a name? Practical Rad Onc Vol. 1, Is 1, Pages 38-39

Page 37, Outcome and Toxicity Measures;

 This section says "...Outcome measures for the multiple cancers include the primary outcomes of overall survival (OS) and median survival at 1-, 2- and 5-years, and secondary outcomes of local tumor control, disease-free survival (DFS), and quality of life (QoL)..." Multiple modalities, both focal and systemic, are used in the modern management of oncologic disease. In an era of "personalized treatment", it is increasingly rare for mono-therapy to be used exclusively. Thus, overall survival and median survival are better measures for the entire treatment regime. The goals of RS, as described on page 5, are to; "...to improve the targeting of radiation to the tumor to minimize damage to normal tissue and increase the dose of radiation delivered to the tumor...". RS offers ablative dose-escalation to tumor targets with simultaneous doserestraint to normal tissues that is not possible with conventional radiotherapy. It is axiomatic that reducing dose to normal tissues will result in lower toxicities. Therefore, we recommend that reports of local tumor control, disease-free-survival (DFS) and quality of life (QoL) be incorporated in the discussion of primary outcomes, not secondary outcomes and they should not be described as "surrogate outcome", as is done in the summary section on page 27.

Liver

Page 57;

 The following references have been published since the cutoff date for the report, and should comply with the inclusion criteria;

- Lee IJ, Seong J. The optimal selection of radiotherapy treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut Liver. 2012 Apr;6(2):139-48.
- Almaghrabi MY, Supiot S, Paris F, Mahé MA, Rio E. Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Abdominal Oligometastases: A biological and clinical review. Radiat Oncol. 2012 Aug 1;7(1):126.
- Lock MI, Hoyer M, Bydder SA, Okunieff P, Hahn CA, Vichare A, Dawson LA. An international survey on liver metastases radiotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2012 May;51(5):568-74.
- Barney BM, Olivier KR, Miller RC, Haddock MG. Clinical outcomes and toxicity using Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT) for advanced cholangiocarcinoma. Radiat Oncol. 2012 May 3;7:67.
- O'Connor JK, Trotter J, Davis GL, Dempster J, Klintmalm GB, Goldstein RM. Longterm outcomes of stereotactic body radiation therapy in the treatment of hepatocellular cancer as a bridge to transplantation. Liver Transpl. 2012 Aug;18(8):949-54.
- Ibarra RA, Rojas D, Snyder L, Yao M, Fabien J, Milano M, Katz A, Goodman K, Stephans K, El-Gazzaz G, Aucejo F, Miller C, Fung J, Lo S, Machtay M, Sanabria JR. Multicenter results of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for non-resectable primary liver tumors. Acta Oncol. 2012 May;51(5):575-83.
- Facciuto ME, Singh MK, Rochon C, Sharma J, Gimenez C, Katta U, Moorthy CR,Bentley-Hibbert S, Rodriguez-Davalos M, Wolf DC. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma and cirrhosis: evaluation of radiological and pathological response. J Surg Oncol. 2012 Jun 1;105(7):692-8.

Central Nervous System

Page 63;

 Cranial SRS is routinely used to treat non-oncologic diseases, the primary examples being arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) and trigeminal neuralgia. They are conspicuous in their absence from this section. It is beyond the scope of this review of the draft report to suggest all possible references that should be reviewed, but the usefulness and credibility of the report would be greatly enhanced if it included treatment of non-oncologic disease. Please see the attached bibliography for a list of possible references to consider for inclusion and analysis.

Page 77, KQ 1;

 Meningiomas are the most common benign intracranial lesion, and routinely treated with RS, so it is difficult to believe that "...No studies were identified."

Page 79, KQ4;

 While the absolute costs may not apply to the US market, the 2011 paper by Tan et al (rated as "good quality"), should be included, since it demonstrates a relative comparison of costs that transcends the healthcare delivery system.

Lung

Page 94;

- As mentioned in the general comments section, this population-based study compared overall survival outcomes for elderly patients with stage I NSCLC treated before and after the widespread implementation of SBRT, and detected a 16% absolute increase in radiotherapy utilization, corresponding to a decrease in untreated patients. This suggests that the efficacy, favorable toxicity profile, and convenience associated with SBRT may be key factors influencing treatment uptake. The controlled implementation of SBRT was associated with an improvement in survival that was not readily explained by other potential confounding factors, such as differences in baseline populations or stage migration.
 - Palma D, Visser O, Lagerwaard FJ, Belderbos J, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Impact of Introducing Stereotactic Lung Radiotherapy for Elderly Patients With Stage I Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Population-Based Time- Trend Analysis. Journal of clinical oncology 2010;28(35): 5153-9.

Page 97, first paragraph;

 Four studies are summarized that describe the complications from the placement of fiducial markers. Since this applies to only one of the devices used to treat lung SBRT, as noted in the report, the procedure used to introduce the fiducials and the fiducials themselves have evolved, we recommend deleting this section.

Page 98, KQ 4;

- The following two studies, one that address patients that are older than 75 and the
 other that looks at patients with concurrent COPD, should be included in this section on
 subpopulations.
 - Palma DA, Tyldesley S, Sheehan F, Mohamed IG, Smith S, Wai E, Murray N, Senan S. Stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in patients aged 75 years and older: does age determine survival after radical treatment? J Thorac Oncol. 2010 Jun;5(6):818-24.
 - Louie AV, Rodrigues G, Hannouf M, Lagerwaard F, Palma D, Zaric GS, Haasbeek C, Senan S. Withholding stereotactic radiotherapy in elderly patients with stage I non-small cell lung cancer and co-existing COPD is not justified: outcomes of a Markov model analysis. Radiother Oncol. 2011 May;99(2):161-5.

Prostate

Page 99, KQ1;

- There has been considerable clinical research on prostate SBRT, so it is surprising to see that "No studies were identified." There are studies mentioned in "Subsequently Published Studies" section, so perhaps this is an editorial oversight. The following studies may comply with the inclusion criteria;
 - Freeman DE, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: five-year outcomes. Radiat Oncol. 2011 Jan 10;6:3.
 - King C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: current results of a phase II trial. Front Radiat Ther Oncol. 2011;43:428-37. Epub 2011 May 20.
 - Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, DeRose P, Xie XJ, Yan J, Foster R, Pistenmaa D, Perkins A, Cooley S, Timmerman R. Phase I dose-escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer, J Clin Oncol. 2011 May 20;29(15):2020-6.
 - Ray C. Long-term outcomes of SBRT in low-risk prostate cancer, Nat Rev Urol. 2011 Apr;8(4):174. No abstract available.
 - Kang JK, Cho CK, Choi CW, Yoo S, Kim MS, Yang K, Yoo H, Kim JH, Seo YS, Lee DH, Jo M., Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer, Tumori. 2011 Jan-Feb;97(1):43-8.
 - King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC Jr. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Feb 1;82(2):877-82. Epub 2011 Feb 6.

- Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, Diblasio F. Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Low- and Low-Intermediate-Risk Prostate Cancer: Is there a Dose Effect? Front Oncol. 2011;1:49. Epub 2011 Dec 5.
- Jabbari S, Weinberg VK, Kaprealian T, Hsu IC, Ma L, Chuang C, Descovich M, Shiao S, Shinohara K, Roach M 3rd, Gottschalk AR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as monotherapy or post-external beam radiotherapy boost for prostate cancer: technique, early toxicity, and PSA response, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1;82(1):228-34. Epub 2010 Dec 22.
- Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A, Guglielmi R. Imageguided stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: preliminary clinical results, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):473-7.
- Katz AJ. CyberKnife radiosurgery for prostate cancer, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):463-72.
- Oermann EK, Slack RS, Hanscom HN, Lei S, Suy S, Park HU, Kim JS, Sherer BA, Collins BT, Satinsky AN, Harter KW, Batipps GP, Constantinople NL, Dejter SW, Maxted WC, Regan JB, Pahira JJ, McGeagh KG, Jha RC, Dawson NA, Dritschilo A, Lynch JH, Collins SP. A pilot study of intensity modulated radiation therapy with hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) boost in the treatment of intermediate- to high-risk prostate cancer, Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Oct;9(5):453-62.
- Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, Diblasio F, Witten M. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for organ-confined prostate cancer.BMC Urol. 2010 Feb 1;10:1.
- · In addition, the following review articles may comply with the inclusion criteria;
 - Spyropoulou D, Kardamakis D Review of hypofractionated radiotherapy for prostate cancer. ISRN Oncol. 2012;2012:410892
 - Arcangeli S, Scorsetti M, Alongi F, Will SBRT replace conventional radiotherapy in patients with low-intermediate risk prostate cancer? A review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012 Oct;84(1):101-8.
 - Ishiyama H, Teh BS, Lo SS, Mathews T, Blanco A, Amato R, Ellis RJ, Mayr NA, Paulino AC, Xu B, Butler BE Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Future Oncol. 2011 Sep;7(9):1077-86.

- Teh BS, Ishiyama H, Mathews T, Xu B, Butler EB, Mayr NA, Lo SS, Lu JJ, Blanco AI, Paulino AC, Timmerman RD.Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for genitourinary malignancies. Discov Med. 2010 Sep;10(52):255-62.
- Biagioli MC, Hoffe SE. Emerging technologies in prostate cancer radiation therapy: improving the therapeutic window. Cancer Control. 2010 Oct;17(4):223-32.
- Choe KS, Liauw SL. Radiotherapeutic strategies in the management of low-risk prostate cancer. ScientificWorldJournal. 2010 Sep 14;10:1854-69.
- Wiegner EA, King CR Sexual function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results of a prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Oct 1;78(2):442-8.

Page 100, KQ4;

- · The following studies may comply with the inclusion criteria;
 - Hodges JC, Lotan Y, Boike TP, Benton R, Barrier A, Timmerman RD, Costeffectiveness analysis of stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensitymodulated radiation therapy: an emerging initial radiation treatment option for organ-confined prostate cancer, J Oncol Pract. 2012 May;8(3 Suppl):e31s-7s.
 - Parthan A, Pruttivarasin N, Davies D, Taylor DC, Pawar V, Bijlani A, Lich KH, Chen RC. Comparative cost-effectiveness of stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated and proton radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer, Front Oncol. 2012;2:81. Epub 2012 Aug 20.
 - Hodges JC, Lotan Y, Boike TP, Benton R, Barrier A, Timmerman RD. Costeffectiveness analysis of SBRT versus IMRT: an emerging initial radiation treatment option for organ-confined prostate cancer. Am J Manag Care. 2012 May 1;18(5):e186-93.

Spine

Page 101, KQ1;

- · The following study is discussed KQ2 and should also be included in KQ1;
 - Ryu S, Rock J, Jain R, Lu M, Anderson J, Jin JY, Rosenblum M, Movsas B, Kim JH. Radiosurgical decompression of metastatic epidural compression. Cancer. 2010 May 1;116(9):2250-7.

Page 102, KQ2;

- The following study should be included in KQ2;
 - Ryu S, Jin R, Jin JY, Chen Q, Rock J, Anderson J, Movsas B. Pain control by imageguided radiosurgery for solitary spinal metastasis. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2008 Mar;35(3):292-8.

Page 105, KQ3;

- The following study should be included in KQ3, as is it discusses a particular subpopulation, postoperative patients.
 - Sahgal A, Bilsky M, Chang EL, Ma L, Yamada Y, Rhines LD, Létourneau D, Foote M, Yu E, Larson DA, Fehlings MG. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases: current status, with a focus on its application in the postoperative patient. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011 Feb;14(2):151-66.

Page 105, KQ4;

Since costs are typically reported on a per-patient basis, the reported Haley 2011 study
results should be revised such that they are per-patient, not per 100 patients. This will
avoid the potential for significant confusion.

Guidelines

Page 108;

- The following study should be included;
 - Sahgal A, Roberge D, Schellenberg D, Purdie TG, Swaminath A, Pantarotto J, Filion E, Gabos Z, Butler J, Letourneau D, Masucci GL, Mulroy L, Bezjak A, Dawson LA, Parliament M. The Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology Scope of Practice Guidelines for Lung, Liver and Spine Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2012 May 23



SRS & SBRT BIBLIOGRAPHY

CLINICAL AND TECHNICAL JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS JAN 2010 THROUGH SEPT 2012

WHERE VARIAN LINACS WERE USED FOR SRS & SBRT OR WHERE VARIAN TECHNIQUES ARE USED FOR RADIOSURGERY / SBRT

BRAIN TUMORS – BENIGN Benign Meningioma & Other Benign Tumors Published

Kimball MM, Foote KD, Bova FJ, Chi YY, Friedman WA. Linear accelerator radiosurgery for nonvestibular schwannomas. Neurosurgery. 2011 Apr;68(4):974-84; discussion 984. University of Florida, Gainsville

Korah MP, Nowlan AW, Johnstone PA, Crocker IR. <u>Radiation Therapy Alone for Imaging-Defined</u> Meningiomas, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jan 1;76(1):181-6. Emory University, Atlanta

BRAIN TUMORS - BENIGN

Vestibular Schwannoma (Acoustic Neuroma) Published

Kopp C, Fauser C, Müller A, Astner ST, Jacob V, Lumenta C, Meyer B, Tonn JC, Molls M, Grosu AL. Stereotactic Fractionated Radiotherapy and LINAC Radiosurgery in the Treatment of Vestibular Schwannoma-Report About Both Stereotactic Methods From a Single Institution. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Aug 1;80(5):1485-91. Klinikum rechts der Isar der Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany

Bassim MK, Berliner KJ, Fisher LM, Brackmann DE, Friedman RA. <u>Radiation therapy for the treatment of vestibular schwannoma: a critical evaluation of the state of the literature.</u> Otol Neurotol. 2010 Jun;31(4):567-73. Review. American University of Beirut, Beirut,

Hsu PW, Chang CN, Lee ST, Huang YC, Chen HC, Wang CC, Hsu YH, Tseng CK, Chen YL, Wei KC. Dutcomes of 75 patients over 12 years treated for acoustic neuromas with linear accelerator-based radiosurgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2010 May;17(5):556-80. Chang Gung University, Kweishan, Tacyuan, TW

Lin YC, Wang CC, Wai YY, Wan YL, Ng SH, Chen YL, Liu HL, Wang JJ. <u>Significant Temporal Evolution of</u> Diffusion Anisotropy for Evaluating Early Response to Radiosurgery in Patients with Vestibular Schwannoma: Findings from Functional Diffusion Maps, AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2010 Feb;31(2):269-74. Chang Gung University: Taiwan, Republic of China.

BRAIN TUMORS – BENIGN

Pituitary Adenoma, Craniopharyngioma and Cushing's Disease

Yang I, Kim W, De Salles A, Bergsneider M. <u>A systematic analysis of disease control in acromegaly treated</u> with radiosurgery, Neurosurg Focus. 2010 Oct;29(4):E13, University of California, Los Angeles, California

BRAIN TUMORS – MALIGNANT & METASTATIC Glioma / Glioblastoma / Malignant Meningioma

Published

Cabrera AR, Cuneo KC, Vredenburgh JJ, Sampson JH, Kirkpatrick JP. <u>Stereotactic radiosurgery and</u> <u>bevacizumab for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme</u>, J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2012 Jun 1;10(6):695-9. Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC

103/2012



Cuneo KC, Vredenburgh JJ, Sampson JH, Reardon DA, Desjardins A, Peters KB, Friedman HS, Willett CG, Kirkpatrick JP. <u>Safety and Efficacy of Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Adjuvant Bevacizumab in Patients with</u> <u>Recurrent Malignant Gliomas</u>, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):2018-24, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC.

Fields EC, Damek D, Gaspar LE, Liu AK, Kavanagh BD, Waziri A, Lillehei K, Chen C. <u>Phase I Dose</u> Escalation Trial of Vandetanib With Fractionated Radiosurgery in Patients With Recurrent Malignant <u>Gliomas</u>, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1:82(1):51-7. University of Colorado, Aurora

Shaffer R, Nichol AM, Vollans E, Fong M, Nakano S, Moiseenko V, Schmuland M, Ma R, McKenzie M, Otto K. A Comparison of Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy and Conventional Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy for Frontal and Temporal High-Grade Sliemas, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Mar 15;76(4):1177-84. BC Cancer Agency, Vancouver, British Columbia

BRAIN TUMORS - MALIGNANT & METASTATIC

Metastatic Disease

Published

Pan H, Cerviño LI, Pawlicki T, Jiang SB, Alksne J, Detorie N, Russell M, Carter BS, Murphy KT, Mundt AJ, Chen C, Lawson JD. Frameless, real-time, surface imaging-guided radiosurgery: clinical outcomes for brain metastases. Neurosurgery. 2012 Oct;71(4):844-52 University of California San Diego, La Jolla, California

Liepa Z, Auslands K, Apskalne D, Ozols R. Initial experience with using frameless image-puided radiosurgery for the treatment of brain metastases. Exp Oncol. 2012 Jul 34(2):125-8. Riga East Clinical University Hospital, Riga, Latvia.

Wang JZ, Pawlicki T, Rice R, Mundt AJ, Sandhu A, Lawson J, Murphy KT. <u>Intensity-modulated radiosurgery</u> with RapidArc[®] for multiple brain metastases and comparison with static approach. Med Dosim. 2012 Spring;37(1):31-6. University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA.

Lal LS, Byfield SD, Chang EL, Franzini L, Miller LA, Arbuckle R, Reasonda L, Feng C, Adamus A, Swint JM. Cost-effectiveness Analysis of a Randomized Study Comparing Radiosurgery With Radiosurgery and Whole Brain Radiation Therapy in Patients With 1 to 3 Brain Metastases, Am J Clin Oncol. 2012 Feb;35(1):45-50. The University of Texas School of Public Health, Houston, TX

Kelly PJ, Lin YB, Yu AY, Alexander BM, Hacker F, Marcus KJ, Weiss SE. <u>Stereotactic Irradiation of the</u> Postoperative Resection Cavity for Brain Metastasis: <u>A Frameless Linear Accelerator-Based Case Series</u> and Review of the Technique. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1;82(1):95-101. Dana-Farber/Brigham and Women's Cancer Center, Boston

Audet C, Poffenbarger BA, Chang P, Jackson PS, Lundahl RE, Ryu SI, Ray GR. Evaluation of volumetric modulated arc therapy for cranial radiosurgery using multiple noncoplanar arcs. Med Phys. 2011 Nov;38(11):5963-72. Palo Alto Medical Foundation, Palo Alto, CA

Kelly PJ, Lin YB, Yu AY, Ropper AE, Nguyen PL, Marcus KJ, Hacker FL, Weiss SE. Linear acceleratorbased stereotactic radiosurgery for brainstem metastases: the Dana-Farber/Brigham and Women's Cancer Center experience. J Neurooncol. 2011 Sep;104(2):553-7. Dana-Farber/Brigham and Women's Cancer Center, Boston

Roberge D, Souhami L. <u>Tumor bed radiosurgery following resoction of brain metastases; a review.</u> Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Dec;9(6):597-602. McGill University, Montreal

Ma Y, Li M, Yin Y, Kong L, Sun X, Lin X, Yu J. <u>Hypofractionated stareotactic radiotherapy for brain</u> metastases: a dosimetric and treatment efficiency comparison between volumetric modulated arc therapy and intensity modulated radiotherapy, *Technol Cancer Res Treat*. 2010 Oct;9(5):499-507. Shandong Tumor Hospital and Institute, Shandong Province, China.

103/2012



Stewart JG, Sawrie SM, Bag A, Han X, Fiveash JB. <u>Management of brain metastases</u>. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2010 Jul;12(4):334-46. University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL

Nath SK, Lawson JD, Simpson DR, Vanderspek L, Wang JZ, Alksne JF, Ciacci J, Mundt AJ, Murphy KT. Single-isocenter frameless intensity-modulated stereotactic radiosurgery for simultaneous treatment of multiple brain metastases: clinical experience. Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Sep 1;78(1):91-7. UCSD, San Diego, CA

Hsu F, Carolan H, Nichol A, Cao F, Nuraney N, Lee R, Gete E, Wong F, Schmuland M, Heran M, Otto K. Whole Brain Radiotherapy with Hippocampal Avoidance and Simultaneous Integrated Boost for 1-3 Brain Metastases: A Feasibility Study Using Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Apr;76(5):1480-5 BC Cancer Agency, Vancouver, British Columbia

Nath SK; Lawson JD, Wang JZ, Simpson DR, Newman CB, Alksne JF, Mundt AJ, Murphy KT. <u>Opticallyguided frameless linac-based radiosurgery for brain metastases: clinical experience.</u> J Neurooncol. 2010 Mar;97(1):67-72. University of California, San Diego

Clark GM, Popple RA, Young PE, Fiveash JB. Feasibility of single-isocenter volumetric modulated arc radiosurgery for treatment of multiple brain metastases, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jan 1;78(1):298-302. University of Alabama at Birmingham Comprehensive Cancer Center, Birmingham, AL

BRAIN - PEDIATRIC

Published

Mirza B, Mønsted A, Harding J, Ohlhues L, Roed H, Juhler M. <u>Stereotactic radiotherapy and radiosurgery in</u> pediatric patients: analysis of indications and outcome. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010 Dec;26(12):1785-93. Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital. Copenhagen, DN

BRAIN – FUNCTIONAL DISEASE

Trigeminal Neuralgia and other Pain

Published

Smith ZA, Gorguiho AA, Bezrukiy N, McArthur D, Agazaryan N, Selch MT, De Salles AA. <u>Dedicated Linear</u> <u>Accelerator Radiosurgery for Trigeminal Neuralgia</u>: <u>A Single-Center Experience in 179 Patients with Varied</u> <u>Dose Prescriptions and Treatment Plans</u>, *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2011 Sep 1;81(1):225-31. UCLA <u>Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA</u>

Dos Santos MA, Pérez de Salcedo JB, Gutiérrez Díaz JA, Nagore G, Calvo FA, Samblás J, Marsiglia H, Sallabanda K. <u>Outcome for Patients with Essential Trigeminal Neuralgia Treated with Linear Accelerator</u> <u>Stereolactic Radiosurgery</u>. Stereolact Funct Neurosurg. 2011 May 25;89(4):220-225. Instituto Madrileño de Oncologia/Grupo IMO, Madrid, Spain.

Chen JC, Rahimian J, Rahimian R, Arellano A, Miller MJ, Girvigian MR, <u>Frameless image-guided</u> radiosurgery for initial treatment of typical trigeminal neuralgia, World Neurosurg. 2010 Oct-Nov;74(4-5):538-43. Southern California Permanente Medical Group, Los Angeles, CA

BRAIN - FUNCTIONAL DISEASE

Arteriovenous Malformations and Cavernomas

Gross BA, Ropper AE, Du R. <u>Vascular complications of stereotactic radiosurgery for arteriovenous</u> maiformations. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* 2012 Aug 18. *Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, M4* [Epub ahead of print]

103/2012



Published

Subramanian S, Srinivas C, Ramalingam K, Babaiah M, Swamy ST, Arun G, Kathirvel M, Ashok S, Clivio A, Foglata A, Nicolini G, Rao KS, Reddy TP, Amit J, Vanetti E, Cozzi L. <u>Volumetric modulated arc-based</u> hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for the treatment of selected intracranial arteriovenous malformations. dosimetric report and early clinical experience. Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Mar 1;82(3):1278-84 Yashoda Super Specialty Hospital, Hyderabad, India.

Blamek S, Tarnawski R, Miszczyk L. <u>Linac-based Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Brain Atteriovenous</u> <u>Malformations</u>. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2011 Oct;23(8):525-31... Maria Sklodowska-Curle Memorial Cancer Center and Institute of Oncology, Glivrice, PO

Yuki I, Kim RH, Duckwiler G, Jahan R, Tateshima S, Gonzalez N, Gorgulho A, Diaz JL, De Salles AA, Viihuels F. Treatment of brain arteriovenous malformations with high-flow arteriovenous fistules: risk and complications associated with endovascular embolization in multimodality treatment. J Neurosurg. 2010 Oct;113(4):715-22. UCLA. Los Angeles, CA

BRAIN – FUNCTIONAL DISEASE

BRAIN – Seizure Treatment: Thalamotomy & Corpus Callosotomy Published

Golanov AV, Kornienko VN, Trunin Iulu, Kostiuchenko VV, Gorlachev GE, Gorelyshev SK, Melikian AG, Khukhlaeva EA, Mazerkina NA, Sorokin VA. <u>[Stereotactic radiosurgery in treatment of patients with</u> <u>hypothalamic hamartomas</u>] *Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im N N Burdenko*. 2010 Jan-Mar;(1):24-9.

SPINE

Spine – Metatatic Spinal Disease, Primary Spine Tumors, Vascular Spine Disease In-Press

Schipani S, Wen W, Jin JY, Kim JK, Ryu S.<u>Spine Radiosurgery: A Dosimetric Analysis in 124 Patients Who</u> <u>Received 18 Gy</u>, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Sep 10. pii: University of Glasgow, Glasgow, United Kingdom [Epub ahead of print]

Published

Selch MT, Tenn S, Agazaryan N, Lee SP, Gorgutho A, De Salles AA. Image-guided linear accelerator-based spinal radiosurgery for hemangioblastoma, Surg Neurol Int. 2012;3:73. UCLA, Los Angeles, California

Niazi TN, Bowers CA, Schmidt MH. <u>Role of adjuvant radiosurgery after thoracoscopic microsurgical</u> resection of a spinal schwannems. Case Report Neurol Med. 2012;2012:345830 University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT

Cox BW, Spratt DE, Lovelock M, Bilsky MH, Lis E, Ryu S, Sheehan J, Gerszten PC Chang E, Gibbs I, Soltys S, Sahgal A, Deasy J, Flickinger J, Quader M, Mindes S, Yamada Y. <u>International Spine</u> <u>Radiosurgery Consortium consensus guidelines for target volume definition in spinal sterectactic</u> <u>radiosurgery.</u> *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2012 Aug 1;83(5):e597-605. *Memorial Scian-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY*

Dahdal S, Andres RH, Hewer E, Reubi JC, Klaeser B, Raabe A, Cihoric N, Schmid R, Tänzler K, Krause T, Aebersold DM, Schmuecking M. <u>A rare case of a large spinal meringioma with mediastinal extension and malignant behavior classified histologically as benign</u>, Recent Results Cancer Res. 2012;194:443-55 University of Bern, Bern, SZ.

103/2012



Chao ST, Koyfman SA, Woody N, Angelov L, Soeder SL, Reddy CA, Rybicki LA, Djemil T, Suh JH. Recursive partitioning analysis index is predictive for overall survival in patients undergoing spine stereotactic body radiation therapy for spinal metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1,82(5):1738-43. Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio

Ahmed KA, Stauder MC, Miller RC, Bauer HJ, Rose PS, Olivier KR, Brown PD, Brinkmann DH, Laack NN. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy in spinal metastases</u>. Int J Rediat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):e803-9. Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN

Boehling NS, Grosshans DR, Allen PK, McAleer MF, Burton AW, Azeem S, Rhines LD, Chang EL, <u>Vertebral</u> compression fracture risk after stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases J Neurosurg Spine. 2012 Apr;16(4):379-86. The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX

Demast S, Wright J, Bilsky M, Hsu M, Zhang Z, Lovelock M, Cox B, Zatcky J, Yamada Y Impact of Dose on Local Faikure Rates after Image-Guided Reirradiation of Recurrent Paraspinal Metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Nov 1;81(3):819-26. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, NY

Bilsky MH LI, Angelov L, Rock J, Weaver J, Sheehan J, Rhines L, Azeem, S, Gerszten P. Spinal radiosurgery: A neurosurgical perspective. J Radiosurg SBRT. 2011;1:47-54. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, NY

Blamek S, Tarnawski R, Miszczyk L, <u>Linac-based Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Brain Arteriovenous</u> <u>Malformations</u> Clin Oncol (R Coll Radio). 2011 Oct;23(8):525-31... Mana Skłodowska-Curie Memorial Cancer Center and Institute of Oncology, Gliwice, PO

Dahele M, Fehlings MG, Sahgal A. <u>Stereotactic radiotherapy: an emerging treatment for spinal metastases</u>. Can J Neurol Sci. 2011 Mar;38(2):247-50. VU University Medical Centre, Amsterdam

Sahgal A, Bilsky M, Chang EL, Ma L, Yamada Y, Rhines LD, Létourneau D, Foote M, Yu E, Larson DA, Fehlings MG. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases: current status, with a focus on its</u> <u>application in the postoperative patient</u>. *J Neurosurg Spine*. 2011 Feb;14(2):151-66. Princess Margaret Hospital

Ma L, Sahgal A, Cozzi L, Chang E, Shiu A, Letourneau D, Yin FF, Fogliata A, Kaissl W, Hyde D, Laperriere NJ, Shrieve DC, Larson DA. <u>Apparatus-dependent dosimetric differences in spine stereolactic body</u> <u>radiotherapy</u>. *Technol Cancer Res Treat*. 2010 Dec;9(6):563-74. *University of California San Francisco, San Francisco*.

Harel R, Chao S, Krishnaney A, Emch T, Benzel EC, Angelov L. <u>Spine instrumentation failure after spine</u> tumor resection and radiation: comparing conventional radiotherapy with stereotactic radiosurgery outcomes. World Neurosurg. 2010 Oct-Nov;74(4-5):517-22, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio

Harel R, Angelov L. <u>Spine metastases. Current treatments and future directions.</u> Eur J Cancer. 2010 Oct;46(15):2696-707. Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH

Moulding HD, Elder JB, Lis E, Lovelock DM, Zhang Z, Yamada Y, Bilsky MH. <u>Local disease control after</u> decompressive surgery and adjuvant high-dose single-fraction radiosurgery for spine metastases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010 Jul;13(1):87-93. Memorial Hospital for Cancer and the Alfied Diseases, New York

Zhang P, Happersett L, Yang Y, Yamada Y, Mageras G, Hunt M. <u>Optimization of colimator trajectory in</u> volumetric modulated arc therapy: development and evaluation for paraspinal SBRT, Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jun 1;77(2):591-9. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY

Sahgal A, Ma L, Gibbs I, Gerszten PC, Ryu S, Soltys S, Weinberg V, Wong S, Chang E, Fowler J, Larson DA. Spinal Cord Tolerance for Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jun 1;77(2):548-53. includes Henry Ford Hospital and MD Anderson Cancer Center

103/2012



Ryu S, Rock J, Jain R, Lu M, Anderson J, Jin JY, Resemblum M, Movsas B, Kim JH. <u>Radiosurgical</u> decompression of metastatic epidural compression. Cancer. 2010 May 1;116(9):2250-7. Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit

Chang Z, Wang Z, Ma J, O'Daniel JC, Kirkpatrick J, Yin FF. <u>6D image guidance for spinal non-invasive</u> stereotactic body radiation therapy. Comparison between ExacTrac X-ray 6D with kilo-voltage cone-beam <u>CT</u>. Radiother Oncol. 2010 Apr;95(1):116-21 Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC

Itshayek E, Yamada J, Bilsky M, Schmidt M, Shaffrey C, Gerszten P, Polly D, Gokaslan Z, Varga PP, Fisher CG. <u>Timing of surgery and radiotherapy in the management of metastatic spine disease</u>, a <u>systematic</u> <u>review</u>. *Int J Oncol.* 2010 Mar;36(3):533-44. Review. *Hadassah University Hospital, Jerusalem*,

Kirkpatrick JP, van der Kogel AJ, Schultheiss TE Radiation dose-volume effects in the spinal cord. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Mar 1;76(3 Suppl):S42-9. Review. Duke University Medical Center, Durham

Lo SS, Sahgal A, Wang JZ, Mayr NA, Sloan A, Mendel E, Chang EL. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for spinal metastases, Discov Med. 2010 Apr;9(47):289-96 Ohio State University, Columbus, OH

Nguyén QN, Shiu AS, Rhines LD, Wang H, Allen PK, Wang XS, Chang EL. <u>Management of Spinal</u> <u>Metastases from Renal Cell Carcinoma Using Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Mar 15;76(4):1185-92. MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston

Kuijper IT, Dahele M, Senan S, Verbakel WF. <u>Volumetric modulated arc therapy versus conventional</u> intensity modulated radiation therapy for stereotactic spine radiotherapy: a planning study and early clinical <u>data</u>, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Feb;94(2):224-8. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam,

H&N EENT & SKULL BASE

Non-CNS Tumors of the Orbt and Head & Neck Published

Maxim PG, Loo BW Jr, Murphy JD, Chu KP, Hsu A, Le QT. On-Board Imaging Validation of Optically Guided Stereotactic Radiosurgery Positioning System for Conventionally Fractionated Radiotherapy for Paranasal Sinus and Skull Base Cancer, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Nov 15;81(4):1153-9. Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA

Rwigema JC, Heron DE, Ferris RL, Andrade RS, Gibson MK, Yang Y, Ozhasoglu C, Argiris AE, Grandis JR, Burton SA. <u>The Impact of Tumor Volume and Radiotherapy Dose on Outcome in Previously Irradiated</u> <u>Recurrent Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck Treated With Stareotactic Body Radiation</u> <u>Therapy</u>, *Am J Clin Oncol.* 2011 Aug;34(4):372-9. University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA

Heron DE, Rwigema JC, Gibson MK, Burton SA, Quinn AE, Ferris RL, <u>Concurrent Cetuximab With</u> <u>Stereotastic Body Radiotherapy for Recurrent Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck: A Single</u> <u>Institution Matched Case-Control Study</u>, Am J Clin Oncol. 2011 Apr;34(2):165-72. University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA

Kan MW, Cheung JY, Leung LH, Lau BM, Yu PK. <u>The accuracy of dose calculations by anisotropic analytical algorithms for stereotactic radiotherapy in nasopharyngeal carcinoma.</u> *Phys Med Biol.* 2010 Dec 22;56(2):397-413. *Princess Margaret Hospital, Hong Kong SAR, People's Republic of China.*

103/2012



THORACIC CANCERS

Primary and Metastatic Lung Lesions

In-Press

Ueki N, Matsuo Y, Shibuya K, Nakamura M, Narabayashi M, Sakanaka K, Norihisa Y, Mizowaki T, Hiraoka M. Differences in the dose-volume metrics with heterogeneity correction status and its influence on local control in stereotactic body radiation therapy for lung cancer. J Radiat Res. 2012 Sep 14. Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan. [Epub ahead of print]

Videtic GM, Reddy CA, Sorenson L. A prospective study of quality of life including fatigue and pulmonary function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer, Support Care Cancer, 2012 Jun 2. Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH. [Epub ahead of print]

Published

Zhang X, Liu H, Balter P, Allen PK, Komaki R, Pan T, Chuang HH, Chang JY. <u>Positron emission</u> tomography for assessing local failure after stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer. Inf J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Aug 1:83(5):1558-65. The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX

Clarke K, Taremi M, Dahele M, Freeman M, Fung S, Franks K, Bezjak A, Brade A, Cho J, Hope A, Sun A. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): is FDG-PET a predictor of</u> <u>outcome?</u> Radiother Oncol. 2012 Jul;104(1):62-6. Princess Margaret Hospital, Toronto, Canada.

Matsuo Y, Shibuya K, Nakamura M, Narabayashi M, Sakanaka K, Ueki N, Miyagi K, Norihisa Y, Mizowaki T, Nagata Y, Hiraoka M. <u>Dose-volume metrics associated with radiation pneumonilis after stereotactic body</u> radiation therapy for lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jul 15;83(4):e545-9. Kyoto University, Kyoto, JP

Stephans K. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage 1 non-small cell lung cancer</u> Cleve Clin J Med. 2012 May;79 Electronic Suppl 1:eS26-31. Review. Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH

Scorsetti M, Alongi F, Navarria P, Cortinovis D, Bidoli P. <u>Overall and disease-free survival greater than 12</u> years in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer after linear accelerator-based stereotactic radiosurgery for solitary brain metastasis, Tumori. 2012 Mar-Apr 38(2):31e-34e./RCCS (stituto Clinico Humanitas Rozzano, IT.

Mutter RW, Liu F, Abreu A, Yorke E, Jackson A, Rosenzweig KE. <u>Dose-volume parameters predict for the</u> development of chest wall pain after stereotactic body radiation for lung cancer. Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):1783-90. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY

Shibamoto Y, Hashizume C, Baba F, Ayakawa S, Manabe Y, Nagai A, Miyakawa A, Murai T, Iwata H, Mori Y, Mimura M, Ishikura S. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy using a radiobiology-based regiment for stage 1</u> nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study. Cancer. 2012 Apr 15;118(8):2078-84. Nagoya City University Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Nagoya, Japan

Dhakal S, Corbin KS, Milano MT, Philip A, Sahasrabudhe D, Jones C, Constine LS. <u>Stereotactic Body</u> <u>Radiotherapy for Pulmonary Metastases From Soft-tissue Sarcomas: Excellent Local Lesion Control and Improved Patient Survival.</u> Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Feb 1;82(2):940-5 University of Rochester, Rochester, NY.

Stephans KL, Djemil T, Tendukar RD, Robinson CG, Reddy CA, Videtic GM. <u>Prediction of Chest Wall</u> <u>Toxicity From Lung Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT)</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Feb 1;82(2):974-80. Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH.

Slotman BJ. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Jour. of Radiosurgery and SBRT. 2011 Nov-Dec; 1(2): 63–68. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

103/2012



Mehta HJ, Ross C, Silvestri GA, Decker RH. Evaluation and treatment of high-risk patients with early-stage lung cancer, Clin Chest Med. 2011 Dec;32(4):783-97. Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC

Palma DA, van Sörnsen de Koste J, Verbakel WF, Vincent A, Senan S. <u>Lung density changes after</u> stereotactic radiotherapy: a quantitative analysis in 50 patients, *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2011 Nov 15:81(4):974-8. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Welsh J, Thomas J, Shah D, Allen PK, Wei X, Mitchell K, Gao S, Balter P, Komaki R, Chang JY. <u>Obesity</u> Increases the Risk of Chest Wall Pain from Thoracic Stareotactic Body Radiation Therapy, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Sep 1;81(1):91-6. The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cencer Center, Houston

Chi A, Tomé WA, Fowler J, Komaki R, Nguyen NP, Mehta MP, Weish JS. <u>Stereotactic Body Radiation</u> <u>Therapy in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Linking Radiobiological Modeling and Clinical Outcome</u>, Am J Clin Oncol. 2011 Aug;34(4):432-41.Jun 9. University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ

Dahele M, Palma D, Lagerwaard F, Slotman B, Senan S. <u>Radiological Changes After Stereotactic</u> <u>Radiotherapy for Stage I Lung Cancer</u>, *J Thorac Oncol*. 2011 Jul;6(7):1221-8...VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Palma DA, Senan S, Haasbeek CJ, Verbakel WF, Vincent A, Lagetwaard F. <u>Radiological and Clinical</u> <u>Pneumonitis after Stereotactic Lung Radiotherapy: A Matched Analysis of Three-dimensional Conformal and</u> <u>Volumetric-modulated Arc Therapy Techniques</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Jun 1;80(2):508-13. VU Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Louie AV, Rodrigues G, Hannouf M, Lagerwaard F, Palma D, Zaric GS, Haasbeek C, Senan S. <u>Withholding</u> stereotactic radiatherapy in elderly patients with stage 1 non-small cell lung cancer and co-existing COPD is not justified: <u>Outcomes of a markey model analysis</u>, Radiother Oncol. 2011 May;99(2):161-5. London Regional Cancer Program, London, CA

Palma DA, van Sörnsen de Koste JR, Verbakel WF, Senan S. <u>A new approach to guantifying lung damage</u> after stereotactic body radiation therapy, Acta Oncol. 2011 May;50(4):509-17. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Stauder MC, Macdonald OK, Olivier KR, Call JA, Lafata K, Mayo CS, Miller RC, Brown PD, Bauer HJ, Garces YI. Early pulmonary toxicity following lung stereotactic body radiation therapy delivered in consecutive daily fractions, Radiother Oncol. 2011 May;99(2):166-71. Mayo Clinic, Rochester

Timmerman R, Heinzerling J, Abdukahman R, Choy H, Meyer JL. <u>Sterectactic body radiation therapy for</u> thoracic cancers: recommendations for patient selection, setup and therapy, Front Radiat Ther Oncol. 2011;43:395-411. University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX

Hamamoto Y, Sugawara Y, Inoue T, Kataoka M, Ochi T, Takahashi T, Sakai S. <u>Relationship between</u> pretreatment FDG uptake and local control after stereotactic body radiotheracy in stage Lnon-small-cell lung cancer: the preliminary results. Jon J Clin Oncol. 2011 Apr:41(4):462-8. Shikoku Cancer Center, Matsuyama, Ehime, JP

Matsuo Y, Shibuya K, Nagata Y, Takayama K, Norihisa Y, Mizowaki T, Narabayashi M, Sakanaka K, Hiraoka M. <u>Prognostic factors in stereotactic body radiotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer.</u> Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Mar 15;79(4):1104-11. Kyoto University. Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Japan.

Palma D, Senan S. Stereotactic radiation therapy, changing treatment paradigms for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2011 Mar;23(2):133-9. University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario & VUMC

Heinzerling JH, Kavanagh B, Timmerman RD. <u>Stereotactic ablative radiation therapy for primary lung</u> tumors, Cancer J. 2011 Jan-Feb;17(1):28-32. University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX

103/2012



Palma D, Visser O, Lagerwaard FJ, Belderbos J, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Impact of Introducing Storeotactic Lung Radiotherapy for Elderly Patients With Stage I Non-Smail-Cell Lung Cancer, A Population-Based Time-Trend Analysis, J Clin Oncol 2010 Dec 10:28(35):5153-9. Vrije Universiteit University Medical Center, Amsterdam, NL

Chen F, Matsuo Y, Yoshizawa A, Sato T, Sakai H, Bando T, Okubo K, Shibuya K, Date H. <u>Salvage lung</u> resection for non-small cell lung cancer after stereotactic body radiotherapy in initially operable patients. J Thorac Oncol. 2010 Dec;5(12):1999-2002. Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan.

Kelly P, Balter PA, Rebueno N, Sharp HJ, Liao Z, Komaki R, Chang JY. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy</u> for patients with lung cancer previously treated with thoracic radiation. Int J Rediat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Dec 1;78(5):1387-93. The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston

Ong CL, Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, Slotman BJ, Lagerwaard FJ, Senan S. <u>Sterectactic radiotherapy for</u> peripheral lung tumors: a comparison of volumetric modulated arc therapy with 3 other delivery techniques. Radiother Oncol. 2010 Dec;97(3):437-42. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

De Ruysscher D, Faivre-Finn C, Nestle U, Hurkmans CW, Le Pechoux C, Price A, Senan S. <u>European</u> organisation for research and treatment of cancer recommendations for planning and delivery of high-dose, high-precision radiotherapy for lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010 Dec 20;28(36):5301-10, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, the Netherlands & Others

Kelly P, Balter PA, Rebueno N, Sharp HJ, Liao Z, Komaki R, Chang JY. <u>Storeotactic Body Radiation</u> <u>Therapy for Patients with Lung Cancer Previously Treated with Thoracic Radiation</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Dec 1;78(5):1387-93. The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston

Burdick MJ, Stephans KL, Reddy CA, Djemil T, Srinivas SM, Videtic GM. <u>Maximum standardized uptake</u> value from staging FDG-PET/CT does not predict treatment outcome for early-stage non-email-cell lung cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2010 Nov 15;78(4):1033-9 *Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH*

Baba F, Shibamoto Y, Ogino H, Murata R, Sugle C, Iwata H, Otsuka S, Kosaki K, Nagai A, Murai T, Miyakawa A. <u>Clinical outcomes of stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer using different doses depending on tumor size.</u> Radiat Oncol. 2010 Sep 17:5(1):81. Nagoya City University, Nagoya, JP

Buyyounouski MK, Balter P, Lewis B, D'Ambrosio DJ, Dilling TJ, Miller RC, Schefter T, Tomé W, Harris EE, Price RA Jr, Konski AA, Wallner PE. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung</u> <u>cancer: roport of the ASTRO Emerging Technology Committee.</u> Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Sep 1;78(1):3-10. Includes University of Colorado

Crabtree TD, Denlinger CE, Meyers BF, El Naga I, Zoole J, Krupnick AS, Kreisel D, Patterson GA, Bradley JD. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus surgical resection for stage 1 non-small cell lung cancer</u>, *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2010 Aug;140(2):377-86. *Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis*, MO

van Dam IE, van Sörnsen de Koste JR, Hanna GG, Muirhead R, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Improving target delineation on 4-dimensional CT scans in stage I NSCLC using a deformable registration tool, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Jul;96(1):67-72. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam,

Trovo M, Linda A, El Naga I, Javidan-Nejad C, Bradley J. <u>Early and late lung radiographic injury following</u> stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), Lung Cancer. 2010 Jul;69(1):77-85. Washington University Medical Center, St. Louis

Robinson CG, Bradley JD. <u>The Treatment of Early-Stage Disease</u>, Semin Radiat Oncol. 2010 Jul;20(3):178-185. Washington University School of Medicine. St. Louis

103/2012



Huang L, Park K, Boike T, Lee P, Papiez L, Solberg T, Ding C, Timmerman RD <u>A study on the dosimetric</u> accuracy of treatment planning for stereotactic body radiation therapy of lung cancer using average and maximum intensity projection images, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Jul 96(1):48-54. The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas

Bradley JD, El Naga I, Drzymala RE, Trovo M, Jones G, Denning MD. <u>Sterectactic body radiation therapy</u> for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: the pattern of failure is distant, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jul 15;77(4):1146-50 Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO

Videtic GM, Stephans K, Reddy C, Gajdos S, Kolar M, Clouser E, Djemil T. <u>Intensity-modulated</u> radiotherapy-based stereotactic body radiotherapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer excellent local control. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jun 1:77(2):344-9. Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland

Das M, Abdelmaksoud MH, Loo BW Jr, Kothary N. <u>Alternatives to surgery for early stage non-small cell lung</u> cancer-ready for prime time? Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2010 Jun; 11(1-2):24-35. Stanford University and Cancer Center, Stanford, CA

Hadziahmetovic M, Loo BW, Timmerman RD, Mayr NA, Wang JZ, Huang Z, Grecula JC, Lo SS. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy (stereotactic ablative radiotherapy) for stage I non-small cell lung cancer--updates of radiobiology, techniques, and clinical outcomes.</u> Discov Med. 2010 May;9(48):411-7 Ohio State University, Columbus, OH

Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, Michalski J, Straube W, Bradley J, Fakiris A, Bezjak A, Videtic G, Johnstone D, Fowler J, Gore E, Choy H. <u>Stareotactic body radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung</u> <u>cancer</u>, JAMA. 2010 Mar 17;303(11):1070-6. University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX

Jin JY, Kong FM, Chetty IJ, Ajlouni M, Ryu S, Ten Haken R, Movsas B. <u>Impact of fraction size on lung</u> radiation toxicity: hypofractionation may be beneficial in dose escalation of radiotherapy for lung cancers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Mar 1;76(3):782-8. Henry Ford Hospital. Detroit, MI

Dunlap NE, Cai J, Biedermann GB, Yang W, Benedict SH, Sheng K, Schefter TE, Kavanagh BD, Larner JM. <u>Chest Wall Volume Receiving >20 Gy Predicts Risk of Severe Pain and/or Rib Fracture After Lung</u> <u>Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Mar 1;76(3):796-801. University of Colorado Comprehensive Cancer Center, Denver and University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA

Chi A, Liao Z, Nguyen NP, Xu J, Stea B, Komaki R, Systemic review of the patterns of failure following stereotactic body radiation therapy in early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer: clinical implications. Radiother Oncol: 2010 Jan;94(1):1-11. University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ

GI CANCERS

Primary and Metastatic Liver Tumors, Pancreas, Adrenals Published

Price TR, Perkins SM, Sandrasegaran K, Henderson MA, Maluccio MA, Zook JE, Tector AJ, Vianna RM, Johnstone PA, Cardenes HR <u>Evaluation of response after stereofactic body radiotherapy for hepatocellular</u> <u>carcinoma</u>. Cancer 2012 Jun 15;118(12):3191-8. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26404 Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN.

103/2012



Ibarra RA, Rojas D, Snyder L, Yao M, Fabien J, Milano M, Katz A, Goodman K, Stephans K, El-Gazzaz G, Aucejo F, Miller C, Fung J, Lo S, Machtay M, Sanabria JR. <u>Multicenter results of stereotactic body</u> radiotherapy (SBRT) for non-resectable primary liver tumors, Acta Oncol. 2012 May;51(5):575-83. University Hospitals-Case Medical Center, OH, Cleveland Clinic, OH, Memorial Sloan-Kettering, NY, Univ of Rochester, NY

Facciuto ME, Singh MK, Rochon C, Sharma J, Gimenez C, Katta U, Moorthy CR, Bentley-Hibbert S, Rodriguez-Davalos M, Wolf DC. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma and</u> <u>cirrhosis</u>: <u>Evaluation of radiological and pathological response</u>. J Surg Oncol. 2012 Jun 1;105(7):692-8. *Mount Sinai Medical Center, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, NY*

Rvigema JC, Heron DE, Parikh SD, Zeh HJ 3rd, Moser JA, Bahary N, Ashby K, Burton SA, <u>Adjuvant</u> <u>Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for Resected Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma with Close or Positive Margins</u>, J Gastrointest Cancer. 2012 Mar;43(1):70-6. University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA

Mancosu P, Castiglioni S, Reggiori G, Catalano M, Alongi F, Pellegrini C, Arcangeli S, Tozzi A, Lobefalo F, Foglista A, Navarria P, Cozzi L, Scorsetti M. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy for liver tumours using</u> flattening filter free beam: dosimetric and technical considerations, Radiat Oncol. 2012 Feb 1;7(1):16. *IRCCS 1stituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, IT*

Andolino DL, Johnson CS, Matuccio M, Kwo P, Tector AJ, Zook J, Johnstone PA, Cardenes HR. <u>Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for Primary Hepatocellular Carcinoma</u>, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Nov 15;81(4), Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN

Bignardi M, Navarria P, Mancosu P, Cozzi L, Fogliata A, Tozzi A, Castiglioni S, Carnaghi C, Tronconi MC, Santoro A, Scorsetti M. <u>Clinical Outcome of Hypofractionated Storeotactic Radiotherapy for Abdominal</u> <u>Lymph Node Metastases</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Nov 1;81(3):831-8. Istituto Clinico Humanitas. Rozzano. Italy

Schellenberg D, Kim J, Christman-Skieller C, Chun CL, Columbo LA, Ford JM, Fisher GA, Kunz PL, Van Dam J, Quon A, Desser TS, Norton J, Hsu A, Maxim PG, Xing L, Goodman KA, Chang DT, Koong AC. <u>Single-Fraction Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy and Sequential Generatabre for the Treatment of Locally Advanced Pancreatic Cancer</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Sep 1;81(1):181-8. BC Cancer Agency, Surrey, British Columbia and Stanford University. Palo Alto, CA

Scorsetti M, Bignardi M, Alongi F, Fogliata A, Mancosu P, Navarria P, Castiglioni S, Pentimalli S, Tozzi A, Cozzi L. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for abdominal targets using volumetric intensity modulated arc therapy with RapidArc⁺⁺. feasibility and clinical preliminary results, Acta Oncol. 2011 May;50(4):528-38. *IRCCS Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, Ifaly.*

Scorsetti M, Mancosu P, Navarria P, Tozzi A, Castiglioni S, Clerici E, Reggiori G, Lobefalo F, Fogliata A, Cozzi L Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for adrenal metastases : a feasibility study of advanced techniques with modulated photons and protons. Strahlenther Onkol. 2011 Apr;187(4):238-44. Istituto Clinico Humanifas. Rozzano-Milan. (T.

Minn AY, Koong AC, Chang DT. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy for gastrointestinal malignancies.</u> Front Radiat Ther Oncol. 2011;43:412-27 Stanford University Medical Center, Stanford, CA

Rule W, Timmerman R, Tong L, Abdulrahman R, Meyer J, Boike T, Schwarz RE, Weatherall P, Chinsoo Cho L, <u>Phase I Dose-Escalation Study of Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy in Patients With Hepatic</u> <u>Metastases</u>. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011 Apr;18(4):1081-7. University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, TX

Park JC, Park SH, Kim JH, Yoon SM, Kim SS, Kim JS, Liu Z, Watkins T, Song WY. <u>Four-dimensional conabeam computed tomography and digital tomosynthesis reconstructions using respiratory signals extracted</u> from transcutaneously inserted metal markers for liver SBRT. Med Phys. 2011 Feb;38(2):1028-36. University of California San Diego, La Jolla, California

103/2012



Torok J, Wegner RE, Burton SA, Heron DE. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy for adrenal metastases: a retrospective review of a noninvasive therapeutic strategy</u>. *Future Oncol.* 2011 Jan;7(1):145-51. University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA

Iwata H, Shibamoto Y, Hashizume C, Mori Y, Kobayashi T, Hayashi N, Kosaki K, Ishikawa T, Kuzuya T, Utsunomiya S. <u>Hypofractionated sterestactic body radiotherapy for primary and metastatic liver tumors using</u> the novalis image-guided system: preliminary results regarding efficacy and toxicity. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Dec;9(6):619-27. Nagoya City University Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Nagoya, JP

Murphy JD, Christman-Skieller C, Kim J, Dieterich S, Chang DT, Koong AC. <u>A. dosimetric model of duodenal</u> toxicity after stereolactic body radiotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Dec 1;78(5):1420-8. Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA

Goodman KA, Wiegner EA, Maturen KE, Zhang Z, Mo Q, Yang G, Gibbs IC, Fisher GA, Koong AC. Dose-Escalation Study of Single-Fraction Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for Liver Malignancies, Int J Rediat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Oct 1;78(2):488-93. Memorial Siban-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY

Case RB, Moseley DJ, Sonke JJ, Eccles CL, Dinniwell RE, Kim J, Bezjak A, Milosevic M, Brock KK, Dawson LA. Interfraction and intrafraction changes in amplitude of breathing motion in stereotactic liver radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jul 1;77(3):918-25. Princess Margaret Hospital, Toronto, Ontario

Eppinga W, Lagerwaard F, Verbakel W, Slotman B, Senan S. <u>Volumetric modulated arc therapy for</u> advanced pancreatic cancer. Strahlenther Onkol. 2010 Jul;186(7):382-7. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, NL

Sawrie SM, Fiveash JB, Caudell JJ. <u>Sterectactic body radiation therapy for liver metastases and primary</u> hepatocellular carcinoma: normal lissue tolerances and toxicity, Cancer Control. 2010 Apr;17(2):111-9 University of Alabama

Cardenes HR, Price TR, Perkins SM, Maluccio M, Kwo P, Breen TE, Henderson MA, Schefter TE, Tudor K, Deluca J, Johnstone PA. <u>Phase I feasibility trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for primary</u> <u>hepatocellular carcinoma</u>. *Clin Transl Oncol.* 2010 Mar;12(3):218-25. *Indiane University School of Medicine*, *Indianapolis, IN*

Kopek N, Holt MI, Hansen AT, Høyer M. <u>Stereotactic body radiotherepy for unresectable</u> <u>cholangiscarcinoma</u>, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Jan;94(1):47-52. Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus C, Denmark

PROSTATE, KIDNEY AND GU CANCERS

Primary and Metastatic GU Neoplasms

In-Press

Ranck MC, Golden DW, Corbin KS, Hasselle MD, Liauw SL, Stadler WM, Hahn OM, Weichselbaum RR, Salama JK. <u>Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy for the Treatment of Oligometastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma.</u> Am J Clin Oncol. 2012 Aug 2. Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC. [Epub ahead of print]

Published

Arcangeli S, Scorsetti M, Alongi F. <u>Will SBRT replace conventional radiotherapy in patients with lowintermediate risk prostate cancer? A review.</u> Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012 Oct;84(1):101-8 Humanitas Cancer Center, Rozzano, Milano, Italy

Hodges JC, Lotan Y, Boike TP, Benton R, Barrier A, Timmerman RD. <u>Cost-effectiveness analysis of</u> storeotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated radiation therapy: an emerging initial radiation treatment option for organ-confined prostate cancer, J Oncol Pract. 2012 May;8(3 Suppl):e31s-7s University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, TX; and Northern Michigan Health, Petoskey, MI.

103/2012



Jhaveri PM, Teh BS, Paulino AC, Blanco AI, Lo SS, Butler EB, Amato RJ. <u>A dose-response relationship for</u> time to bone pain resolution after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for renal cell carcinoma (RCC) bony metastases. Acta Oncol. 2012 May:51(5):584-8 Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX

Zelefsky MJ, Greco C, Motzer R, Magsanoc JM, Pei X, Lovelock M, Mechalakos J, Zatcky J, Fuks Z, Yamada Y, <u>Tumor Control Outcomes After Hypofractionated and Sinale-Dose Stereotactic Image-Guided</u> <u>Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy for Extracranial Metastases From Renal Cell Carcinoma</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):1744-8. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY

Ishiyama H, Teh BS, Lo SS, Mathews T, Blanco A, Amato R, Ellis RJ, Mayr NA, Paulino AC, Xu B, Butler BE. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer</u>. *Future Oncol.* 2011 Sep;7(9):1077-86. The Methodist Hospital & Research Institute, Houston, TX

Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, Derose P, Xie XJ, Yan J, Foster R, Pistenmaa D, Perkins A, Cooley S, Timmerman R, Phase I done-escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011 May 20:29(15):2020-6. University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, TX

Biagioli MC, Hoffe SE. <u>Emerging technologies in prostate cancer radiation therapy: improving the</u> therapeutic window. Cancer Control. 2010 Oct;17(4):223-32. Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL.

Teh BS, Ishiyama H, Mathews T, Xu B, Butler EB, Mayr NA, Lo SS, Lu JJ, Blanco AI, Paulino AC, Timmerman RD <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for genitourinary malignancies</u>, Discov Med, 2010 Sep;10(52):255-62. The Methodist Hospital, Houston, Texas

Zhang P, Happersett L, Hunt M, Jackson A, Zelefsky M, Mageras G. <u>Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy</u> <u>Planning and Evaluation for Prostate Cancer Cases</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Apr;76(5):1458-62. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY

EXTRACRANIAL DISEASE – MIXED TARGETS

X-CRANIAL/nonCNS-OTHER In-Press

Salama JK, Kirkpatrick JP, Yin FF, <u>Stereotactic body radiotherapy treatment of extracranial metastases</u>, Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2012 Sep 25. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.166. Duke Cancer Institute, Durham, NC [Epub ahead of print]

GENERAL RADIOSURGERY & SABR

General Applications of Radiosurgery & Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy Published

Clark GM, Poppie RA, Prendergast BM, Spencer SA, Thomas EM, Stewart JG, Gutherie BL, Markert JM, Fivessn JB. Plan quality and treatment planning technique for single isocenter cranial radiosurgery with volumetric modulated arc therapy Practical Radiation Oncology, 2012 Oct; 2(4):306-313 The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL

Roa DE, Schiffner DC, Zhang J, Dietrich SN, Kuo JV, Wong J, Ramsinghani NS, Al-Ghazi MS. <u>The use of</u> <u>RapidArc volumetric-modulated arc therapy to deliver stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body</u> radiotherapy to intracranial and extracranial targets. *Med Dosim.* 2012 Autumn;37(3):257-64. University of California, Irvine-Medical Center, Orange. CA.

103/2012



Ong CL, Verbakel WF, Dahele M, Cuijpers JP, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Fast Arc Delivery for Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy of Vertebral and Lung Tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 May 1;83(1):e137-43. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Roos DE, Brophy BP, Taylor J. Lessons from a <u>17-Year Radiosurgery Experience at the Royal Adelaide</u> <u>Hospital</u>, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1;82(1):102-6. University of Adelaide, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia

Prendergast, B, Popple R, Clark G, Spencer S, Guthrie B, Markert J, Fiveash J. <u>Improved clinical efficiency</u> in <u>CNS stereotactic radiosurgery using a flattening filter free linear accelerator</u>, *Jour. of Radiosurgery and* SBRT, 2011 Nov-Dec; 1(2): 117–122. The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AB

Audet C, Poffenbarger BA, Chang P, Jackson PS, Lundahl RE, Ryu SI, Ray GR. <u>Evaluation of volumetric</u> modulated arc therapy for cranial radiosurgery using multiple noncoplanar arcs. *Med Phys.* 2011 Nov;38(11):5863-72. *Palo Alto Medical Foundation, Palo Alto, CA*

Milano MT, Usuki KY, Waiter KA, Clark D, Schell MC. <u>Stereotactic radiosurgery and hypofractionated</u> stereotactic radiotherapy: Normal tissue dose constraints of the central nervous system, Cancer Treat Rev. 2011 Nov;37(7):567-78. University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester

Pan H, Simpson DR, Mell LK, Mundt AJ, Lawson JD. <u>A survey of stereotactic body radiotherapy use in the</u> <u>United States</u>, Cancer. 2011 Oct 1;117(19):4566-72. University of California at San Diego, La Jolia, California.

Scorsetti M, Alongi F, Castiglioni S, Clivio A, Fogliata A, Lobefalo F, Mancosu P, Navarria P, Palumbo V, Pellegrini C, Pentimalli S, Reggiori G, Ascolese AM, Roggio A, Arcangeli S, Tozzi A, Vanetti E, Cozzi L. Feasibility and early clinical assessment of flattening filter free (FFF) based stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) treatments, Radiat Oncol. 2011 Sep 12;6:113. IRCCS Istitute Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, Italy

Geneser SE, Hinkle JD, Kirby RM, Wang B, Salter B, Joshi S. <u>Quantifying variability in radiation dose due to</u> respiratory-induced tumor motion. Med Image Anal. 2011 Aug; 15(4):840-9... University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT

Tanyi JA, Kato CM, Chen Y, Chen Z, Fuss M. <u>Impact of the high-definition multileaf collimator on linear</u> accelerator-based intracranial stereotactic radiosurgery. Br J Radiol. 2011 Jul;84(1003):829-38. Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR

Jin JY, Wen N, Ren L, Glide-Hurst C, Chetty IJ. <u>Advances in treatment techniques: arc-based and other</u> intensity modulated therapies. Cancer J. 2011 May-Jun;17(3):166-76. Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, M.

Kavanagh BD, Miften M, Rabinovitch RA. <u>Advances in treatment techniques: stereotactic body radiation</u> therapy and the spread of hypofractionation. Cancer J. 2011 May-Jun;17(3):177-81. University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurore, CO.

Timmerman R, Bastasch M, Saha D, Abdulrahman R, Hittson W, Story M. <u>Stereotactic body radiation</u> (herapy, normal <u>basic</u> and <u>tumor control effects with large dose per fraction</u>, Front Radiat Ther Orcol. 2011;43:382-94. University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX

Kavanagh BD, Timmerman R, Meyer JL. The expanding roles of stereotactic body radiation therapy and oligofractionation: toward a new practice of radiotherapy. Front Radiat Ther Oncol. 2011;43:370-81 University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, Colo

Nagata Y, Wulf J, Lax I, Timmerman R, Zimmermann F, Stojkovski I, Jeremic B. <u>Stereotactic radiotherapy of</u> primary lung cancer and other targets, results of consultant meeting of the International Atomic Energy <u>Agency</u>. Int J Radiet Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Mar 1;79(3):660-9. Hiroshima University Hospital, Hiroshima, JP

103/2012



Hong LX, Garg M, Lasala P, Kim M, Mah D, Chen CC, Yaparpalvi R, Mynampati D, Kuo HC, Guha C, Kalnicki S. Experience of micromultileal collimator linear accelerator based single fraction stereotactic radiosurgery: tumor dose inhomogeneity, conformity, and dose fall off. Med Phys. 2011 Mar;38(3):1239-47. Montefore: Medical Center and Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, New York

Mayo CS, Ding L, Addesa A, Kadish S, Fitzgerald TJ, Moser R. <u>Initial experience with volumetric IMRT</u> (RapidArc) for intracranial stereotactic radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Dec 1;78(5):1457-66. University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA

Verbakel WF, Lagerwaard FJ, Verduin AJ, Heukelom S, Slotman BJ, Cuijpers JP. <u>The accuracy of</u> frameless stereolactic intracranial radiosurgery, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Dec.97(3):390-4. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Lo SS, Teh BS, Mayr NA, Olencki TE, Wang JZ, Grecula JC, Lu JJ, Timmerman RD, <u>Stereotactic body</u> radiation therapy for oligometastases. Discov Med. 2010 Sep;10(52):247-54. Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio

Wolff HA, Wagner DM, Christiansen H, Hess CF, Vonwerk H. Single fraction radiosurgery using Rapid Arc for treatment of intracranial targets, Radiat Oncol. 2010 Sep 13;5:77. Universitätsmedizin Göttingen, Germany

Benedict SH, Yenice KM, Followill D, Galvin JM, Hinson W, Kavanagh B, Keall P, Lovelock M, Meeks S, Papiez L, Purdie T, Sadagopan R, Schell MC, Salter B, Schleisinger DJ, Shiu AS, Solberg T, Song DY, Stieber V, Timmerman R, Tomé WA, Vetellen D, Wang L, Yin FF. <u>Stereotactic body radiation therapy: the teport of AAPM Task Group 101</u>, *Med Phys.* 2010 Aug;37(8):4078-101. *University of Virginia Health System*, *Charlottesville*, *Virginia*

Brown JM, Diehn M, Loo BW Jr. <u>Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy should be combined with a hypoxic cell</u> radiosensitizer. Int J Rediat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Oct 1;78(2):323-7. Stanford University School of Medicine, CA

Popple RA, Fiveash JB, Brezovich IA, Bonner JA. <u>RapidArc[®]</u> radiation therapy: first year experience at the University of Alabama at Birmingham. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jul 1;77(3):932-41. The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama

Dhabaan A, Elder E, Schreibmann E, Crocker I, Curran WJ, Oyesiku NM, Shu HK, Fox T. <u>Dosimetric</u> performance of the new high-definition multileaf collimator for intracranial stereotactic radiosurgery. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2010 Jun 21;11(3):3040 Emory University, Atlanta

Schoonbeek A, Monshouwer R, Hanssens P, Raaijmakers E, Nowak P, Marijnissen JP, Lagerwaard FJ, Cuijpers JP, Vonk EJ, van der Maazen RW. <u>Intracranial radiosurgery in the Netherlands. A planning comparison of available systems with regard to physical aspects and workload.</u> Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010 Jun;9(3):279-90 Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen and VU Amsterdam.

Ramakrishna N, Rosca F, Friesen S, Tezcanli E, Zygmanszki P, Hacker F. <u>A clinical comparison of patient</u> setup and intra-fraction motion using frame-based radiosurgery versus a frameless image-guided radiosurgery system for intracranial lesions, Radiother Oncol 2010 Apr;95(1):109-15 Brigham and Women's Hospital and Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA

Cerviño LI, Pawlicki T, Lawson JD, Jiang SB. Frame-less and mask-less cranial stereotactic radiosurgery a feasibility study. Phys Med Biol. 2010 Apr 7;55(7):1863-73 University of California San Diego, La Jolla, CA

Milano MT, Katz AW, Okunieff P. <u>Patterns of Recurrence After Curative-Intent Radiation for</u> <u>Oligometastases Confined to One Organ.</u> Am J Clin Oncol. 2010 Apr;33(2):157-63 University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York

103/2012



TECHNICAL

Published

Tumor Targeting & Treatment Accuracy & Delivery Speed

Ram TS, Badkul R, Maraboyina S, Wang F. A comparative study to evaluate the efficacy of on board imaging with cone beam CT using target registration in patients with lung tumors undergoing stereotactic body radiation therapy and comparison with ExacTrac using skeletal registration on Novalis Tx, J Cancer Res Ther. 2011 Jul-Sep;7(3):304-7 Christian Medical College, Vellore, Tamil Nadu, India

Li R, Mok E, Chang DT, Daly M, Loo BW Jr, Diehn M, Le QT, Koong A, Xing L. Intrafraction verification of gated RapidArc by using beam-level kilovoltage X-ray images. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Aug 1;83(5):e709-15 Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, California

Gevaert T, Verellen D, Tournel K, Linthout N, Bral S, Engels B, Collen C, Depuydt T, Duchateau M, Reynders T, Storme G, De Ridder M, <u>Setup Accuracy of the Novalis ExacTrac SDOF System for Frameless</u> <u>Radiosurgery</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Apr 1;82(5):1627-35. Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, BE

Kim J, Jin JY, Walls N, Nurushev T, Movsas B, Chetty IJ, Ryu S. Image-Guided Localization Accuracy of Stereoscopic Planar and Volumetric Imaging Methods for Stereotactic Radiation Surgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy: A Phantom Study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Apr 1;79(5):1588-96. Henry Ford Health Systems, Detroit, MI

Verbakel WF, Lagenvaard FJ, Verduin AJ, Heukelom S, Slotman BJ, Cuijpers JP. <u>The accuracy of</u> <u>frameless stereotactic intracranial radiosurgery</u>. Radiother Oncol. 2010 Dec;97(3):390-4. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Ali I, Tubbs J, Hibbitts K, Algan O, Thompson S, Herman T, Ahmad S. <u>Evaluation of the setup accuracy of a</u> stereotactic radiotherapy head immobilization mask system using kV on-board imaging. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2010 May 20;11(3):3192 University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK

TECHNICAL

Image-Guidance

Published

Josipovic M, Persson GF, Logadottir A, Smulders B, Westmann G, Bangsgaard JP. <u>Translational and</u> rotational intra- and inter-fractional errors in patient and target position during a short course of frameless <u>stereotactic body radiotherapy</u>. Acta Oncol. 2012 May 51(5):610-7 Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Ren L, Chetty IJ, Zhang J, Jin JY, Jackie Wu Q, Yan H, Brizel DM, Robert Lee W, Movsas B, Yin FF. <u>Development and Clinical Evaluation of a Three-Dimensional Cone-Beam Computed Tomography</u> <u>Estimation Method Using a Deformation Field Map.</u> *Int J Rediat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2012 Apr 1:82(5):1584-93. *Henry Ford Health System. Detroit, Ml.*

Zhu J. Feasibility of using cone-beam CT to verify and reposition the optically guided target localization of linear accelerator based stereotactic radiosurgery. Med Phys. 2011 Jan;38(1):390-6. Provena Saint Joseph Medical Center, Jollet, IL

Jin JY, Ren L, Liu Q, Kim J, Wen N, Guan H, Movsas B, Chetty IJ. <u>Combining scatter reduction and correction to improve image guality in cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT)</u>. Med Phys. 2010 Nov;37(11):5634-44. Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, MI.

Worm ES, Hansen AT, Petersen JB, Muren LP, Præstegaard LH, Høyer M. Inter- and intrafractional localisation errors in cone-beam CT guided stereotactic radiation therapy of tumours in the liver and lung. Acta Oncol. 2010 Oct;49(7):1177-83. Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark.

103/2012



Liu W, Wiersma RD, Xing L. <u>Optimized hybrid megavoltage-kilovoltage imaging protocol for volumetric</u> prostate are therapy. Int J Rediet Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Oct 1;78(2):595-604. Stanford University School of Medicine, California

Chang Z, Wang Z, Ma J, O'Daniel JC, Kirkpatrick J, Yin FF. <u>6D image guidance for spinal non-invasive</u> stereotactic body radiation therapy. <u>Comparison between Exac Trac X-ray 5D with kilo-voltage cone-beam</u> <u>CT</u>, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Apr.95(1):116-21 Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC

TECHNICAL

MOTION TRACKING, MANAGEMENT & COMPENSATION Published

Keall PJ, Sawant A, Cho B, Ruan D, Wu J, Poulsen P, Petersen J, Newell LJ, Cattell H, Korreman S. Electromagnetic-Guided Dynamic Multileat Collimator Tracking Enables Motion Management for Intensity-Modulated Arc Therapy, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Jan 1;79(1):312-20 Stanford University Medical Center

Peng JL, Kahler D, Li JG, Samant S, Yan G, Amdur R, Liu C. <u>Characterization of a real-time surface imageguided stereotactic positioning system</u>, Med Phys. 2010 Oct;37(10):5421-33. Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, South Carolina

Vereilen D, Depuydt T, Gevaert T, Linthout N, Tournel K, Duchateau M, Reynders T, Storme G, De Ridder M. <u>Gating and tracking</u>, 4D in thoracic tumours, Cancer Radiother. 2010 Oct;14(6-7):446-54. UZ Brussel, Brussels

Poulsen PR, Cho B, Ruan D, Sawant A, Keall PJ. <u>Dynamic multileal collimator tracking of respiratory target</u> motion based on a single kilovoltage imager during arc radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jun 1;77(2):600-7. Stanford University, Stanford, California

Ramakrishna N, Rosca F, Friesen S, Tezcanli E, Zygmanszki P, Hacker F. <u>A clinical comparison of patient</u> setup and intra-fraction motion using frame-based radiosurgery versus a frameless image-guided radiosurgery system for intracranial lesions, Radiofiner Oncol. 2010 Apr;95(1):109-15. Brigham and Women's Hospital and Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Bostori, MA

TECHNICAL

Dose - Radiation Delivery - Radiobiology

Published

Weber DC, Zilli T, Vallee JP, Rouzaud M, Miralbell R, Cozzi L. <u>Intensity modulated proton and photon</u> therapy for early prostate cancer with or without transperineal injection of a polyethylen giveol spacer; a treatment planning comparison study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Nov 1;84(3):e311-8. Geneva University Hospital, Geneva, Switzerland.

Fogliata A, Nicolini G, Clivio A, Vanetti E, Cozzi L. <u>Accuracy of Acuros[®] XB and AAA dose calculation for</u> <u>small fields with reference to RapidArc[®] storeotactic treatments</u>, *Med Phys.* 2011 Nov;38(11):6228-37. Oncology Institute of Southern Switzerland, Bellinzona, Switzerland

Milano MT, Usuki KY, Walter KA, Clark D, Schell MC. <u>Stareotactic radiosurgery and hypofractionated</u> stareotactic radiotherapy: Normal tissue dose constraints of the central nervous system, Cancer Treat Rev. 2011 Nov;37(7):567-78. University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, NY

103/2012



Ong CL, Cuijpers JP, Senan S, Slotman BJ, Verbakel WF. Impact of the calculation resolution of AAA for small fields and RapidArc[®] treatment plans. Med Phys. 2011 Aug;38(8):4471-9 VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Ong C, Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, Slotman BJ, Senan S. <u>Dosimetric Impact of Interplay Effect on RapidArc</u> <u>Lung Stereotactic Treatment Delivery.</u> Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Jan 1;79(1):305-11. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam

Qian J, Xing L, Liu W, Luxton G. <u>Dose verification for respiratory-gated volumetric modulated arc therapy</u>. Phys Med Biol. 2011 Aug 7:56(15):4827-38. Stanford University Medical Center, Stanford, CA

Jin JY, Wen N, Ren L, Glide-Hurst C, Chetty IJ. <u>Advances in treatment techniques: arc-based and other</u> intensity modulated therapies. Cancer J. 2011 May-Jun;17(3):166-76 Henry Ford Health System. Detroit, MI.

Fog LS, Rasmussen JF, Aznar M, Kjær-Kristoffersen F, Vogelius IR, Engelholm SA, Bangsgaard JP, <u>A</u> <u>closer look at RapidArc® radiosurgery plans using very small fields</u>. *Phys Med Biol*. 2011 Mar 21;56(6):1853-63. *Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Derimark*.

Fogliata A, Bergström S, Cafaro I, Clivio A, Cozzi L, Dipasquale G, Hällström P, Mancosu P, Navarria P, Nicolini G, Parietti E, Pesce GA, Richetti A, Scorsetti M, Vanetti E, Weber DC <u>Cranio-spinal irradiation with</u> <u>volumetric modulated arc therapy. A multi-institutional breatment experience</u>. Radiother Oncol. 2011 Apr;99(1):79-85. Oncology Institute of Southern Switzerland, Bellinzona, Switzerland.

Yu CX, Tang G.Intensity-modulated arc therapy_principles, technologies and clinical implementation_Phys Med Biol. 2011 Mar 7;56(5):R31-54. University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD

Ong C. Verbakel WF, Cuijpers JP, Slotman BJ, Senan S. <u>Dosimetric Impact of Interplay Effect on RapidArc</u> Lung <u>Stereotactic Treatment Delivery</u>. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Jan 1;79(1):305-11. VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam

Zamora DA, Riegel AC, Sun X, Balter P, Starkschall G, Mawlawi O, Pan T. <u>Thoracic target volume</u> desineation using various maximum-intensity projection computed tomography image sets for radiotherapy treatment planning. Med Phys. 2010 Nov;37(11):5811-20. The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX

Korreman SS, Ulrich S, Bowen S, Deveau M, Bentzen SM, Jeraj R. Feasibility of dose painting using volumetric modulated arc optimization and delivery. Acte Oncol. 2010 Oct;49(7):964-71. University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health. Madison, WI

Fragoso M, Wen N, Kumar S, Liu D, Ryu S, Movsas B, Munther A, Chetty IJ. <u>Dosimetric verification and</u> clinical evaluation of a new commercially available Monte Carto-based dose algorithm for application in stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) treatment planning, *Phys Med Biol*, 2010 Aug 21;55(16):4445-64. *Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, M*

Faygelman V, Hunt D, Walker L, Mueller R, Demarco ML, Dilling T, Stevens C, Zhang G. <u>Validation of</u> <u>Pinnacle treatment planning system for use with Novalis delivery unit.</u> J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2010 Jun 15;11(3):3240 H. Lee Molfitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL

Truman JP, Garcia-Barros M, Kaag M, Hambardzumyan D, Stancevic B, Chan M, Fuks Z, Kolesnick R, Haimovitz-Friedman A. Endothelial Membrane Remodeling Is Obligate for Anti-Angiogenic Radiosensitization during Tumor Radiosurgery, PLoS One. 2010 Aug 19:5(8). pli: e12310. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, NY

Dhabaan A, Elder E, Schreibmann E, Crocker I, Curran WJ, Oyesiku NM, Shu HK, Fox T. <u>Dosimetric</u> performance of the new high-definition multileaf collimator for intracranial stereotactic radiosurgery, *J Appl Clin Med Phys.* 2010 Jun 21;11(3):3040 Emory University, Atlanta, GA

103/2012



Fragoso M, Wen N, Kumar S, Liu D, Ryu S, Movsas B, Munther A, Chetty JJ. <u>Dosimetric verification and</u> clinical evaluation of a new commercially available. Monte Carlo-based dose algorithm for application in <u>stereotactic body redistion therapy (SBRT) treatment planning</u>. *Phys Med Biol.* 2010 Jul 29:55(16):4445-4464. Henry Ford Health Systems, Detroit, MI

Petoukhova AL, van Wingerden K, Wiggenraad RG, van de Vaart PJ, van Egmond J, Franken EM, van Santvoort JP. <u>Verification measurements and clinical avaluation of the iPlan RT Monte Carlo dose algorithm</u> for 6 MV photon energy, Phys Med Biol 2010 Jul 29;55(16):4601-4614. The Hague, The Netherlands.

Mancosu P, Navarría P, Bignardi M, Cozzi L, Fogliata A, Lattuada P, Santoro A, Urso G, Vigorito S, Scorsetti M. Re-irradiation of metastatic spinal cord compression: a feasibility study by volumetric-modulated arc radiotherapy for in-field recurrence creating a dosimetric hole on the central canal, Radiother Oncol. 2010 Jan;94(1):67-70. IRCCS Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozzano, Italy.

TECHNICAL

PERFORMANCE - QA/QC Published

Kim J, Wen N, Jin JY, Walls N, Kim S, Li H, Ren L, Huang Y, Doemer A, Faber K, Kunkel T, Batawi A, Garbarino K, Levin K, Patel S, Ajlouni M, Miller B, Nurushev T, Huntzinger C, Schulz R, Chetty IJ, Movsas B, Ryu S. <u>Clinical commissioning and use of the Novalis Tx linear accelerator for SRS and SBRT.</u> J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2012 May 10;13(3):3729. Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, MI

Bakhtiari M, Kumaraswamy L, Bailey DW, de Boer S, Malhotra HK, Podgorsak MB. <u>Using an EPID for</u> patient-specific VMAT quality assurance. Med Phys. 2011 Mar;38(3):1366-73. Roswell Park Cancer Institute, Buffalo, NY

Jørgensen MK, Hoffmann L, Petersen JB, Praestegaard LH, Hansen R, Muren LP. <u>Tolerance levels of EPID-based quality control for volumetric modulated arc therapy</u>, Med Phys. 2011 Mar;38(3):1425-34. Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus C, DE

Peng LC, Kahler D, Samant S, Li J, Amdur R, Palta JR, Liu C. <u>Quality assessment of frameless fractionated</u> stereotactic radiotherapy using cone beam computed tomography. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Dec 1;78(5):1586-93. University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, Florida

103/2012

Washington State Agency Medical Directors

Agency Director Comments on Draft Report: Stereotactic Radiosurgery and Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy

This is a comprehensive evidence review which reflects the overall lack of high quality evidence addressing concerns of safety, comparative effectiveness, and cost for stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiation therapy. In its present format the report does not prioritize the areas of greatest clinical relevance which are supported by at least a fair to good level of evidence. Restructuring the report will assist the Health Technology Clinical Committee members in their decision making process. The proposed areas of prioritization in the report include the use of stereotactic radiosurgery in the treatment of medically inoperable or unresectable primary brain neoplasms or metastatic disease for patients with a good Karnofsky performance status, treatment of early stage NSCLC in patients with a favorable live expectancy who are otherwise medically inoperable or unresectable, and treatment of primary or metastatic vertebral body, spinal or paraspinal tumors with either a history of previous radiation therapy.

List of comments:

p. 6 The article "Stereotactic Radiotherapy Reduces Treatment Cost While Improving Overall Survival and Local Control over Standard Fractionated Radiation Therapy for Medically Inoperable Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer," is misquoted in the *Cost information* section in paragraph 2. This data should be omitted from the Executive Summary for the following reasons: 1. There is no mention made of whether or not these patients received adjuvant chemotherapy and therefore the survival conclusion must be questioned. 2. Indirect costs such as ancillary tests and associated imaging studies were not included in this cost analysis. 3. The executive summary should not contain a reference to a specific journal article, particularly if the article is of poor quality and unclear clinical significance.

p. 6 Please specify whether or not the EBRT comparator included IMRT.

p. 9 The findings should be listed either according to frequency of use based upon the state agency data or to quality of supporting medical evidence, rather than alphabetically.

p. 10 A summary table of findings, organized by diagnosis or prioritized by the level of evidence, such as was performed for the IMRT review, would be helpful. The present organization of the report is very difficult to follow.

p. 12 The Central Nervous System section should be divided into primary CNS tumors and "brain metastases."

pp. 10-24 Information should be incorporated into a table, as stated previously. Table should be reinserted before p. 55 Study results.

p. 64. The "Brain metastases" section needs to elucidate if the patient populations were limited to single metastasis versus multiple metastases. This section requires expansion as this will be an area of focus for the Clinical committee. Please add the following in a summary table: single vs. multiple metastases, resectable vs. unresectable disease, size of metastasis and histologic type.

p. 79 "Multiple CNS Tumors" is unclear. Does this mean Synchronous primary brain tumors? Metachronous primary brain tumors? Multiple brain metastases? Either clarify or omit this section.

There is no reference to the pediatric population in this report. Please clarify if (1) no literature exists (2) literature is present but did not meet the minimum sample size requirements. If

literature is present but did not meet the minimum sample size requirements please include this comment, particularly in the sections for abdominal, brain and spinal tumors.